

# UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

# The impact of social networks and social support on mental disorders and mortality

Ziggi Ivan Santini

**ADVERTIMENT**. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

**ADVERTENCIA**. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

**WARNING**. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.



# UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

# The impact of social networks and social support on mental disorders and mortality

Ziggi Ivan Santini



Thesis title / Títol de la tesi:

# The impact of social networks and social support on mental disorders and mortality

Thesis presented by / Tesi presentada per:

## Ziggi Ivan Santini

To obtain his doctorate from the University of Barcelona / Per obtener el títol de doctor per la Universitat de Barcelona

Directed by / Dirigida per:

# Josep Maria Haro Abad

Doctorate program / Programa de doctorat: Medicine / Medicina

Research track / Línia de recerca: Biological bases of mental disorders and nuclear psychiatry (IDIBAPS).

Faculty of Medicine, University of Barcelona

Year 2016



If one member suffers, all suffer together; if one member is honored, all rejoice together

1. Cor. 12:26 (ESV)

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Josep Maria Haro for having given me the opportunity to become part of his research team. I thank my trusted supervisors Ai Koyanagi and Stefanos Tyrovolas for their skills in teaching and for bearing with me with great patience. I wish to also thank Alarcos Cieza for her outstanding coordination of the Maratone program, along with Magda Nowak and Carla Sabariego for their support and practical guidance. I am also grateful to Martin Prince, Matthew Prina, and Katherine Fiori for making research secondments possible at the King's College London and Adelphi University, respectively. I would like to express my appreciation to my Maratone fellows and my colleagues at the Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu for their collaboration and assistance when needed, and for cheering me up in times of test and trial. Furthermore, I thank my parents for their unfailing love and support in every aspect of my life, as well as their constant devotion to my journey in life and academics alike. Finally, I am grateful to Him who has made everything possible by His grace and perfect plan. He is the Alpha and the Omega, the First and the Last, the Beginning and the End. The Heaven and the Earth will cease to exist, but His words will never fade or pass away.

# Contents

GENERAL ABSTRACT	7
Abstract in English	7
Abstract in Spanish (Español)	8
OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS	9
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	10
The role of social influence in human psychology, behavior, and health	10
How social connections can affect thought, feeling, and action	
A focus on social networks and social support	13
Research narrative	16
CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESES AND OBJECTIVES	
	18
Hydotheses	10
ETHICS	
CHAPTER 3: METHODS AND RESULTS	20
THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN SOCIAL RELATIONSHIPS AND DEPRESSION: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW	21
Social Network typologies and mortality risk among older people in China, India, and Latin America: A 10/66	
DEMENTIA RESEARCH GROUP POPULATION-BASED COHORT STUDY	35
THE ASSOCIATION OF RELATIONSHIP QUALITY AND SOCIAL NETWORKS WITH DEPRESSION, ANXIETY, AND SUICIDAL IDEATION AMO	ONG
older married adults: Findings from a cross-sectional analysis of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILD	A)46
CHAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSION	55
STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	56
Paper I: Systematic literature review	56
Paper II: Prospective study	57
Paper III: Cross-sectional study	58
Social relationships in the context of psychiatric epidemiology	59
Methodological issues in social support and network research	59
Social support networks and implications for mental health	61
Social support networks and implications for gender	61
Social Network types and mortality	63
Social network integration as a need for survival	63
Social networks in the developing country context	64
Social support networks and their association with mental disorders	66
Mental health in dyadic intimate relationships	66
Social negativity and mental health	68
IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH AND INTERVENTIONS	71
Social network and support interventions	71
Problems associated with pharmacological or psychotherapeutic approaches to health	71
Potential advantages of social network interventions	73
The importance of socio-centric approaches to analysis and intervention	75
Future directions	78

The role of online social networks in health	78
Current challenges to be considered in the context of online social network interventions	80
The role of advancing technologies and artificial intelligence research	81
The role of genetics, epigenetics, and epidemiology in human health and social connectedness	83
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	85
ACTIVITIES AND FIELDWORK DURING THE DOCTORATE RESEARCH PROGRAM	
FUNDING SOURCES FOR THIS THESIS	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	89

# General abstract

### **Abstract in English**

*Introduction:* There is conflicting evidence regarding the role of social support networks in health and wellbeing and more research is needed to address the lack of information. The objective of this project is to categorize key indicators of social support and social networks, and further to determine the impact of such indicators on mental disorder and mortality.

*Methods:* This project will include three research articles: paper I is a review of the literature which involves an investigation into the evidence on associations between social support networks and depression in the general population (systematic literature review). Paper II is an original research paper that involves an examination of how social network integration predicts all-cause mortality among older adults in six Latin-American countries, India, and China (prospective analysis). Finally, paper III is an original research paper involving an investigation into relationship quality (positive and negative aspects of social support) and social networks with depression, anxiety and suicidal ideation in a nationally representative sample of older Irish adults in intimate relationships (cross-sectional analysis).

*Results:* I) A number of key indicators of social support and social networks were identified to be associated with depression. Generally, studies have found protective effects of perceived social support and large, diverse social networks against depression in the general population. II) For older adults in developing countries, survival time is significantly reduced in individuals embedded in restricted social networks. III) For older Irish adults in intimate relationships, we found that worse relationship quality with the spouse is positively associated with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, and that restricted social network integration is positively associated with depression.

*Conclusion:* A number of recommendations have been made for future research in order to make a more comprehensive assessment of the role of social support networks in relation to mental health outcomes. Further, being embedded in good social support networks is negatively associated with mortality and also a number of outcomes on mental disorder among older adults in the general population. Social care and public mental health interventions may be enhanced by tailoring interventions to improve the quantity and quality of social support networks in order to promote population mental health and health status. Implications for health research, policy and future directions are discussed.

### Abstract in Spanish (Español)

*Introducción:* Hay pruebas contradictorias sobre el rol de las relaciones sociales en la salud y el bienestar y más investigación es necesaria para hacer frente a la falta de información. El objetivo de este proyecto es categorizar los indicadores clave identificados en relación con la salud y el bienestar, y determinar el impacto de este tipo de indicadores en la salud mental y mortalidad.

*Métodos:* Este proyecto incluirá tres artículos de investigación: El artículo I es una revisión de la literatura que investiga la evidencia sobre asociaciones entre las relaciones sociales y la depresión en la población general. El artículo II es un trabajo de investigación original con el objetivo de examinar cómo el tipo de red social identificada al inicio del estudio predice la mortalidad entre los adultos mayores en los países en desarrollo. El artículo III es un trabajo de investigación original que consiste en la investigación de las asociaciones de las interacciones sociales positivas y negativas y las redes sociales con la depresión, la ansiedad y la ideación suicida entre los adultos mayores irlandeses con una relación sentimental.

*Resultados:* I) Se identificaron asociaciones entre la depresión y un número de indicadores claves de apoyo social y redes sociales. En general, los estudios encontraron que el apoyo social percibido y tener redes sociales grandes y diversas tenían efectos protectores sobre la depresión en la población general. II) Para adultos mayores procedentes de países en vías desarrollo, el tiempo de supervivencia se reduce significativamente en individuos con redes sociales limitadas. III) En una muestra irlandesa de adultos mayores con una relación sentimental, encontramos que una peor calidad de la relación con la pareja se relacionaba positivamente con depresión, ansiedad e ideación suicida, y que redes sociales limitadas se asociaban positivamente con depresión.

*Conclusión:* Se hacen una serie de recomendaciones para hacer una evaluación más completa sobre el papel de las redes sociales de apoyo en relación con la salud mental en el futuro. Además, estar incluido en relaciones sociales de apoyo de calidad se asocia negativamente con mortalidad y con trastornos mentales entre los adultos mayores en la población general. La asistencia social y las intervenciones de salud mental pública podrían ser mejoradas mediante la adaptación de las intervenciones para aumentar la cantidad y calidad de las redes de apoyo social con el fin de promover la salud mental y el estado de salud general de la población. Se discuten las implicaciones para la investigación en salud, las políticas sanitarias y sociales, y direcciones futuras.

# Outline of this thesis

In chapter 1, I provide a brief review of why it is important to investigate the role of social support networks in the context of mental health and survival. In Chapter 2, I introduce the specific objectives and hypotheses of the doctorate project. Chapter 3 is divided into three sections that present the three papers that constitute the thesis methods and results. Paper I includes a literature review to assess the association between social relationships and depression in the general population. Paper II covers a survival analysis to assess social network typologies and their associated risk of mortality in China, India, and six Latin American countries. Paper III presents a cross-sectional study to assess associations between relationship quality and social networks with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation in a nationally-representative sample of the Irish population. Chapter 4 includes a general discussion, where the findings of each paper are considered from a broader perspective. Implications of social network science as a tool in public health interventions are discussed, as well as future directions for social support networks in health research. Finally, chapter 5 presents a conclusion for the entire project.

# Chapter 1: Introduction

### The role of social influence in human psychology, behavior, and health

A large body of literature continues to document how the real or imagined influence of other people in a person's social environment can affect mental and physical health outcomes. For centuries, philosophers, scholars and scientists have debated whether nature or nurture is more important in predicting human psychology, behavior, and health. Recently, a meta-analysis across 2,748 studies and 14.5 million pairs of twins revealed that the effect of genetic versus the environment is around 50/50 in terms of predicting a range of outcomes, such as personality, intelligence, propensity for mental disorder, and physical health (Polderman et al., 2015). In other words, social and environmental influences are estimated to account for at least 50% of the variation in health and psychological outcomes, implying that it is essential to consider the social dimensions of human health.

There are several reasons why health may be affected by social conditions. One important and fundamental reason to consider is that humans are social creatures who learn to live and survive based on verbal and non-verbal information that is transmitted to them socially. This occurs even at a very basic level, where humans act or react by instinct or from unconscious processes as a result of social influence. For example, it is well known that yawning can be contagious, that is, watching another person yawn can trigger an unconscious and instinctual urge to yawn (Platek, 2010; Schurmann et al., 2005). Other forms of basic behaviors can be very much influenced by social stimuli, such as laughing. Research has shown that people are 30% more likely to laugh in a group than when alone (Provine & Fischer, 1989), and further that humans derive important information about their relationships with other people based on the type of laughter they express (Bryant et al., 2016; Scott, Lavan, Chen, & McGettigan, 2014). Finally, a well-known phenomenon in the field of behavioral psychology is that of vicarious conditioning, which is when fear or anxiety responses are transmitted from one person to another through social observation, even without the personal experience of the aversive event that originally elicited the response (Olsson, Nearing, & Phelps, 2007; Olsson & Phelps, 2007). From the moment people are born, they learn about life through their social environment. Outcomes, such as those relating to health, are heavily determined by what people learn from their social connections. Consider the children's game telephone, where a message is passed along a line by each child whispering into another child's ear. The final message reported contains the error introduced by the previous child, along with all those introduced by prior children to whom the child is not directly connected. Information flows through social networks, and the information one person receives through his or her social networks can be entirely opposite from the information another person will receive through a different social network. The information that is transmitted and learned through the social environment can have great implications for health and behavior. Not only do people learn and receive important information from their social surroundings, but they can be strongly influenced by these social connections appears to be inaccurate. Several decades ago, Solomon Asch (1956) conducted his famous line study, demonstrating that people will conform to the erroneous perceptions of their social connections even in clearly unambiguous situations.

### How social connections can affect thought, feeling, and action

Importantly, social influence can affect health in important ways, sometimes to the extent where it becomes virtually unexplainable from a medical standpoint. For example, in 1998, an outbreak of headache, nausea, dizziness, and shortness of breath took place at a Tennessee high school after a teacher had reported a "gasoline-like" smell in her classroom (Jones et al., 2000). Soon after, the school was evacuated, 80 students and 19 teachers went to the emergency room, 38 persons were hospitalized overnight. Several government agencies were called in to perform an extensive investigation, but were unable to find any medical or environmental explanation for the outbreak of symptoms. After five days of intense investigation and still no discovery of any environmental health hazards, the school reopened. That same day, the outbreak started again, and another 71 people went to the emergency with similar symptoms. All in all, more than 170 people had gone to the hospital with symptoms for which no organic cause could be found. It was determined that Mass Psychogenic Illness was the cause, which is a phenomenon where symptoms of illness rapidly spread through a group, although the physical complaints exhibited have no

corresponding organic etiology (Bartholomew & Wessely, 2002). In other words, the spread of disease can occur with no other cause than the power of social influence itself.

To give an example of how psychological factors can be influenced by social relationships, one might consider an interesting Norwegian study that showed how the number of social ties (here siblings) can affect a person (Kristensen & Bjerkedal, 2007). It has been known for some time that first-born children tend to score slightly higher on tests of intelligence quotient (IQ) than second-born children, who in turn score higher than third-born children. An outstanding question has been whether these differences could be attributed to biological or social factors. The Norwegian study was able to demonstrate that simple social network features were responsible for these differences in intelligence. They found that if a first-born child died during the first few years of a second-born child's life, the IQ of the second-born would come to resemble the IQ of a firstborn child. If a first-born or second-born child died during the first few years of a third-born child's life, the IQ of the third-born child would come to resemble the IQ of a second-born child. If both of the earlier-born children died, the IQ of the third-born child would come to resemble the IQ of a first-born child. This means that IQ appears to have much more to do with social rank than genetic or biological predisposition. Importantly, lower intelligence has been found to have important implications for survival (Whalley & Deary, 2001) and also a range of mental disorders (Mortensen, Sorensen, Jensen, Reinisch, & Mednick, 2005). Thus, a person's position in a social network can influence cognitive abilities and ultimately mental health and longevity.

A last example can be given to show how social influence can have an impact on psychological outcomes. Over the past few decades, China experienced dramatic economic growth, while rates of happiness and life-satisfaction did not seem to rise along with this growth. One would assume that general happiness would increase with rising income. However, a number of studies have shown that this was not exactly the case (Knight & Gunatilaka, 2011; Wu & Li, 2013). Although personal income did affect life satisfaction positively on an individual level, overall happiness did not rise due to dramatic shifts in relative income. The remarkable growth that took place in the Chinese economy also increased levels of income inequality, and such discrepancies in people's income relative to others tend to have a negative effect on life satisfaction. One reason for this is that income inequality triggers social comparison. In other

words, a higher individual income appears to only be a predictor of happiness when income levels grow evenly. However, when income levels grow unevenly, relative income gaps become larger, and as one person makes a little more money, another person makes a lot more money. The implication is that personal success is not an individual characteristic, but is defined relative to the success of others (Rutledge, de Berker, Espenhahn, Dayan, & Dolan, 2016). Thus, it is important to understand how the social environment may affect health and wellbeing, and how it may be possible to improve or promote population health by utilizing or targeting social relationship factors.

### A focus on social networks and social support

Social relationships can affect a person's overall health, as they can be a source of financial, practical and emotional resources. The importance of social relationships for health and wellbeing has been extensively demonstrated in high-income countries. In a meta-analysis of 20 populationbased cohort studies, relationships as a source of social capital had a significant inverse association to mortality (Nyqvist, Pape, Pellfolk, Forsman, & Wahlbeck, 2014). According to evidence from another meta-analytic review, good social relationships can prolong survival by 50% (Holt-Lunstad, Smith, & Layton, 2010). Further, having poor social relationships was reported to be more harmful than excessive drinking and smoking, obesity, and lack of exercise in terms of associated risk. A seven-decade longitudinal study discovered that social relationships are better predictors of health than a range of biological and economic factors (Vaillant, 2008). In the case of older adults specifically, a number of studies have reported that maintaining social contacts in late life is associated with a reduced risk of psychological distress (Golden et al., 2009), dementia (Fratiglioni, Wang, Ericsson, Maytan, & Winblad, 2000), functional decline (Stuck et al., 1999), disability (Avlund, Lund, Holstein, & Due, 2004), institutionalization and mortality (Steinbach, 1992).

Structural and functional properties of social relationships have important implications for both mental health and survival across the life-course (Christakis & Fowler, 2011; Smith & Christakis, 2008). According to Thoits (2011), the link between social relationships and mental health can be attributed to a number of psycho-social pathways that operate both directly and as stress buffers. Ultimately, good social relationships generally tend to be beneficial for mental health due to emotional sustenance and active coping assistance provided by a person's social ties. While one can perhaps intuitively understand how social relationships can affect mental health, the link between social relationships and physical health or survival is less obvious. According to Uchino (2006, 2009), social relationships are associated with health and mortality in a number of ways, including physiological, behavioral, and psychological pathways. Physiological pathways may involve metabolic function (Yang, Li, & Ji, 2013), or cardiovascular, neuroendocrine, and immune function (Uchino, 2006). Behavioral pathways may involve for example diet and obesity (Christakis & Fowler, 2007), sexual behaviors (Liljeros, Edling, Amaral, Stanley, & Aberg, 2001), or even suicide (Bearman & Moody, 2004; Hedström, Ka-Yuet, & Nordvik, 2008; Tsai, Lucas, Sania, Kim, & Kawachi, 2014). Finally, psychological pathways may for example involve depression, which is particularly important in the context of social isolation or loneliness (Luo, Hawkley, Waite, & Cacioppo, 2012).

Social networks (not to be confused with *online* social networks) are the structural components of people's *in-person* social relationships, such as network size (the amount of social ties one has), type of network tie (e.g. spouse, child, friend), contact frequency (how often), network position (central versus peripheral), density (the degree of connection in a network), reciprocity (uni or bi-directionality between social ties), transitivity (the extent to which a person's connections are connected to each other), or network type (e.g. family dependent, private, locally integrated). Two distinct approaches exist for assessing social networks: egocentric and sociocentric approaches. Egocentric models include data from individuals about members in their network, whereas socio-centric models utilize not only the network information from each individual, but also information from the network members themselves. As a consequence, socio-centric models often yield more novel insights, but also make much greater demands of data (Smith & Christakis, 2008). Although the original studies conducted in this thesis project do not include socio-centric data analysis, is it nevertheless an important area that will be addressed in the general discussion. An example of a socio-centric social network is illustrated in figure 1.

The functional properties of people's social relationships, i.e. social support, also play important roles in mental health and well-being (Schuster, Kessler, & Aseltine, 1990; Uchino, 2006). Social support can be emotional (relating to sympathy, trust, and confidence) or instrumental (relating to practical aid). Further, support can be provided or received, and this can

occur via different sources (e.g. to/from spouse, child, friend). Finally, the literature generally tends to separate social support into perceived support (relating to one's subjective evaluation) or enacted support (relating to a person's specific recollection of supportive behaviors). Generally, information about social networks and social support is collected through self-report data (although social network analysis can also involve other types of data, such as connections between political parties, import/export patterns between countries or industries, ball passing patterns among college soccer players, or mating patterns among Amazon rainforest frogs). In the context of the current project, below are some examples of typical social support or social network items or variables used in population surveys:

### **Social support**

- How much does [person A] really understand the way you feel about things? (perceived emotional support)
- How much can you rely on [person A] to help out with practical matters? (perceived instrumental support)
- When was the last time [person A] gave you advice during a difficult time? (enacted emotional support)
- When was the last time [person A] helped you with practical matters? (enacted instrumental support)
- When was the last time you gave [person B] advice during a difficult time? (provided emotional support)
- When was the last time you helped [person B] with practical matters? (provided instrumental support)

### Social networks (ego-centric)

- Marital/partnership status
- Number and frequency of contact with children, relatives, or close friends
- Membership in religious or community organizations

### Social networks (socio-centric)

- How many friends do [person A] have? (network size)
- Is [person A] located centrally or peripherally in the social network? (network centrality)
- Does [person A] designate [person B] as a friend? (uni/bi-directionality)
- Does [person B] designate [person A] as a friend? (uni/bi-directionality)
- Are [friend B] and [friend C] also friends with one another? (transitivity)



**Figure 1.** A network of 2,200 people from the Framingham Heart Study in the year 2000. Node borders indicate gender (red for female, blue for male); node colors indicate obesity (yellow for body mass index [BMI] of 30 or more, green for BMI less than 30); node sizes are proportional to BMI; tie colors indicate the type of relationship (purple for friend or spouse, orange for family). Picture and caption taken from Christakis and Fowler (2011).

### Research narrative

Assessing associations between social support networks and health can be approached in many ways. Qualitative studies are often very beneficial for exploration of the topic and generation of hypotheses, while quantitative studies tend to provide more tangible insights into associations and mechanisms that are relevant to the research question. Naturally, both qualitative and quantitative studies can be conducted in the context of clinical settings (e.g. psychiatric patients), specified sub-populations (e.g. marginalized groups), or wider epidemiological settings (e.g. with data representative of a nation). From a public health standpoint, it is essential to advance wider epidemiological research in regards to the link between social support networks and health, which may ultimately provide some valuable information to health policy makers. This doctorate dissertation aims to do exactly that, that is, to investigate epidemiologically the role of social

support and social networks in relation to mental health and mortality in the general population. It does this by a) exploring and assessing the literature systematically regarding the link between social support networks and depression, b) investigating how fundamental social network integration is in terms of survival, and c) assessing associations between social support networks and a range of mental health outcomes. Finally, the findings of each paper are considered in a broader context, and implications for population health, public health interventions, and health / medical research are discussed. Some considerations are made for future directions. General conclusions are made based on the findings and the discussions presented.

# Chapter 2: Hypotheses and objectives

### **Objectives**

The main objective of this thesis dissertation is to provide an insight into the role and impact of social support and social networks on mental disorders and mortality in the general population. The specific objectives are:

- 1. To review the evidence on associations between social support networks and depression.
- 2. To examine the extent to which social network integration predicts mortality among older adults.
- To assess associations between relationship quality (positive and negative aspects of social support) and social network integration with mental disorders among older adults in intimate relationships.

### Hypotheses

In the context of mental health and survival, some issues remain unclear with regard to the implications of social support networks in the aging population. It is essential to add to the existing body of epidemiological literature in order to assess the role of social support networks in terms of their specific association with mental disorders and mortality in the general population. The specific hypotheses and the corresponding research papers in this thesis dissertation are:

- 1. Systematic literature review no hypothesis generated.
- 2. Poor social network integration constitutes an independent risk factor for reduced survival among older adults in developing countries.
- Higher levels of relationship quality (in terms of positive and negative aspects of social support) and better social network integration are negatively associated with outcomes relating to depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among older Irish adults.

### **Ethics**

Ethical approval for this doctorate project has been obtained from the ethics committee of Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu. The two original research papers in this dissertation involve secondary data analyses with no human subject issues. Ethical approval for the 10/66 Dementia Research Group's population-based prevalence surveys and The Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA) was obtained from local ethical committees in the countries involved as well as the King's College London Research Ethics Committee, and the ethics committee of Trinity College Dublin respectively.

Chapter 3: Methods and results

Paper I

# The association between social relationships and depression: A systematic review

Ziggi Ivan Santini Ai Koyanagi Stefanos Tyrovolas Catherine Mason Josep Maria Haro

Journal of Affective Disorders 175 (2015) 53-65

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Journal of Affective Disorders

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jad

### Review The association between social relationships and depression: A systematic review

Ziggi Ivan Santini<sup>a,\*</sup>, Ai Koyanagi<sup>a</sup>, Stefanos Tyrovolas<sup>a</sup>, Catherine Mason<sup>b</sup>, Josep Maria Haro<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu, Universitat de Barcelona, Fundació Sant Joan de Déu/CIBERSAM, Dr Antoni Pujades, 42, 08830, Sant Boi de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>b</sup> Faculty of Social and Human Sciences, Academic Unit Psychology, Building 44, Highfield Campus, University of Southampton, Southampton SO17 1BJ, UK

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 September 2014 Received in revised form 17 December 2014 Accepted 19 December 2014 Available online 31 December 2014

Keywords: Social support Social networks Social connectedness Depression

#### ABSTRACT

*Background:* Depression is one of the most prevalent mental disorders globally and has implications for various aspects of everyday-life. To date, studies assessing the association between social relationships and depression have provided conflicting results. The aim of this paper was to review the evidence on associations between social relationships and depression in the general population.

*Methods:* Studies investigating the association of social support, social networks, or social connectedness with depression were retrieved and summarized (searches using Pubmed, ScienceDirect, PsycNet were conducted in May 2014).

*Results:* Fifty-one studies were included in this review. The strongest and most consistent findings were significant protective effects of perceived emotional support, perceived instrumental support, and large, diverse social networks. Little evidence was found on whether social connectedness is related to depression, as was also the case for negative interactions.

*Limitations:* Due to the strict inclusion criteria relating to study quality and the availability of papers in the domain of interest, the review did not capture 'gray literature' and qualitative studies.

*Conclusion:* Future research is warranted to account for potential bias introduced by the use of subjective measures as compared to objective measures of received support and actual networks. Due to the heterogeneity between available studies on the measure of social relationships, the inclusion of comparable measures across studies would allow for more valid comparisons. In addition, well-designed prospective studies will provide more insight into causality. Future research should address how social support and networks interact and together affect risks for depression. Social connectedness and negative interactions appear to be underutilized as measures in population-based studies.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introd	uction	54
2.	Metho	pds	55
	2.1.	Search strategy	55
	2.2.	Data extraction	55
	2.3.	Synthesis	56
3.	Result	s	56
	3.1.	Social support	56
	3.2.	Social networks	58
	3.3.	Social connectedness	60
	3.4.	Other salient findings	60
	3.5.	Gender	60
	3.6.	Intrapersonal characteristics	60

\* Corresponding author. E-mail address: z.santini@pssjd.org (Z.I. Santini).







	3.7.	Chronic physical illness and disability	61			
4. Discussion						
	4.1.	Social support	61			
	4.2.	Social networks	61			
	4.3.	Social connectedness	61			
	4.4.	Gender	62			
	4.5.	Intrapersonal characteristics	62			
	4.6.	Chronic physical illness and disability	62			
	4.7.	Limitations	62			
5.	Concl	usion	. 62			
Rol	e of fur	nding source	. 63			
Con	flict of	interest.	. 63			
Ack	nowled	dgments	. 63			
Ref	erences	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 63			

#### 1. Introduction

Depression is arguably one of the most prevalent and prominent mental disorders of our time, touching the lives of people across nations, ages, and social and cultural groups. The Global Burden of Disease Study 2010 has identified depressive disorders as the second leading cause of years lived with disability, designating it a as a major public-health priority (Ferrari et al., 2013). Besides depression being a serious and debilitating disorder in and of itself, it has various negative consequences for physical health (Prince et al., 2007). At worst, depression can lead to suicide (Ferrari et al., 2013), and 15% of those who are clinically depressed die by suicide (Verster et al., 2008). Further, the economic consequences of depression are substantial. The costs of mood disorders in Europe for the year 2010 has been estimated to be € PPP 113.4 billion (Gustavsson et al., 2011). Almost half of these costs is the result of productivity loss, implying the vast negative impact of depression on populations' economy and sustainability. Depression has been found to be associated with a wide range of factors such as female gender, somatic illness, and cognitive and functional impairments. Additionally, loss of close social contacts has been found to be an important predictor of depression, along with various other variables relating to social relationships (Djernes, 2006).

Social relationships have important implications for both physical and mental health. The state of one's social relationships can affect that person's overall health. Specifically, according to evidence from a recent review, good social relationships can prolong survival by 50% (Holt-Lundstad et al., 2010). A seven-decade follow-up study discovered that social relationships are better predictors of health than a range of biological and economic factors (Vaillant, 2008). Similarly, Holt-Lundstad et al. (2010) reported that having poor social relationships is potentially more harmful than excessive drinking and smoking, obesity, and lack of exercise.

Studies investigating social relationships generally pertain to three major domains: social support, social networks, and social connectedness (Ashida and Heaney, 2008; Barratt et al., 2006; Noone and Stephens, 2014; Ottmann et al., 2006; Stone, 2003). Social support has long been known to exert considerable influence on mental health and wellbeing (Thoits, 2011). The literature distinguishes between perceived and received (or enacted) social support. Perceived support is the subjective feeling of being supported by one's relationships, while received support refers to the actual support provided. The literature on social support further distinguishes between emotional support (e.g. someone being available to listen or offer sympathy during times of crisis or hardship, or someone available to give advice) and instrumental support (e.g. someone available to offer help with issues that require physical effort or financial aid). All these different forms of social support appear to have different implications for mental health (Nurullah, 2012). Support may also be provided to or received from different sources, such as spouse, children, relatives,

friends, and co-workers. It has been demonstrated that the role and effect of social support on health and psychological well-being varies depending on the source of support (Li et al., 2014; Walen and Lachman, 2000). Finally, as an opposite measure of supportive behaviors, some studies also include negative interactions (strain), such as tension, criticism, or placing too strong demands on others (Schuster et al. 1990).

Social relationships can be more clearly distinguished in terms of their network structure (i.e. social networks) and network function (i.e. social support) (House, 1987). Thus, while the term social support relates to the functional content in social relationships, social networks is a concept that relates to the formal structure of social relationships, such as size, composition, contact frequency, boundedness, etc. (Prince et al., 1997). Studies on social networks have been characterized by investigating the web of social connections that surrounds an individual and this has been shown to have important associations with both physical and mental health (Smith and Christakis, 2008). Two distinct approaches exist for assessing social networks: egocentric and sociocentric approaches. Egocentric models include data from individuals about members in their network, whereas sociocentric models utilize not only the network information from each individual, but also information from the network members themselves. As a consequence, sociometric models often vield more novel insights, but also make much greater demands of data (Smith and Christakis, 2008). Another insightful way to examine social networks is to categorize them into network types, such as network composition (e.g. the level of diversity of family members, friends, and coworkers in a network) and other measures, such as social engagement. Network types thus tend to encompass a more comprehensive assessment of network properties and can be particularly informative (e.g. Litwin and Landau, 2000).

Finally, social connectedness refers to the degree to which a person experiences belongingness, attachment, relatedness, toge-therness, or entrenchment in one's social relationships. Thus, it refers more to subjective feelings and attitudes towards oneself in relation to the social context, rather than specific social relationships (Townsend and McWhirter, 2005; Williams and Galliher, 2006). The literature also makes use of the term 'social disconnectedness' to refer to conditions of social isolation, such as living alone, physical separation from others, widowhood, etc. (Cornwell and Waite, 2009a, 2009b; Zavaleta et al., 2014).

A number of recent reviews have been published that address the influence of social relationships on populations' health status (Holt-Lundstad et al., 2010; Smith and Christakis, 2008; Tajvar et al., 2013; Uchino, 2006). However, the evidence in the literature concerning the influence of social relationships on mental illness, particularly for depression, is often conflicting or sparse (Nurullah, 2012). Moreover, many studies on social relationships employ non-probability or convenience sampling, which considerably limits the degree to which one can extrapolate findings and draw conclusions about the influence of global network and support properties in the general population (Smith and Christakis, 2008). Thus, this work focuses on population-based studies that investigate the association between social relationships (social support, social networks, and social connectedness) and depression.

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Search strategy

The electronic databases of PsycInfo/PsycNet, PubMed/MedLine, and ScienceDirect were searched for studies measuring the association between social networks, social support, or social connectedness, and depression. Search words were customized for each database, and each search involved combining key word searches for a list of social relationships variables ('social support', 'peer support', 'emotional support', 'social networks', 'social relationship', 'social connectedness', 'belongingness') and specific terms relating to outcomes of depression ('depression', 'depressive symptoms'). Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) (i.e. "social support", "depression", "adult") were used whenever possible. MeSH is the National Library of Medicine's controlled vocabulary for the purpose of indexing journal articles in a hierarchical structure, which makes it possible to conduct a more comprehensive search. This terminology is commonly used in review articles to identify relevant studies. Databases were searched for studies published in English, Spanish, French, Scandinavian (Danish, Swedish, Norwegian), or Ex-Yugoslavian (Croatian, Bosnian, Serbian) languages. These languages were selected based on the availability of people who understand these languages in the research group.

The search was limited to studies published between 2004 and 2014 in order to obtain the most recent scientific articles. Studies were

included if: (a) they published empirical quantitative research examining the association between social support, social networks, and/or social connectedness, and depression or depressive symptoms; (b) social support, social networks, and/or social connectedness were the predictor/independent variable or one of the main predictors/ independent variables of the study; and (c) depression or depressive symptoms was the outcome/dependent variable of the study. Due to the bias introduced when designating particular target groups as participants, only studies involving community samples were included (Tsuang et al., 2011). Thus, studies not employing random sampling were excluded, and included studies had to have been carried out according to conventional standards relating to appropriate sampling procedures to reflect the general population (Bonita et al., 2006). Due to the focus on adults, published studies exclusively on infants, children, and adolescents were also excluded.

Two authors independently reviewed potential articles to be included based on the inclusion criteria. The level of agreement was assessed with kappa statistics (kappa 0.82; SE 0.05), and disagreements were resolved subsequently by consensus. The initial search yielded 1737 articles with duplicates removed. Inspection of abstracts and titles found that 1675 articles did not fulfill the inclusion criteria. Sixty-two articles were identified as potentially relevant, but 11 of those were later excluded as closer examination revealed that they did not match the inclusion criteria. An overview of the search process is illustrated in Tables 1 and 2 and Fig. 1.

#### 2.2. Data extraction

The search strategy resulted in a total of 51 papers being included in the review. All the information from each article that was relevant to the research question and in line with the inclusion criteria was extracted and tabulated. Extracted data comprised publication data, country, language, setting and aims

#### Table 1

List of sources searched and search terms used for systematic review.

Electronic databases Pubmed/Medline PsycNet/PsycInfo ScienceDirect Search terms Social support [MeSH] OR peer support [keyword] OR emotional support [keyword] OR social networks [keyword] OR social relationship [keyword] OR social connectedness [keyword] OR belongingness [keyword] AND Depression [MeSH] OR depressive symptoms [keyword] AND Adult [MeSH] AND Year: 2004 TO 2014

#### Table 2

Overview of the search terms used in each search database.

Pubmed		ScienceDirect		PsycNet	
Search terms Social support [MeSH] Peer support [keyword] Emotional support [keyword] Social networks [keyword] Social relationship [keyword] Social connectedness [keyword] Belongingness [keyword] Depressive symptoms [keyword] Adult [MeSH]	Boolean operators OR OR OR OR OR OR AND OR AND	Search terms Social support [keyword] Peer support [keyword] Emotional support [keyword] Social networks [keyword] Social relationship [keyword] Social connectedness [keyword] Belongingness [keyword] Depression [keyword] Depressive symptoms [keyword]	Boolean operators OR OR OR OR OR OR AND OR	Search terms Social support [keyword] Peer support [keyword] Emotional support [keyword] Social networks [keyword] Social relationship [keyword] Social connectedness [keyword] Belongingness [keyword] Depressive [keyword] Depressive symptoms [keyword] Adulthood (18yrs & older)	Boolean operators OR OR OR OR OR OR AND OR AND AND
Hits:	1550	Hits:	167	Year: 2004 TO 2014 Hits:	58



Fig. 1. Selection of studies for systematic review.

of the study, study design, sample characteristics, data collection methods, key measures, theoretical framework, and main findings. Extracted data also comprised guality assessment of each study following the guidelines of the Effective Public Health Practice Project (Armijo-Olivo et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2004). An overview and description of included studies including quality assessment can be found in Tables 3 and 4. The quality assessment comprised of six components: (1) selection bias; (2) study design; (3) confounders; (4) blinding; (5) data-collection method; and (6) withdrawals and drop-outs. Each component was rated as weak, moderate, or strong, and a final rating was made of each study. A study was rated as 'low quality' if it had received two or more weak ratings; 'moderate quality' if it had received one weak rating; and 'high quality' if it had not received any weak ratings. Any discrepancies in terms of rating were resolved between the two reviewers. The complete details of the quality assessment procedure can be found on the Effective Public Health Practice Project website: http://www.ephpp.ca/tools.html.

#### 2.3. Synthesis

Due to the broad nature of the search and the different studies included in the review, a narrative synthesis was conducted to synthesize the information (see Table 1 and Fig. 1). The synthesis was guided by the methods described by Popay et al. (2006). This guide provides some basic steps to the process of conducting a narrative synthesis which is more systematic and transparent, and also minimizes bias in both the assessment of studies and decision made by reviewers. The guide includes topics on developing a theoretical model and a preliminary synthesis for a narrative review, exploring the relationships in the data, and assessing the robustness of the synthesis product. As a component to this approach, different studies in this review were grouped into overarching conceptually or thematically related categories.

#### 3. Results

The review included 28 cross-sectional and 23 prospective studies. According to quality criteria set forth by the Effective Public Health Practice Project (Armijo-Olivo et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2004), nine studies were rated as 'low quality' (9/51 = 17.6%), 30 studies were rated as 'moderate quality' (30/51 = 58.8%), and 12 studies were rated as 'high quality' (12/51 = 23.6%). Of those rated as 'low', seven were cross-sectional, and two were prospective studies. Of those rated as 'moderate', 21 were cross-sectional, and nine were prospective studies. Finally, the 12 studies rated as 'high' were all prospective studies.

#### 3.1. Social support

Perceived emotional support was the most frequently utilized social support variable, being used in 35 of the studies. This variable was significantly associated with depressive symptoms in 32 of the 35 five studies (32/35=91.4%). In all these studies, higher levels of perceived emotional support were protective against depression, and lower levels were associated with the presence, onset or development of depression [15.6% (5/32) of the studies were cross-sectional with low quality (Chen et al., 2005; Harvey et al., 2010; Ostberg and Lennartsson, 2007; Virtanen et al., 2008; Zhang and Li, 2011); 40.6% (12/32) were cross-sectional with moderate quality (Alexandrino-Silva et al., 2011; Chazelle et al., 2011; Choi and Ha, 2011; Fiori et al., 2006; Fiori and Denckla, 2012; Glaesmer et al., 2011; Grav et al., 2012; Leung et al., 2007; Li and Liang, 2007; Mair et al., 2010; Millan-Calenti et al., 2013; Sicotte et al., 2008); 6.3% (2/32) were prospective with low quality (Heponiemi et al., 2006; Tiikkainen and Heikkinen, 2005); 21.9% (7/32) were prospective with moderate quality (Bierman and Statland, 2010; Jokela et al., 2007; Koizumi et al., 2005; Pettit et al., 2011; Plaisier et al., 2007; Rugulies et al., 2006; Stoetzer et al., 2009); and finally 15.6% (5/32) were prospective with high quality (Fauth et al., 2012; Huang et al., 2011; Taylor and Lynch, 2004; Teo et al., 2013; Yang, 2006)]. The remaining three studies (3/35=8.6%) did not find perceived emotional support to be a significant correlate of depression [33.3% (1/3) cross-sectional moderate (Litwin, 2011); 66.7% (2/3) prospective moderate (Smith and Bielecky, 2012; Tsai et al., 2005)].

The findings from the five studies which measured both perceived emotional support and perceived negative interactions were mixed. One study found that neither were significantly associated with depression [20% (1/5) cross-sectional moderate (Litwin, 2011)]. Two studies found that emotional support was negatively associated with depression, and that negative interactions were positively associated with depression with similar magnitudes in opposite directions [20% (1/5) cross-sectional moderate (Li and Liang, 2007); 20% (1/5) crosssectional moderate (Fiori et al., 2006)]. One study found that only negative interactions were significantly and positively associated with depression [20% (1/5) cross-sectional low (Ford et al., 2011)], while another study found that both emotional support and negative interactions were associated with depression in opposite directions (i.e. emotional support being protective, and negative interactions being a risk factor), but with the effect of negative interactions being modestly stronger [20% (1/5) prospective high (Teo et al., 2013)].

Findings for received emotional support were similar to findings regarding perceived emotional support. Low levels of received emotional support were significantly associated with depression in eight out of 12 studies (8/12=66.7%) [37.5% (3/8) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori and Denckla, 2012; Leggett et al., 2012; Mair et al., 2010); 25% (2/8) prospective moderate (Rugulies et al., 2006; Stoetzer et al., 2009), and 37.5% (3/8) prospective high (Chao, 2011; Garcia-Pena et al., 2013; Sonnenberg et al., 2013)]. One study out of the twelve (1/12=8.3%) reported that receiving emotional

#### Table 3

Overview of the 28 cross-sectional studies included in the review.

Reference	Location of study	Number of participants and age group	Design and study length	Social relationships measure	Depression outcome measure	Methodological quality
Fiori and Denckla	USA	N = 6767 All adults	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived; received; provided; instrumental, emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D) short form	Moderate
(2012) Glaesmer et al. (2011)	Germany	(18 + years) N=5033 60-85 years	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Depression Module of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)	Moderate
Grav et al. (2012)	Norway	N = 40659 20-89 years	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale for depression (HADS-D)	Moderate
Harvey et al. (2010)	Norway	N=40401 20-89 years	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale for depression (HADS-D)	Low
Leggett et al. (2012)	Vietnam	N=600 55 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Support (received emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Li and Liang (2007)	China	N=2943 60-94 years old	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived instrumental and emotional) and negative interactions	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Ostberg and Lennartsson (2007)	Sweden	N=5053 18-75 years old	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived instrumental and emotional)	Self-reporting of the occurrence of depression	Low
Zhang and Li (2011)	China	N=1428 55 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Low
Choi and Ha (2011)	USA	N=2924 57-85 years old	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Litwin (2010)	Europe	N=9054 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Network (contact frequency, size, structure) and social engagement	The EURO-D depression Scale	Moderate
Litwin (2012)	USA	N=1349 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Network (contact frequency; size) and network type	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Mair et al. (2010)	USA	N=3105 All adults (18+years)	Cross- sectional	Combined network (ties) and support (perceived emotional and reciprocal emotional and instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Millan-Calenti et al. (2013)	Spain	N=579 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (contact frequency) and support (perceived emotional and instrumental)	The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) short form	Moderate
Tsai et al. (2005)	Taiwan	N=1200 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (size) and support (perceived emotional)	The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) short form	Moderate
Fiori et al. (2006)	USA	N=1669 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional) and negative interactions. Network types	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D) short form	Moderate
Litwin (2011)	USA	N=1350 65-85 years old	Cross- sectional	Combined network (social ties) and support (perceived emotional). Negative interactions and network types	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Sicotte et al. (2008)	Cuba	N=1905 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (social ties) and support (perceived and received; network type emotional and instrumental)	The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS)	Moderate
Wilby (2011)	USA	N=91 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (social ties; contact frequency) and support (received emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Low
Tiedt (2010)	Japan	N=3807 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (size; contact frequency) and support (perceived and received emotional and instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Chan et al. (2011)	Singapore	N=4489 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (size; contact frequency) and support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Chen et al. (2005)	China	N=1600 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Combined network (contact frequency) and support (perceived emotional)	The Geriatric Mental State (GMS) and the Automated Geriatric Examination for Computer Assisted Taxonomy (AGECAT)	Low
Alexandrino- Silva et al. (2011)	Brazil	N=367 60 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Composite International Diagnostic Interview version 1.1 (CIDI 1.1)	Moderate
Ford et al. (2011)	UK	N=9377 45 years old	Cross- sectional	Combined network (size; social ties; contact frequency) and support (perceived and received emotional and instrumental). Negative interactions	The abbreviated revised Clinical Interview Schedule (CIS-R)	Low
Leung et al. (2007)	China	N=507 65 years old and above	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived instrumental and emotional)	The Symptom Checklist-90 revised (SCL- 90-R)	Moderate

Reference	Location of study	Number of participants and age group	Design and study length	Social relationships measure	Depression outcome measure	Methodological quality
Chazelle et al. (2011)	Ireland	N=9978 All adults (18+years)	Cross- sectional	Combined network (composition) and support (perceived emotional)	The short form of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI- SF)	Moderate
Virtanen et al. (2008)	Finland	N=3374 30–64 years old	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The WHO Composite International Diagnostic Interview (M-CIDI) for depressive disorder	Low
Waldenstrom et al. (2008)	Sweden	N=672 20-64 years old	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived instrumental)	DSM-IV depressive syndromes assessed via SCAN interviews	Moderate
Russell and Taylor (2009)	USA	N=947 All adults (18+years)	Cross- sectional	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies- Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate

Methodological quality was rated in terms of six components: (1) selection bias; (2) study design; (3) confounders; (4) blinding; (5) data-collection method; (6) withdrawals and drop-outs. Each component was rated as weak, moderate or strong, and a final rating was made of each study. A study was rated as 'low quality' if it had received two or more weak ratings; 'moderate quality' if it had received one weak rating, and 'high quality' if it had not received any weak ratings. Any discrepancies in terms of rating were resolved between the two reviewers.

support was a predictor of depression [prospective high (Bisschop et al., 2004)], while the remaining studies (3/12=25%) did not reach statistical significance [33.3% (1/3) cross-sectional low (Ford et al., 2011); 33.3% (1/3) prospective moderate (Smith and Bielecky, 2012), 33.3% (1/3) prospective high (Taylor and Lynch, 2004)].

Low levels of perceived instrumental support also emerged as an important predictor of depression in eleven out of twelve studies (11/12=91.6%) [27.3% (3/11) cross-sectional low (Harvey et al., 2010; Ostberg and Lennartsson, 2007; Virtanen et al., 2008); 45.4% (5/11) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori and Denckla, 2012; Grav et al., 2012; Leung et al., 2007; Li and Liang, 2007: Sicotte et al., 2008); 9.1% (1/11) prospective low (Tiikkainen and Heikkinen, 2005); 9.1% (1/11) prospective moderate (Koizumi et al., 2005); 9.1% (1/11) prospective high (Huang et al., 2011)], while only one study (1/12=8.4%) examining perceived instrumental support did not find it to be a significant correlate [crosssectional moderate (Millan-Calenti et al., 2013)]. Three studies included both perceived and received support, and all of these found that perceived support was a more important predictor of depression than received support, which was found to have either a less strong or non-significant association [33.3% (1/3) crosssectional moderate (Fiori and Denckla, 2012), 66.7% (2/3) prospective high (Taylor and Lynch, 2004; Yang, 2006)].

Findings were more mixed for received instrumental support. Only two out of ten studies (2/10=20%) reported protective effects of instrumental support receipt [50% (1/2) cross-sectional moderate (Waldenstrom et al., 2008); 50% (1/2) prospective high (Muramatsu et al., 2010)]. Three studies (3/10=30%) found receipt of instrumental support to be a significant risk factor for depression [33.3% (1/3) cross-sectional low (Ford et al., 2011); 33.3% (1/3) cross-sectional moderate (Tiedt, 2010); 33.3% (1/3) prospective high (Bisschop et al., 2004)], while four studies (4/10=40%) did not reach significance [50% (2/4) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori and Denckla, 2012; Tsai et al., 2005); 50% (2/4) prospective high (Taylor and Lynch, 2004; Yang, 2006)]. The remaining study [prospective high (Garcia-Pena et al., 2013)] reported that low levels of both received emotional and instrumental support predicted deterioration of depressive symptoms for people with depression at baseline, but neither was a significant predictor of depressive symptoms for people without depression at baseline.

Eight studies utilized variables on both emotional and instrumental support. Five of those (5/8=62.5%) found emotional support to be more strongly related to depression than instrumental support [60% (3/5) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori et al., 2006; Leung et al., 2007;

Millan-Calenti et al., 2013), 40% (2/5) prospective high (Chao, 2011; Yang, 2006)], while the remaining three studies (3/8=37.5%) concluded the opposite [66.6% (2/3) cross-sectional low (Ford et al., 2011, Ostberg and Lennartsson, 2007); 33.3% (1/3) prospective moderate (Koizumi et al., 2005)].

In terms of the source of social support, five studies out of seven studies (5/7=71.4%) concluded that social support from friends was equally important in terms of predicting depression as family support [20% (1/5) cross-sectional low (Zhang and Li, 2011); 60% (3/5) cross-sectional moderate (Choi and Ha, 2011; Leggett et al., 2012; Russell and Taylor, 2009), 20% (1/5) prospective high (Muramatsu et al., 2010)], while two studies (2/7=28.6%) reported that only family support exerted a significant influence on depression [50% (1/2) prospective moderate (Pettit et al., 2011), 50% (1/2) prospective high (Teo et al., 2013)].

In terms of studies focusing on the role of support in work-settings, four studies provided evidence that emotional and instrumental support in the workplace was protective against depression [25% (1/4) cross-sectional moderate (Waldenstrom et al., 2008); 75% (3/4) prospective moderate (Plaisier et al., 2007; Rugulies et al., 2006; Stoetzer et al., 2009)]. Stoetzer et al. (2009) [prospective moderate] found that work-related social support had a protective effect, however, when stratified by gender, this relationship was only found to be protective for men. Rugulies et al. (2006) [prospective moderate] reported that low levels of support from workplace supervisors significantly predicted depression, but only for women. Low coworker support was not found to be significant for either gender. One study did not find evidence that work-related social support predicted depression (Smith and Bielecky, 2012) [prospective moderate]. Two of the studies reported that negative working conditions were strong predictors of depression, and that social support was not effective enough to buffer against the effect of this association [100% (2/2)]prospective moderate (Plaisier et al., 2007; Smith and Bielecky, 2012)].

#### 3.2. Social networks

Nine studies (9/13=69.2%) reported that a larger social network was an important protective factor against depression [11.1% (1/9) cross-sectional low (Ford et al., 2011); 33.3% (3/9) cross-sectional moderate (Chan et al., 2011; Sicotte et al., 2008; Tsai et al., 2005); 55.5% (5/9) prospective high (Chao, 2011; Garcia-Pena et al., 2013; Kuchibhatla et al., 2012; Rosenquist et al., 2011; Sonnenberg et al., 2013)] while the remaining four studies (4/13=30.8%) did not find a significant association between social network size and depression [25% (1/4) cross-sectional low (Wilby, 2011); 25% (1/4) cross-sectional

#### Table 4

Overview of the 23 prospective studies included in the review.

Reference	Location of study	Number of participants and age group	Design and study length	Social relationships measure	Depression outcome measure	Methodological quality
Garcia-Pena et al.	Mexico	N=7449 60 years old	Prospective; 3 time points	Combined network (size) and support (received emotional and instrumental)	The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS)	High
(2013) Huang et al. (2011)	Taiwan	and above $N=1017$ 65 years old	over 3 years Prospective; 4 time points	Support (perceived instrumental and emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Koizumi et al.	Japan	and above N=1178 70 years old	over 10 years Prospective; 2 time points	Support (perceived instrumental and emotional)	The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS)	Moderate
(2005) Pettit et al. (2011)	USA	and above N=816 21-30 years old	over 1 year Prospective; 4 time points	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate
Teo et al. (2013)	USA	N=4642 25-75 years old	Prospective; 2 time points over 10 years	Support (perceived emotional) and negative interactions	The short form of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI-SF)	High
Kuchibhatla et al. (2012)	USA	N=4162 65 years old and above	Prospective; 4 time points over 10 years	Network (contact frequency; size)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Rosenquist et al. (2011)	USA	N=12067 30 years old and above	Prospective; 3 time points over 18 years	Network (social ties)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Tiikkainen and Heikkinen (2005)	Finland	N=133 80 years old	Prospective; 2 time points over 5 years	Social connectedness (perceived togetherness)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	Low
(2003) Chaoet al. (2011)	Taiwan	N=4049 60 years and above	Prospective; 5 time points over 14 years	Combined network (social ties; composition; contact frequency) and support (received emotional and instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Sonnenberg et al. (2013)	The Netherlands	N=2823 55–85 years and above	Prospective; 5 time points over 14 years	Combined network (size) and support (received emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Heponiemi et al.	Finland	N=3596 15-30 years old	Prospective; 2 time points	Support (perceived emotional)	Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI- modified)	Low
Jokela et al. (2007)	Finland	N=341 All adults	Prospective; 2 time points	Support (perceived emotional)	Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI- modified)	Moderate
Bierman and Statland	USA	N=1167 65 years and	Prospective, 2 time points	Support (perceived emotional)	Four items from the Hopkins Symptoms Checklist	Moderate
Bisschop et al. (2004)	The Netherlands	N=2288 55-85 years	Prospective; 3 time points over 6 years	Combined network (size; contact frequency) and support (received instrumental and emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
(2001) Fauth et al. (2012)	Sweden	N=779 70 years old and above	Prospective; 3 time points over 12 years	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Taylor and Lynch (2004)	USA	N=3876 65 years and older	Prospective; 4 time points over 12 years	Support (perceived emotional; received emotional and instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Yang (2006)	USA	N=1149 65 years old and above	Prospective; 2 time points over 6 years	Combined network (size; contact frequency) and support (perceived emotional; received instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	High
Muramatsu et al. (2010)	USA	N=6535 70 years old and above	Prospective; 5 time points over 10 years	Support (perceived and received instrumental)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D) short form	High
Plaisier et al. (2007)	The Netherlands	N=7076 18-64 years old	Prospective; 3 time points over 4 years	Support (perceived emotional)	The CIDI interview	Moderate
Rugulies et al. (2006)	Denmark	N=4470 All adults (18+years)	Prospective; 2 time points over 5 years	Support (perceived emotional and instrumental)	The five-item Mental Health Inventory (MHI-5) of the Short- Form Health Survey	Moderate
Smith and Bielecky (2012)	Canada	N=3753 15-74 years old	Prospective; 3 time points over 5 years	Support (perceived emotional and instrumental)	The short form of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI-SF)	Moderate
Stoetzer et al. (2009)	Sweden	N=4040 20-64 years old	Prospective; 2 times points over 3 years	Support (perceived emotional)	The Major Depression Inventory (MDI)	Moderate
Cacioppo et al. (2010)	USA	N=229 50-68 years old	Prospective; 5 time points over 5 years	Support (perceived emotional)	The Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale (CES-D)	Moderate

Methodological quality was rated in terms of six components: (1) selection bias; (2) study design; (3) confounders; (4) blinding; (5) data-collection method; (6) withdrawals and drop-outs. Each component was rated as weak, moderate or strong, and a final rating was made of each study. A study was rated as 'low quality' if it had received two or more weak ratings; 'moderate quality' if it had received one weak rating, and 'high quality' if it had not received any weak ratings. Any discrepancies in terms of rating were resolved between the two reviewers.

moderate (Millan-Calenti et al., 2013); 50% (2/4) prospective high (Bisschop et al., 2004; Yang, 2006)]. The findings on the role of frequency of social contact on depression were less consistent. Two studies out of four (2/4=50%) reported that lower frequency of social contact predicted depression [50% (1/2) cross-sectional moderate (Chan et al., 2011); 50% (1/2) prospective high (Chao, 2011)], while two other studies (2/4=50%) did not find any significant associations between frequency of contact and depression [50% (1/2) cross-sectional moderate (Millan-Calenti et al., 2013), 50% (1/2) prospective high (Teo et al., 2013)].

In terms of studies utilizing more comprehensive measures of network properties, four studies analyzed the effect of the type of social network on depression, and these studies consistently found that diverse social networks were protective against depression as opposed to more restricted network types, i.e., networks including family, relatives, and several networks of friends had favorable effects on depression outcomes [100% (4/4) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori et al., 2006; Litwin, 2011, 2012; Sicotte et al., 2008)]. Chao (2011) [prospective high] concluded that a network consisting of 25–50% family and 50–75% friends was the most beneficial in terms of protecting against depression. Rosenquist et al. (2011) [prospective high] analyzed the distribution of depression across social ties over time and discovered that depression levels in one person were positively correlated with depression levels in friends and neighbors, and that these correlations remained significant up to three degrees of separation. In the events of financial strain, Sicotte et al. (2008) [cross-sectional moderate] reported that social networks served as a buffer against depression. Living with others and having a great diversity of social ties were important deterrents of depression under conditions of insufficient income.

In terms of living arrangements, two studies reported that multigenerational co-residence was a protective factor against depression, i.e. people who live with their relatives or children benefit from the social networks of their living arrangements [50% (1/2) cross-sectional moderate (Sicotte et al., 2008); 50% (1/2) prospective high (Chao, 2011)]. While maintaining relationships to one's family and relatives is important, Fiori et al. (2006) [cross-sectional moderate] concluded that having only a family network with few or no friends was more detrimental and posed a greater risk of depression than having a network with friends but no family.

#### 3.3. Social connectedness

In relation to social connectedness, Tiikkainen and Heikkinen (2005) [prospective low] assessed the impact of perceived togetherness on the association between loneliness and depression over time and concluded that people who feel mutual proximity and security in their social environment suffer significantly less often from depression.

In terms of social isolation, three studies out of twelve (3/12 = 25%)did not find significant associations between living alone or without a partner and depression [33.3% (1/3) cross-sectional low (Wilby, 2011); 66.6% (2/3) prospective high (Garcia-Pena et al., 2013; Teo et al., 2013)]. However, nine studies (9/12=75%) reported that living alone or without a partner were significant predictors of depression [11.1% (1/9) cross-sectional low (Chen et al., 2005); 44.4% (4/9) crosssectional moderate (Chan et al., 2011; Fiori et al., 2006; Russell and Taylor, 2009; Sicotte et al., 2008); 11.1% (1/9) prospective low (Tiikkainen and Heikkinen, 2005); 11.1% (1/9) prospective moderate (Cacioppo et al., 2010); 22.2% (2/9) prospective high (Bisschop et al., 2004; Sonnenberg et al., 2013)]. Four studies were consistent in reporting that living alone or without a partner was a greater risk factor of depression for men [75% (3/4) cross-sectional moderate (Chan et al., 2011; Fiori et al., 2006; Sicotte et al., 2008); 25% (1/4) prospective high (Sonnenberg et al., 2013)], while three studies

suggested that women were more at risk from the loss of close friends [100% (3/3) cross-sectional moderate (Alexandrino-Silva et al., 2011; Choi and Ha, 2011; Fiori et al., 2006)]. Zhang and Li (2011) [cross-sectional moderate] reported that widows either had or perceived themselves as having less emotional support from the family than the married elderly, and this lower level of support predicted higher levels of depression. Russell and Taylor (2009) [cross-sectional moderate] similarly concluded that people who live alone seem to benefit less from social support than people who live with a partner.

#### 3.4. Other salient findings

As a result of sorting all included papers into overarching thematically or conceptually related categories, several distinct topics emerged on how various factors play a role in the association between social relationships and depression. These factors were gender (13 studies), intrapersonal characteristics (5 studies), and chronic physical illness and disability (8 studies).

#### 3.5. Gender

In terms of associations by sex, eight studies out of 13 (8/13= 61.5%) reported that lack of social support was a significant predictor of depression for women, while this was not the case for men [12.5% (1/8) cross-sectional low (Virtanen et al., 2008); 50% (4/8) cross-sectional moderate (Fiori and Denckla, 2012; Mair et al., 2010; Sicotte et al., 2008; Tiedt, 2010); 25% (2/8) prospective moderate (Koizumi et al., 2005; Rugulies et al., 2006); 12.5% (1/8) prospective high (Huang et al., 2011)]. Four studies (4/13=30.8%) discovered that this same pattern was significant for men, but not for women [50% (2/4) cross-sectional moderate (Alexandrino-Silva et al., 2007; Stoetzer et al., 2009)]. One study (1/13=7.7%) reported that lack of emotional support was a significant predictor only in women, while lack of instrumental support was a significant predictor only in men [cross-sectional moderate (Grav et al., 2012)].

Only two studies included measures on support provision. Fiori and Denckla (2012) [cross-sectional moderate] reported that provision of emotional support was protective against depression for both men and women, while women especially seemed to benefit from having a network in need of emotional support. Sicotte et al. (2008) [cross-sectional moderate] concluded that women seem to benefit from reciprocity of social support, i.e. balanced exchanges of social support play a protective role against depression only for women.

#### 3.6. Intrapersonal characteristics

Yang (2006) [prospective high] reported that a favorable effect of perceived support in the association between disabilities and depression could be explained by psychological mechanisms, in the sense that perceived emotional support bolstered an individual's sense of control. Two studies showed results that implied the opposite effect, but with instrumental support. In these studies, receipt of instrumental support exacerbated symptoms of depression, suggesting that such support may undermine feelings of control [50% (1/2) crosssectional moderate (Tiedt, 2010); 50% (1/2) prospective high (Bisschop et al., 2004)]. Heponiemi et al. (2006) [prospective low] investigated the influence of perceived emotional support on progression to depression, while taking into account childhood anger and later hostility. They reported an overall protective effect of support - an effect that was associated with decreases in depressive symptoms over time. Although hostility itself was a risk factor for depression, its presence often caused interpersonal conflicts, and this in turn, effectively reduced an individual's opportunities for receiving support. Sonnenberg et al. (2013) [prospective high] investigated the influence of individuals' need for social affiliation – the need to actively seek out support from social connections – in the relation between received emotional support and late-life depression. Across both genders, a high need for social affiliation seemed to worsen outcomes under low levels of emotional support.

Finally, Jokela et al. (2007) [prospective moderate] assessed the influence of a particular genetic factor on the association between perceived social support and depression. Over a four year period, low social support predicted an increase in depressive symptoms only in individuals carrying both dominant alleles of the Tryptophan hydroxylase 1 gene, implying a greater risk for individuals with this particular genetic feature under conditions of low social support.

#### 3.7. Chronic physical illness and disability

Eight studies reported that perceived social support played a significant protective role in the association between disability or chronic illness and depression [12.5% (1/8) cross-sectional moderate (Leung et al., 2007), 12.5% (1/8) prospective moderate (Bierman and Statland, 2010), 75% (6/8) prospective high (Chao, 2011; Fauth et al., 2012; Huang et al., 2011; Muramatsu et al., 2010; Taylor and Lynch, 2004; Yang, 2006)]. In a similar fashion, Huang et al. (2011) [prospective high], Yang (2006) [prospective high] and Bierman and Statland (2010) [prospective moderate] found that adults with high levels of perceived social support experienced less distress from disability and limitations in activities of daily living. Leung et al. (2007) [cross-sectional moderate] also reported a similar protective effect of perceived emotional support in the association between chronic illnesses and depression. Fauth et al. (2012) [prospective high] found that greater levels of perceived social support predicted fewer depressive symptoms at disability onset, and a more pronounced decline in depressive symptoms at later time points, thus implying a protective effect. Both Taylor and Lynch (2004) [prospective high] and Muramatsu et al. (2010) [prospective high] reported that changes in trajectories of perceived emotional support over time mediated the relationships between worsening disability and depressive symptoms, and can act as a buffer against the detrimental effects of disability on depression. Finally, Chao (2011) [prospective high] concluded that provision of instrumental support was protective when it was received on a short-term basis, which can be indicative of a less severe illness, while the opposite was the case when it was received on a long-term (permanent) basis, as can be expected with more severe illnesses.

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Social support

There was a general consensus that perceived support is more important than received support, and there was also overwhelming evidence that the perceived emotional variant consistently played a protective role against depression across general populations. A considerable amount of good quality studies demonstrated a causal direction from perceived social support to depression through prospective analyses. Also, there was some indication that negative interactions are important risk factors for depression. However, only few studies utilized measures relating to negative interactions.

The evidence was mixed for receipt of instrumental support, and it was difficult to pinpoint exactly how this influences depression. The evidence was conflicting across studies that were different in terms of both quality and design. Other reviews note that the effect of received social support on mental health is generally inconclusive (Haber et al., 2007), which seems to also be the case for received instrumental support in this review. A number of the included studies suggested that receipt of instrumental support has negative implications for depression. Previous research has also noted associations between receipt of instrumental support and adverse mental health outcomes (Deelstra et al., 2003; Kawachi and Berkman, 2001; Nurullah, 2012).

Across included studies, there was some evidence that workrelated social support was an important determinant of depression, but the evidence was limited and sometimes conflicting. Similarly, several studies found more important determinants relating to negative working conditions. Previous research reports that the effect of work-related social support seems to be sensitive to other factors, and that several psychosocial work characteristics must be taken into account to predict physical health (Hoogendoorn et al. 2000; Michie and Williams, 2003).

#### 4.2. Social networks

The protective effect of larger social networks against depression has been confirmed in the literature (Smith and Christakis, 2008). In this review, over half of the studies arriving at this same conclusion were of the highest quality and had a prospective design. Notably, the diverse types of social networks were consistently found to be associated with favorable depression outcomes. It seems that having close family relationships combined with a number of different peer networks from different contexts is particularly beneficial. Finally, depression can spread through social networks. The contagious properties of depression have been corroborated by other independent studies and meta-analyses (Haeffel and Hames, 2014; Joiner and Katz, 1999). Although this may seem disconcerting, Smith and Christakis (2008) note that positive and beneficial emotional states, such as happiness and optimism, also seem to spread through social networks.

#### 4.3. Social connectedness

Summarizing the limited evidence for social connectedness, it seems that people in a social environment with relationships in which they feel mutual proximity and belongingness are less likely to be at risk of depression. Ashida and Heaney (2008) found that social connectedness may be more important for the health status of older adults, possibly because higher levels of feeling socially connected offer more proximity to social networks, and greater likelihood of feeling comfortable while relying on networks for support. Thus, social connectedness may play a protective role against depression by mediating the positive effects of social relationships on mental health (Williams and Galliher, 2006). Previous reviews and independent studies have confirmed the protective effect of social connectedness against various mental health outcomes (Townsend and McWhirter, 2005; Lee et al., 2001; Lee and Robbins, 1998; Resnick et al., 1997). However, this review highlights the current situation of social connectedness being underutilized in studies assessing social determinants of depression.

There was good evidence in terms of both prospective designs and quality to support that social isolation is particularly detrimental in terms of predicting depression. Multi-generational living arrangements was a general protective factor against depression. This finding may be considered in the light of research demonstrating that transitions to institutional settings predict depressive symptoms (Pot et al., 2005). There may be several reasons for this, but it could be attributed to feelings of proximity and social inclusion. Living alone or without a partner were generally found to be strong predictors of depression, and bereavement in particular played an important role. The importance of psychological factors of social isolation and bereavement in the association with depression in community-dwelling elderly has been emphasized in previous reviews (Cole and Dendukuri, 2003; Kawachi and Berkman, 2001). Reviews have confirmed that bereavement can be more damaging to the physical and mental health of men, while women are strongly affected by the loss of close friends (Smith and Christakis, 2008; Kawachi and Berkman, 2001). This may be explained by the consistent finding that men tend to rely on spouses for support, while women seem to rely more on friends as confidants (Glynn et al., 1999; Reevy, 2007; Schultz and Schwarzer, 2004; van Daalen et al., 2005).

#### 4.4. Gender

The literature supports significant associations between social support and depression particularly and sometimes exclusively for women (Kawachi and Berkman, 2001), and also that reciprocity of support seems to be an important protective factor for women (Belle, 1987).

#### 4.5. Intrapersonal characteristics

A variety of psychological characteristics play important roles in the relationship between social support and depression. In terms of feelings of control, previous research confirms that different types of social support may either promote self-efficacy or have detrimental effects on self-esteem by reinforcing dependence (Kawachi and Berkman, 2001). Only three studies in this review included measures of feelings of control. More research is warranted to explore sense of control and self-efficacy as a possible mechanism in the link between social relationships and outcomes on mental disorders. A high need for social affiliation also seems to be important, especially under conditions of low levels of social support. Similar conclusions have been drawn in studies utilizing the variables of social neediness in relation to depression (Rude and Burham, 1995). Another intrapersonal characteristic, hostility, was a risk factor for depression, which often resulted in interpersonal conflicts and reduced opportunities for receiving support. Thus, psychological factors and levels of social support seem to have a reciprocal effect on each other in these instances, which ultimately have important consequences for depression outcomes. A moderating role of psychological characteristics on physical health outcomes has been noted in a previous review and may be equally relevant for mental health (Uchino, 2006). Uchino further provides evidence for the influence of social support on the relationship between various biological characteristics and disease. In this review, we identified one particular genetic composition which seems to have a role to play in the support-depression relationship.

#### 4.6. Chronic physical illness and disability

Perceived social support seems to offer a sense of security and reliance on social networks for people that are physically disadvantaged or people that are experiencing disease. This was a robust finding across a range of different included studies, with three quarters being prospective high quality studies. Previous research has found similar favorable associations between perceived social support and outcomes relating to depression, levels of functional impairment, and ability to cope with physical disabilities (Evers et al., 1998; Greenglas et al., 2006; Holahan et al., 1997, 1995, 1996).

The included studies were less informative in terms of the influence of received support, particularly instrumental support. The reason for this may be that long-term received instrumental support is often referred to under the term 'informal care', which was beyond the scope of this review. However, it should be noted that an abundance of studies demonstrate that long-term instrumental support for various reasons is associated with adverse mental health outcomes (Blazer, 2003; Kwak et al., 2014; Martire et al., 2002; Newsom and Schultz, 1998; Roe et al., 2001; Beach

et al., 2005; Christie et al., 2009; Jang et al., 2002; Krause and Rook, 2003; Wallsten et al., 1999; Wolff and Agree, 2004).

#### 4.7. Limitations

A number of limitations should be born in mind when interpreting the results. First, reporting bias may exist for perceived social support. For example, lack of perceived support may appear to be a risk factor for depression, but this may be due to the tendency of individuals with depression to form rather cynical and pessimistic perceptions of the reality of their social surroundings, and this may not necessarily mean that support is actually lacking. This could explain the discrepancies observed for the associations between perceived or received support and depression. In addition, reverse causality may exist between depression and social relationships, where people with depression may be less likely to engage in social activities or seek social support. This is a limitation of particular importance for cross-sectional studies, as prospective studies are less likely to be affected by this type of bias. Further, due to the large number of studies available in the domain of interest, only studies from peer-reviewed journals were included. Publication bias and the fact that 'gray literature' (i.e. papers published in databases that are not controlled by academic publishers) were not included in our review may have limited our findings. One should also note that our emphasis on studies assessing the influence of social relationships in populations-based samples did not allow for the inclusion of qualitative studies. Although qualitative studies are less able to address how one variable influences another, they can be useful in terms of offering explanations of psychosocial phenomena that are often not accessible through quantitative research. Finally, given that this review included studies from a wide range of cultural and national contexts, cultural differences may exist and have implications for how findings should be interpreted. A growing body of literature has examined how social relationships vary across culture, such as social support seeking in individualistic as opposed to collectivistic cultures (Kim et al., 2008). However, the articles included in this review generally focused on the population in question, and we did not come across any studies drawing particularly insightful conclusions regarding culture differences. This is an area that should be further explored.

#### 5. Conclusion

This review provides some confirmation that perceived social support and larger, diverse social networks, in particular, play important protective roles against depression in the general population, including those with chronic somatic illness or disability. However, some challenges persist and must be addressed. First, studies are needed to address how people's perceptions of social support and networks, as compared to objective measures, affect the association between social relationships and depression. Second, it was difficult to compare studies due to the utilization of different support and network variables that are distinct and not necessarily comparable even when pertaining to social support or social networks. Thus, the best comparisons were derived from studies that utilized several social support variables (e.g. perceived and received support) or social network variables (e.g. size and contact frequency). Studies on social support and social networks could benefit from more coherence in terms of incorporating several relevant measures, and research should aim to include a broad range of social relationships variables, rather than just one or two single measures. This would pave the way for a more robust research base for social support and social networks, and ultimately strengthen the comparability across studies. Third, measures on negative interactions (as opposed to emotional support) were largely underutilized, which made it difficult to make conclusions about how supportive relationships and negative interactions may interact and impact on health. Thus, studies on social support are more informative when also including measures on negative interactions in social relationships. Forth, although the included studies on social support and social networks were vast and comprehensive, many of the studies did not include variables on both social networks and social support, and often when they did, they still did not include all the necessary and relevant variables. On the contrary, most studies focused either on social support or social networks, and were not able to evaluate how these two constructs relate to each other. The most informative studies were those that did not focus exclusively on social support or social networks, but those that considered these two in their analyses as being two distinct aspects of basically the same construct. As emphasized previously, social networks and social support have sometimes been referred to as 'network structure' and 'network function', respectively. This may be a particularly useful way to engage in research with these variables, as this approach seems to take both elements into account. There is a strong call for future research to determine how social networks and social support interact and ultimately affect risks for depression. Finally, social connectedness is underutilized as a social relationships measure in studies assessing depression outcomes in the general population. Future research has yet to assess the degree to which this variable constitutes a vital social determinant of depression in population-based samples.

#### Role of funding source

None declared.

#### **Conflict of interest**

None of the authors have any interests to declare in relation to this submission.

#### Acknowledgments

The research leading to these results has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007–2013 under REA Grant agreement no. 316795.

Ai Koyanagi's work was supported by the Miguel Servet contract by CIBERSAM, Grant agreement no. CP13/00150.

Stefano Tyrovolas' work was funded through a scholarship from the Foundation for Education and European Culture (IPEP).

#### References

- Alexandrino-Silva, C., Alves, T.F., Tofoli, L.F., Wang, Y.P., Andrade, L.H., 2011. Psychiatry: life events and social support in late life depression. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 66 (2), 233–238.
- Armijo-Olivo, S., Stiles, C.R., Hagen, N.A., Biondo, P.D., Cummings, G.G., 2012. Assessment of study quality for systematic reviews: a comparison of the cochrane collaboration risk of bias tool and the effective public health practice project quality assessment tool: methodological research. J. Eval. Clin. Pract. 18 (1), 12–18.
- Ashida, S., Heaney, C.A., 2008. Differential associations of social support and social connectedness with structural features of social networks and the health status of older adults. J. Aging Health 20 (7), 872–893.
- Barratt, J., Chambers, L., Graham, T., Keefe, J., Meloche, A., O'Brien-Cousins, S., Scott, V., 2006. Healthy Aging in Canada: A New Vision, A Vital Investment from Evidence to Action. Public Health Agency of Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Beach, S.R., Schultz, R., Williamson, G.M., Miller, L.S., Weiner, M.F., Lance, C.E., 2005. Risk factors for potentially harmful informal caregiver behavior. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53 (2), 255–261.
- Belle, D., 1987. Gender differences in the social moderators of stress. In: Barnett, R.C., Biener, G.K., Baruch, G.K. (Eds.), Gender and Stress. The Free Press, New York, NY, pp. 257–277.
- Bierman, A., Statland, D., 2010. Timing, social support, and the effects of physical limitations on psychological distress in late life. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 65 (5), 631–639. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbp128.
- Bisschop, M.I., Kriegsman, D.M., Beekman, A.T., Deeg, D.J., 2004. Chronic diseases and depression: the modifying role of psychosocial resources. Soc. Sci. Med. 59 (4), 721–733. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.11.038.
- Blazer, D.G., 2003. Depression in late life: review and commentary. J. Gerontol., Ser. A: Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 58 (3), M249–M265.

Bonita, R., Beaglehole, R., Kjellström, T., 2006. Basic Epidemiology, 2nd ed. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.

- Cacioppo, J.T., Hawkley, L.C., Thisted, R.A., 2010. Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago health, aging, and social relations study. Psychol. Aging 25 (2), 453–463. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0017216.
- Chan, A., Malhotra, C., Malhotra, R., Ostbye, T., 2011. Living arrangements, social networks and depressive symptoms among older men and women in Singapore. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 26 (6), 630–639. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ gps.2574.
- Chao, S.F., 2011. Assessing social support and depressive symptoms in older Chinese adults: a longitudinal perspective. Aging Ment. Health 15 (6), 765–774. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2011.562182.
- Chao, S.F., McCallion, P., Nickle, T., 2011. Factorial validity and consistency of the Maslach Burnout Inventory among staff working with persons with intellectual disability and dementia. J. Intellect. Disabil. Res. 55 (5), 529–536. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01413.x.
- Chazelle, E., Lemogne, C., Morgan, K., Kelleher, C.C., Chastang, J.F., Niedhammer, I., 2011. Explanations of educational differences in major depression and generalised anxiety disorder in the Irish population. J. Affect. Disord. 134 (1–3), 304–314. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.05.049.
- Chen, R., Wei, L., Hu, Z., Qin, X., Copeland, J.R., Hemingway, H., 2005. Depression in older people in rural China. Arch. Intern. Med. 165 (17), 2019–2025. http://dx. doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.17.2019.
- Choi, N.G., Ha, J.H., 2011. Relationship between spouse/partner support and depressive symptoms in older adults: gender difference. Aging Ment. Health 15 (3), 307–317. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2010.513042.
- Christie, J., Smith, G.R., Williamson, G.M., Lance, C.E., Shovali, T.E., Silva, L.C., 2009. Quality of informal care is multidimensional. Rehabil. Psychol. 54 (2), 173–181.
- Cole, M.G., Dendukuri, N., 2003. Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am. J. Psychiatry 160 (6), 1147–1156.
- Cornwell, E.Y., Waite, L.J., 2009a. Measuring social isolation among older adults using multiple indicators from the NSHAP study. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 64B (Suppl 1), i38–i46.
- Cornwell, E.Y., Waite, L.J., 2009b. Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and health among older adults. J. Health Soc. Behav. 50 (1), 31–48.
- Deelstra, J.T., Peeters, M.C.W., Schaufeli, W.B., Stroebe, W., Zjilstra, F.R.H., 2003. Receiving instrumental support at work: when help is not welcome. J. Appl. Psychol. 88, 324–331.
- Djernes, J.K., 2006. Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 113, 372–387.
- Evers, A.W.M., Kraaimaat, F.W., Geenen, R., Bijlsma, J.W.J., 1998. Psychosocial predictors of functional change in recently diagnosed rheumatoid arthritis patients. Behav., Res. Ther. 36, 179–193.
- Fauth, E.B., Gerstorf, D., Ram, N., Malmberg, B., 2012. Changes in depressive symptoms in the context of disablement processes: role of demographic characteristics, cognitive function, health, and social support. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 67 (2), 167–177. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/ gbr078.
- Ferrari, A.J., Charlson, F.J., Norman, R.E., Patten, S.B., Freedman, G., Murray, C.J.L., Whiteford, H.A., 2013. Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. PLoS Med. 10 (11), 1–12.
- Fiori, K.L., Antonucci, T.C., Cortina, K.S., 2006. Social network typologies and mental health among older adults. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 61 (1), P25–32.
- Fiori, K.L., Denckla, C.A., 2012. Social support and mental health in middle-aged men and women: a multidimensional approach. J. Aging Health 24 (3), 407–438. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0898264311425087.
- Ford, E., Clark, C., Stansfeld, S.A., 2011. The influence of childhood adversity on social relations and mental health at mid-life. J. Affect. Disord. 133 (1–2), 320–327. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.03.017.
- Garcia-Pena, C., Wagner, F.A., Sanchez-Garcia, S., Espinel-Bermudez, C., Juarez-Cedillo, T., Perez-Zepeda, M., Gallo, J.J., 2013. Late-life depressive symptoms: prediction models of change. J. Affect. Disord. 150 (3), 886–894. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.007.
- Glaesmer, H., Riedel-Heller, S., Braehler, E., Spangenberg, L., Luppa, M., 2011. Ageand gender-specific prevalence and risk factors for depressive symptoms in the elderly: a population-based study. Int. Psychogeriatr. 23 (8), 1294–1300. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1017/s1041610211000780.
- Glynn, L.M., Christensen, N., Gerin, W., 1999. Gender, social support, and cardiovascular responses to stress. Psychosom. Med. 61, 234–242.
- Grav, S., Hellzen, O., Romild, U., Stordal, E., 2012. Association between social support and depression in the general population: the HUNT study, a cross-sectional survey. J. Clin. Nurs. 21 (1–2), 111–120. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.03868.x.
- Greenglas, E., Fiksenbaum, L., Eaton, J., 2006. The relationship between coping, social support, functional disability and depression in the elderly. Anxiety, Stress Coping: Int. J. 19 (1), 15–31.
- Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jacobi, F., Allgulander, C., Alonso, J., Beghi, E., Olesen, J., 2011. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. Eur. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 21, 718–779.
- Haber, M.G., Cohen, J.L., Lucas, T., Baltes, B.B., 2007. The relationship between selfreported received and perceived social support: a meta-analytic review. Am. J. Community Psychol. 39 (1–2), 133–144.

Haeffel, G.J., Hames, J.L., 2014. Cognitive vulnerability to depression can be contagious. Clin. Psychol. Sci. 2 (1), 75–85.

- Harvey, S.B., Hotopf, M., Overland, S., Mykletun, A., 2010. Physical activity and common mental disorders. Br. J. Psychiatry 197 (5), 357–364. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075176.
- Heponiemi, T., Elovainio, M., Kivimaki, M., Pulkki, L., Puttonen, S., Keltikangas-Jarvinen, L., 2006. The longitudinal effects of social support and hostility on depressive tendencies. Soc. Sci. Med. 63 (5), 1374–1382. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.03.036.
- Holdhan, C.J., Moos, R.H., Bonin, L.A., 1997. Social support, coping and psychological adjustment: a resources model. In: Avison, W.R., Gotlib, I.H. (Eds.), Stress and Mental Health: Contemporary Issues and Prospects for the Future. Plenum, New York, NY, pp. 213–238.
- Holahan, C.J., Moos, R.H., Holahan, C.K., Brennan, P.L., 1995. Social support, coping and depresive symptoms in a late-middle-aged sample. Health Psychol. 14, 152–163.
- Holahan, C.J., Moos, R.H., Schaefer, J., 1996. Coping, resilience, and growth: Conceptualizing adaptive functioning. In: Zeidner, M., Endler, N. (Eds.), Handbook of Coping: Research, Theory, and Application. Wiley, New York, NY, pp. 24–43.
- Holt-Lundstad, J., Smith, T.B., Layton, J.B., 2010. Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. PloS Med. 7 (7), 1–19.
- Hoogendoorn, W.E., van Poppel, N.M., Bongers, P., Koes, B.W., Bouter, L.M., 2000. Systematic review of psychosocial factors at work and private life as risk factors for back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 25 (16), 2114–2125.
- House, J.S., 1987. Social support and social structure. Sociol. Forum 2 (1), 135–146. Huang, J.-F., Wong, R.-H., Chen, C.-C., Mao, I.F., Huang, C.-C., Chang, W.-H., Wang, L.,
- 2011. Trajectory of depression symptoms and related factors in later life a population based study. J. Affect. Disord. 133 (3), 499–508. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jad.2011.04.048.
- Jang, Y., Haley, W.E., Small, B.J., Mortimer, J.A., 2002. The role of mastery and social resources in the associations between disability and depression in later life. Gerontologist 42 (6), 807–813.
- Joiner, T.E., Katz, J., 1999. Contagion of depressive symptoms and mood: metaanalytic review and explanations from cognitive, behavioral, and interpersonal viewpoints. Clin. Psychol.: Sci. Pract. 6 (2), 149–164.
- Jokela, M., Raikkonen, K., Lehtimaki, T., Rontu, R., Keltikangas-Jarvinen, L., 2007. Tryptophan hydroxylase 1 gene (TPH1) moderates the influence of social support on depressive symptoms in adults. J. Affect. Disord. 100 (1–3), 191–197. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.10.016.
- Kawachi, I., Berkman, L.F., 2001. Social ties and mental health. J. Urban Health 78 (3), 458–467.
- Kim, H.S., Sherman, D.K., Taylor, S.E., 2008. Culture and social support. Am. Psychol. 63 (6), 518–526.
- Koizumi, Y., Awata, S., Kuriyama, S., Ohmori, K., Hozawa, A., Seki, T., Tsuji, I., 2005. Association between social support and depression status in the elderly: results of a 1-year community-based prospective cohort study in Japan. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 59 (5), 563–569. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01415.x.
- Krause, N., Rook, K., 2003. Negative interaction in late life: issues in the stability and generalizability of conflict across relationships. J. Gerontol., Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 58 (2), P88–P99.
- Kuchibhatla, M.N., Fillenbaum, G.G., Hybels, C.F., Blazer, D.G., 2012. Trajectory classes of depressive symptoms in a community sample of older adults. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 125 (6), 492–501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01801.x.
- Kwak, M., Ingersoll-Dayton, B., Bursgard, S., 2014. Receipt of care and depressive symptoms in later life: the importance of self-perceptions of aging. J. Gerontol., Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 69 (2), 325–335.
- Lee, R.M., Draper, M., Lee, S., 2001. Social connectedness, dysfunctional interpersonal behaviors, and psychological distress: testing a mediator model. J. Couns. Psychol. 48 (3), 310–318.
- Lee, R.M., Robbins, S.B., 1998. The relationship between social connectedness and anxiety, self-esteem, and social identity. J. Couns. Psychol. 45 (3), 338–345.
- Leggett, A., Zarit, S.H., Nguyen, N.H., Hoang, C.N., Nguyen, H.T., 2012. The influence of social factors and health on depressive symptoms and worry: a study of older Vietnamese adults. Aging Ment. Health 16 (6), 780–786. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/13607863.2012.667780.
- Leung, K.-K., Chen, C.-Y., Lue, B.-H., Hsu, S.-T. (2007). Social support and family functioning on psychological symptoms in elderly Chinese. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics,44(2), 203-213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger. 2006.05.001.
- Li, H., Ji, Y., Chen, T., 2014. The roles of different sources of social support on emotional well-being among Chinese elderly. PloS ONE 9 (3), e90051. http://dx. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090051.
- Li, L.W., Liang, J., 2007. Social exchanges and subjective well-being among older Chinese: does age make a difference? Psychol. Aging 22 (2), 386–391. http://dx. doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.22.2.386.
- Litwin, H., 2010. Social networks and well-being: a comparison of older people in Mediterranean and non-Mediterranean countries. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 65 (5), 599–608. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbp104.
- Litwin, H., 2011. The association between social network relationships and depressive symptoms among older Americans: what matters most? Int. Psychogeriatr. 23 (6), 930–940. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s1041610211000251.
- Litwin, H., 2012. Physical activity, social network type, and depressive symptoms in late life: an analysis of data from the National Social Life, Health and Aging Project. Aging Ment. Health 16 (5), 608–616. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 13607863.2011.644264.

- Litwin, H., Landau, R., 2000. Social network type and social support among the oldold. J. Aging Stud. 14, 213–228.
- Mair, C., Diez Roux, A.V., Morenoff, J.D., 2010. Neighborhood stressors and social support as predictors of depressive symptoms in the Chicago Community Adult Health Study. Health Place 16 (5), 811–819. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. healthplace.2010.04.006.
- Martire, L.M., Stephens, M.A., Druley, J.A., Wojno, W.C., 2002. Negative reactions to received spousal care: predictors and consequences of miscarried support. Health Psychol. 21 (2), 167–176.
- Michie, S., Williams, S., 2003. Reducing work related psychological ill health and sickness absence: a systematic literature review. Occup. Environ. Med. 60, 3–9.
- Millan-Calenti, J.C., Sanchez, A., Lorenzo-Lopez, L., Cao, R., Maseda, A., 2013. Influence of social support on older adults with cognitive impairment, depressive symptoms, or both coexisting. Int. J. Aging Hum. Dev. 76 (3), 199–214.
- Muramatsu, N., Yin, H., Hedeker, D., 2010. Functional declines, social support, and mental health in the elderly: does living in a state supportive of home and community-based services make a difference? Soc. Sci. Med. 70 (7), 1050–1058. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.12.005.
- Newson, J., Schultz, R., 1998. Caregiving from the recipient's perspective: negative reactions to being helped. Health Psychol. 17 (2), 172–181.
- Noone, J., Stephens, C., 2014. Social Integration, Health and Quality of Life: Summary report for the New Zealand Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Massey University, Palmerston North, NZ.
- Nurullah, A.S., 2012. Received and provided support: a review of current evidence and future directions. Am. J. Health Stud. 27 (3), 173–188.
- Ostberg, V., Lennartsson, C., 2007. Getting by with a little help: the importance of various types of social support for health problems. Scand. J. Public Health 35 (2), 197–204. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14034940600813032.
  Ottmann, G., Dickson, J., Wright, P., 2006. Social Connectedness and Health: A
- Ottmann, G., Dickson, J., Wright, P., 2006. Social Connectedness and Health: A Literature Review. Cornell University ILR School, Ithaca, NY. Pettit, J.W., Roberts, R.E., Lewinsohn, P.M., Seeley, J.R., Yaroslavsky, I., 2011.
- Pettit, J.W., Roberts, R.E., Lewinsohn, P.M., Seeley, J.R., Yaroslavsky, I., 2011. Developmental relations between perceived social support and depressive symptoms through emerging adulthood: blood is thicker than water. J. Family Psychol. 25 (1), 127–136. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0022320.
- Plaisier, I., de Bruijn, J.G., de Graaf, R., ten Have, M., Beekman, A.T., Penninx, B.W., 2007. The contribution of working conditions and social support to the onset of depressive and anxiety disorders among male and female employees. Soc. Sci. Med. 64 (2), 401–410. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.09.008.
- Popay, J., Roberts, H., Sowden, A., Petticrew, M., Arai, L., Rodgers, M., Duffy, S., 2006. Guidance on the Conduct of Narrative Synthesis in Systematic Reviews. University of Lancaster, UK.
- Pot, A.M., Deeg, D.J., Twisk, J.M., Beekman, A.T., Zarit, S.H., 2005. The longitudinal relationship between the use of long-term care and depressive symptoms in older adults. Gerontologist 45 (3), 359–369.
- Prince, M.J., Harwood, R.H., Blizard, R.A., Thomas, A., Mann, A.H., 1997. Social support deficits, loneliness and life events as risk factors for depression in old age. The Gospel Oak Project VI. Psychol. Med. 27 (2), 323–332.
- Prince, M., Patel, V., Saxena, S., Maj, M., Maselko, J., Phillips, M.R., Rahman, A., 2007. No health without mental health. The Lancet 370 (9590), 859–877.
- Reevy, G.M., 2007. Sex-related differences in the social support-stress relationship. In: Monat, A., Lazarus, R.S., Reevy, G.M. (Eds.), The Praeger Handbook on Stress and Coping, vol. 2nd. Praeger, Westport, CT, pp. 349–361.
- Resnick, M.D., Bearman, P.S., Blum, R.W., Bauman, K.E., Harris, K.M., Jones, J., Udry, J.R., 1997. Protecting adolescents from harm: findings from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health. JAMA 278 (10), 823–832.
- Roe, B., Whattam, M., Young, H., Dimond, M., 2001. Elders' perceptions of formal and informal care: aspects of getting and receiving help for their activities of daily living. J. Clin. Nurs. 10 (3), 398–405.
- Rosenquist, J.N., Fowler, J.H., Christakis, N.A., 2011. Social network determinants of depression. Mol. Psychiatry 16 (3), 273–281. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ mp.2010.13.
- Rude, S.S., Burham, B.L., 1995. Connectedness and neediness: factors of the DEQ and SAS dependency scales. Cogn. Ther. Res. 19, 323–340.
- Rugulies, R., Bultmann, U., Aust, B., Burr, H., 2006. Psychosocial work environment and incidence of severe depressive symptoms: prospective findings from a 5year follow-up of the Danish work environment cohort study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 163 (10), 877–887. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwj119.
- Russell, D., Taylor, J., 2009. Living alone and depressive symptoms: the influence of gender, physical disability, and social support among Hispanic and non-Hispanic older adults. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 64 (1), 95–104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbn002.
- Schultz, U., Schwarzer, R., 2004. Long-term effects of spousal support on coping with cancer after surgery. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 23 (5), 716–732.
- Schuster, T.L., Kessler, R.C., Aseltine, R.H., 1990. Supportive interactions, negative interactions, and depressed mood. Am. J. Community Psychol. 18, 423–438.
- Sicotte, M., Alvarado, B.E., Leon, E.M., Zunzunegui, M.V., 2008. Social networks and depressive symptoms among elderly women and men in Havana, Cuba. Aging Ment. Health 12 (2), 193–201. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607860701616358.
- Smith, K.P., Christakis, N.A., 2008. Social networks and health. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 34, 405–429.
- Smith, P.M., Bielecky, A., 2012. The impact of changes in job strain and its components on the risk of depression. Am. J. Public Health 102 (2), 352–358. http://dx.doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2011.300376.
- Sonnenberg, C.M., Deeg, D.J., van Tilburg, T.G., Vink, D., Stek, M.L., Beekman, A.T., 2013. Gender differences in the relation between depression and social support

in later life. Int. Psychogeriatr. 25 (1), 61–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s1041610212001202.

- Stoetzer, U., Ahlberg, G., Johansson, G., Bergman, P., Hallsten, L., Forsell, Y., Lundberg, I., 2009. Problematic interpersonal relationships at work and depression: a Swedish prospective cohort study. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 51 (2), 144–151.
- Stone, W., 2003. Ageing, Social Capital and Social Support. Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne, AU.
- Tajvar, M., Fletcher, A., Grundy, E., Arab, M., 2013. Social support and health of older people in Middle Eastern countries: a systematic review. Australas. J. Ageing 32 (2), 71–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6612.2012.00639.x.
- Taylor, M.G., Lynch, S.M., 2004. Trajectories of impairment, social support, and depressive symptoms in later life. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 59 (4), S238–246.
- Teo, A.R., Choi, H., Valenstein, M., 2013. Social relationships and depression: tenyear follow-up from a nationally representative study. PLoS One 8 (4), e62396. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062396.
- Thoits, P.A., 2011. Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. J. Health Soc. Behav. 52, 145–161.
- Thomas, B.H., Ciliska, D., Dobbins, R.N., Micucci, S., 2004. A process for systematically reviewing the literature: providing the research evidence for public health nursing interventions. Worldviews Evid.-Based Nurs. 1 (3), 176–184.
- Tiedt, A.D., 2010. The gender gap in depressive symptoms among Japanese elders: evaluating social support and health as mediating factors. J. Cross-Cultural Gerontol. 25 (3), 239–256. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10823-010-9122-x.
- Tiikkainen, P., Heikkinen, R.L., 2005. Associations between loneliness, depressive symptoms and perceived togetherness in older people. Aging Ment. Health 9 (6), 526–534. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607860500193138.
- Townsend, K.C., McWhirter, B.T., 2005. Connectedness: a review of the literature with implications for counseling, assessment, and research. J. Couns. Dev. 83 (2), 191–201.
- Tsai, Y.F., Yeh, S.H., Tsai, H.H., 2005. Prevalence and risk factors for depressive symptoms among community-dwelling elders in Taiwan. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 20 (11), 1097–1102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.1413.
- Tsuang, M.T., Tohen, M., Jones, P.B., 2011. Textbook of Psychiatric Epidemiology 3rd ed. Wiley-Blackwell, West Sussex, UK.
- Uchino, B.N., 2006. Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. J. Behav. Med. 29 (4), 377–387.

- Vaillant, G.E., 2008. Aging Well: Surprising Guideposts to a Happier Life from the Landmark Study of Adult Development: Hachette Digital, Inc.
- van Daalen, G., Sanders, K., Willemsen, T.M., 2005. Sources of social support as predictors of health, psychological well-being and life satisfaction among Dutch male and female dual-earners. Women Health 41 (2), 43–62.
- Sleep and Quality of Life in Clinical Medicine. In: Verster, J., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Streiner, D.L. (Eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ.
- Virtanen, M., Koskinen, S., Kivimaki, M., Honkonen, T., Vahtera, J., Ahola, K., Lonnqvist, J., 2008. Contribution of non-work and work-related risk factors to the association between income and mental disorders in a working population: the Health 2000 Study. Occup. Environ. Med. 65 (3), 171–178. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1136/oem.2007.033159.
- Waldenstrom, K., Ahlberg, G., Bergman, P., Forsell, Y., Stoetzer, U., Waldenstrom, M., Lundberg, I., 2008. Externally assessed psychosocial work characteristics and diagnoses of anxiety and depression. Occup. Environ. Med. 65 (2), 90–96. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1136/oem.2006.031252.
- Walen, H.R., Lachman, M.E., 2000. Social support and strain from partner, family, and friends: costs and benefits for men and women in adulthood. J. Soc. Pers. Relatsh. 17 (1), 5–30.
- Wallsten, S.M., Tweed, D.L., Blazer, D.G., George, L.K., 1999. Disability and depressive symptoms in the elderly: the effects of instrumental support and its subjective appraisal. Int. J. Aging Hum. Dev. 48 (2), 145–159.
- Wilby, F., 2011. Depression and social networks in community dwelling elders: a descriptive study. J. Gerontol. Soc. Work 54 (3), 246–259. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/01634372.2010.540074.
- Williams, K.L., Galliher, R.V., 2006. Predicting depression and self-esteem from social connectedness, support, and competence. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 25 (8), 855–874.
- Wolff, J.L., Agree, E.M., 2004. Depression among recipients of informal care: the effects of reciprocity, respect, and adequacy of support. J. Gerontol., Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 59 (3), S173–S180.
- Yang, Y., 2006. How does functional disability affect depressive symptoms in late life? The role of perceived social support and psychological resources. J. Health Soc. Behav. 47 (4), 355–372.
- Zavaleta, D., Samuel, K., Mills, C., 2014. Social Isolation: A Conceptual and Measurement Proposal. OPHI Working Papers, 67.
- Zhang, B., Li, J., 2011. Gender and marital status differences in depressive symptoms among elderly adults: the roles of family support and friend support. Aging Ment. Health 15 (7), 844–854. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2011.569481.

Paper II

# Social network typologies and mortality risk among older people in China, India, and Latin America: A 10/66 Dementia Research Group population-based cohort study

Ziggi Ivan Santini Ai Koyanagi Stefanos Tyrovolas Josep Maria Haro Katherine L. Fiori Richard Uwakwa Jotheeswaran A. Thiyagarajan Martin Webber Martin Prince

A. Matthew Prina

Social Science & Medicine 147 (2015) 134-143
### Social Science & Medicine 147 (2015) 134-143



# Social Science & Medicine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/socscimed

# Social network typologies and mortality risk among older people in China, India, and Latin America: A 10/66 Dementia Research Group population-based cohort study



Ziggi Ivan Santini <sup>a, \*</sup>, Ai Koyanagi <sup>a</sup>, Stefanos Tyrovolas <sup>a</sup>, Josep M. Haro <sup>a</sup>, Katherine L. Fiori <sup>b</sup>, Richard Uwakwa <sup>c</sup>, Jotheeswaran A. Thiyagarajan <sup>d, e</sup>, Martin Webber <sup>f</sup>, Martin Prince <sup>d</sup>, A. Matthew Prina <sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu, Universitat de Barcelona, Fundació Sant Joan de Déu, CIBERSAM, Dr Antoni Pujades, 42, 08830, Sant Boi de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>b</sup> Gordon F. Derner Institute of Advanced Psychological Studies, Adelphi University, Garden City, NY, USA

<sup>c</sup> Nnamdi Azikiwe University Teaching Hospital, Nnewi, Anambra State, Nigeria

<sup>d</sup> Centre for Global Mental Health, Health Service and Population Research, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, David

Goldberg Centre, London, SE5 8AF, UK

<sup>e</sup> Indian Institute of Public Health, Public Health Foundation of India, Hyderabad, India

<sup>f</sup> International Centre for Mental Health Social Research, Department of Social Policy and Social Work, University of York, UK

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 August 2015 Received in revised form 8 October 2015 Accepted 27 October 2015 Available online 4 November 2015

Keywords: Social support Social networks Interpersonal relations Survival rate Mortality Ageing Developing countries

# ABSTRACT

*Background:* Restricted social networks have been associated with higher mortality in several developed countries but there are no studies on this topic from developing countries. This gap exists despite potentially greater dependence on social networks for support and survival due to various barriers to health care and social protection schemes in this setting. Thus, this study aims to examine how social network type at baseline predicts all-cause mortality among older adults in six Latin American countries, China, and India.

*Methods:* Population-based surveys were conducted of all individuals aged 65+ years in eight countries (Cuba, Dominican Republic, Peru, Venezuela, Mexico, Puerto Rico, China, and India). Data on mortality were obtained at follow-up (mean 3.8 years after cohort inception). Follow-up data for 13,891 individuals were analysed. Social network types were assessed using Wenger's Practitioner Assessment of Network Type (PANT). Cox proportional hazard models were constructed to estimate the impact of social network type on mortality risk in each country, adjusting for socio-demographics, receipt of pension, disability, medical conditions, and depression. Meta-analysis was performed to obtain pooled estimates.

*Results:* The prevalence of private network type was 64.4% in urban China and 1.6% in rural China, while the prevalence of locally integrated type was 6.6% in urban China and 86.8% in rural China. The adjusted pooled estimates across (a) all countries and (b) Latin America showed that, compared to the locally integrated social network type, the locally self-contained [(b) HR = 1.24, 95%CI 1.01–1.51], family dependent [(a) HR = 1.13, 95%CI 1.01–1.26; (b) HR = 1.13, 95%CI 1.00–1.28], and private [(a) HR = 1.36, 95%CI 1.06–1.73; (b) HR = 1.45, 95%CI 1.20–1.75] social network types were significantly associated with higher mortality risk.

*Conclusion:* Survival time is significantly reduced in individuals embedded in restricted social networks (i.e. locally self-contained, family dependent, and private network types). Social care interventions may be enhanced by addressing the needs of those most at risk of neglect and deteriorating health. Health policy makers in developing countries may use this information to plan efficient use of limited resources by targeting those embedded in restricted social networks.

© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.061

0277-9536/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu, Fundació Sant Joan de Déu, CIBERSAM, Dr. Antoni Pujadas, 42, 08830, Sant Boi de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain. *E-mail address:* z.santini@pssjd.org (Z.I. Santini).

### 1. Introduction

Worldwide, the number of people aged 65 years and above will outnumber children under age five by 2016, implying a radical increase in the proportion of old to young (WHO, 2011). Demographic ageing is associated with an increase in the burden of morbidity. disability, and dependency, which in turn will increase the demand on health care services and social costs. This increase in demand may be particularly significant in developing countries, where population ageing is occurring at a faster pace than in developed countries. For example, in 2010, the global population of people aged 60 years and above residing in developing countries was 65%, and this figure is projected to increase to 80% by 2050 (Kinsella and Wan, 2009). Many developing countries do not have the industrial and socio-economic resources to support the increasing health and social care demands associated with an ageing population, and are typically characterised by significant infrastructural barriers to accessing existing social protection schemes (WHO, 2011).

The lack of social protection for older people in developing countries is increasingly becoming recognised as a significant but yet under-prioritised problem in health and human development agendas (Cho et al., 2012; Prince et al., 2008; UN, 2002; UNAIDS, 2010). This is in spite of evidence showing the importance of various socioeconomic factors and vulnerabilities in predicting mortality among older people in developing countries (Ferri et al., 2012). Social networks can be a source of financial, practical and emotional support, and hence represent a key component to social protection. The importance of social networks for health and wellbeing has been extensively demonstrated in high-income countries. In a recent meta-analysis of 20 population-based cohort studies, social network integration, was inversely associated with mortality [HR = 0.91, 95%CI](0.86; 0.97)] (Nyqvist et al., 2014). Another meta-analysis also involving studies mainly in high-income countries found that the effect size for the association of poor social relationships with mortality was comparable to that for excessive drinking, and smoking, and greater than that for obesity, and lack of exercise (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010). In the case of older people specifically, studies conducted in high-income countries have reported that maintaining social contacts in late life is associated with a reduced risk of psychological distress (Golden et al., 2009; Reich and Zautra, 1991), cognitive decline (Bassuk et al., 1999; Fratiglioni et al., 2000), functional decline (Stuck et al., 1999), disability (Avlund et al., 2004; Escobar-Bravo et al., 2012), institutionalization, and mortality (Steinbach, 1992). For the developing countries involved in the current study, being embedded in restricted social networks has been reported to be positively correlated with loneliness, depression, less happiness, poor health, disability, and need for care (Thiyagarajan et al., 2014). As yet, however, there are no studies specifically on social networks and its effect on mortality in developing country settings.

Using a large multi-country population-based sample, the aim of this study is to assess the association of social network type with all-cause mortality among older people living in India, China, and six Latin American countries. The countries participating in the 10/ 66 Dementia Research Group's population-based research program were not purposively selected, but rather represent those that chose to join the group in the late 1990s to conduct research into a topic of growing social and public health significance. These were all, at that time, or shortly to become, middle income countries, and are all undergoing particularly rapid population ageing and economic development, with attendant social change. Nevertheless, the countries and sites comprise considerable diversity in culture, sociodemographic and health characteristics. Correlations between social networks and health have been reported previously, at the baseline of these cohorts (Thiyagarajan et al., 2014). For these reasons, all countries with mortality outcomes recorded at followup were retained for this analysis. Based on the literature discussed, we hypothesise that more restricted network types will be associated with higher mortality. Harnessing information about how restricted social network types predict increased mortality risk is particularly important in the economic context of low and middle income countries, where resources are limited and people are more likely to depend on their social networks for support and survival. Understanding the association between social network structures and mortality may be relevant in regards to allocating limited resources or establishing public health interventions to improve population health and well-being in developing countries.

### 2. Methods

### 2.1. Study design, settings and sample

The baseline for this cohort study is defined by the 10/66 population-based prevalence surveys conducted of residents aged 65 years and above in geographically defined catchment area sites in the subset of eight countries (Cuba, Dominican Republic, Peru, Venezuela, Mexico, Puerto Rico, China, and India) where follow-up assessments of vital status were subsequently carried out. All of these eight countries are still classified as middle-income countries, except for Puerto Rico, which changed its status to high-income between the two surveys.

Details of study methodology and protocols have been described elsewhere (Ferri et al., 2012; Prince et al., 2007). In brief, baseline assessments were carried out between 2003 and 2006 with the exception of Puerto Rico (2007–2009). The 10/66 study questionnaires were translated from the original English into Spanish, Tamil, and Mandarin. The study sites consisted of urban and rural areas. Urban sites which represented the typical predominately lower income or mixed neighbourhoods were purposively selected and consisted of the following sites: Cuba (Havana and Matanzas), Dominican Republic (Santo Domingo), Venezuela (Caracas), Peru (Lima), Mexico (Mexico City), Puerto Rico (Bayamon), China (Xicheng, Beijing) and India (Chennai). Rural sites referred to areas remote from major population centres with agriculture and related trade as the main local industry and included the following: Peru (Cañete Province), Mexico (Morelos State) and China (Daxing, Beijing Province).

The original target sample size for each country was between 2000 and 3000 (see Table 1). The boundaries of each catchment area were precisely defined, and households mapped. Each household was then systematically door-knocked to identify all household members aged 65 years and over who were eligible to participate in the survey. A full assessment (lasting 2–3 h) was conducted for all eligible individuals if they or their kin agreed to participate in the survey. The assessment comprised a background sociodemographic, health and risk factor interview, a structured clinical mental state assessment, and a physical examination. For those with marked communication difficulties arising from dementia, severe mental illness, deafness or mutism, the background interview, which included the social network assessment, was administered to a key informant (Prince et al., 2007).

Each centre had a coordinator who supervised the interviewers. There were between four and ten interviewers for each site, usually non-specialist graduates (apart from Cuba and China where medical doctors were used) extensively trained for the interviews and the main diagnostic assessment. Previous experience was also gained during the dementia diagnostic pilot study. Several meetings for the principal investigators were also conducted before the start of fieldwork, and at regular intervals of six months during the project. A standardised operating procedure manual covering all aspects of the interviews and procedures was also available to all interviewers, who were supervised during the fieldwork until the quality of the

#### Table 1

Baseline characteristics by country among older adults in eight developing countries.

	Cuba		Dominican Republic		Peru Venezuela		uela	Mexico		Puerto Rico		China		India		
Baseline response rate (%)	94.0	_	95.0	_	82.3	_	80.0	_	85.0	_	93.0		84.2	_	98.0	
Cohort at baseline	2806		2009		1929		1931		2003		2002		2162		1004	
Vital status ascertained at follow-up	2628	93.7	1704	84.8	1748	90.6	1667	84.5	1844	92.0	1562	78.0	1991	92.1	747	74.4
Mean time of follow-up in years	4.12		4.36		3.06		4.16		2.91		4.13		4.62		2.93	
Person years	10,814		7437		5343		6942		5367		6447		9194		2206	
Deaths (%)	605	23.0	467	27.4	152	8.7	186	11.2	209	11.3	297	19.0	515	25.9	153	20.5
Age (years)																
65-74	1387	52.9	878	51.4	939	54.3	1147	67.8	1026	56.1	727	45.5	1221	62.0	594	68.8
75-84	942	35.9	596	34.9	594	34.2	438	25.9	647	35.4	673	42.1	616	31.3	214	24.8
85+	295	11.2	234	13.7	202	11.8	108	6.4	155	8.5	199	12.5	133	6.8	55	6.4
Gender																
Female	1695	64.5	1134	66.5	1057	60.8	1073	63.3	1170	64.0	1036	65.0	1136	57.6	505	58.9
Male	932	35.5	572	33.5	681	39.2	622	36.7	658	36.0	559	35.1	835	42.4	353	41.1
Marital status																
Not married	1461	55.7	1182	69.7	734	42.4	826	49.9	887	48.6	768	48.2	699	35.5	452	52.4
Married/cohabiting	1162	44.3	514	30.3	996	57.6	831	50.2	938	51.4	826	51.8	1272	64.5	411	47.6
Education																
None	95	3.62	326	19.3	139	8.07	135	8.1	474	25.9	108	6.8	730	37.0	321	37.2
Incomplete primary	606	23.1	871	51.5	243	14.1	364	21.9	769	42.1	301	18.9	254	12.9	225	26.1
Completed primary	864	32.9	313	18.5	623	36.2	846	50.9	329	18.0	338	21.2	497	25.2	173	20.1
Completed secondary	635	24.2	114	6.8	453	26.3	233	14.0	140	7.6	536	33.7	357	18.1	99	11.5
Completed tertiary	423	16.1	66	3.9	265	15.4	83	5	115	6.3	309	19.4	133	6.8	44	5.1
Assets [Mean (SD)] <sup>a</sup>	5.6	(1.0)	5.0	(1.4)	5.7	(1.1)	6.2	(1.0)	5.1	(1.7)	6.5	(0.9)	5.6	(1.1)	4.5	(1.6)
Any pension																
No	512	19.5	1172	68.6	628	36.1	699	41.2	925	50.6	739	46.2	993	50.4	680	78.7
Yes	2119	80.5	536	31.4	1110	63.9	996	58.8	903	49.4	860	53.8	978	49.6	184	21.3

Data are N and % unless otherwise stated.

<sup>a</sup> Number of assets ranged from 0 to 7 and corresponded to the total number of assets owned.

interview was deemed satisfactory. Random checks were also carried out during the project. Data were collected onto paper and then extracted, cleaned and processed in SPSS (version 15.0; SPSS, Inc., USA), or directly onto laptops (in Cuba) using computerised questionnaires driven by EpiData (version 2.0; EpiData Software, Denmark). Data were finally checked a number of times (three to four) in London after completion of the interviews (Prince et al., 2007).

Vital status was assessed in the second, incidence wave of the 10/66 survey, in which we sought to trace and re-interview all participants three to four years after the original baseline survey (see Table 1 for mean follow-up time at each site). We first called on their residence at baseline, revisiting on up to four occasions. If the participant had moved away, we sought information regarding their vital status and/or current residence through non-coresident friends or family members for whom information on names and addresses were recorded at baseline. Where a participant had died, we recorded the date of death in the course of a verbal autopsy interview with a suitable key informant.

Response and follow-up rates for all sites are presented in Table 1. In total, 15,901 older persons were interviewed at baseline, of whom 13,891 had vital status ascertained at follow-up. Ethical approval was obtained from local ethical committees and the King's College London Research Ethics Committee. A signed informed consent, or witnessed oral consent in case of illiteracy, or next of kin written agreement in case of incapacity, was obtained from all participants.

### 2.2. Baseline measures

### 2.2.1. Social network type

Various ways to measure social networks exist, such as size, density, or contact frequency (Smith and Christakis, 2008). However, a more informative assessment using social network typologies can help to identify separate categories of social network composition, thereby making it possible to capture distinct social environments that may be harmful or beneficial to health. In this study, we used the Practitioner Assessment of Network Type (PANT) to identify five distinct social network types described by Wenger (1991, 1996, 1997); Wenger et al. (2007). The construct validity of Wenger's typology has been supported by the findings of an ecological study in New Zealand (Stephens et al., 2011), and more recently in the countries included in the 10/66 survey (Thiyagarajan et al., 2014). The algorithm used in this study to identify Wenger's (1989, 1991, 1996) five network types was based on the participants' responses to eight questions pertaining to the following:

- 1) Distance to nearest relative (not spouse). Possible responses were 0 (no relatives); 1 (within 1 mile); (2) 1–5 miles); 3 (6–15 miles); 4 (16–50 miles); 5 (50 + miles).
- Distance to nearest child. Possible responses were 0 (no children); 1 (within 1 mile); (2) 1–5 miles); 3 (6–15 miles); 4 (16–50 miles); 5 (50 + miles).
- 3) Distance to nearest sibling. Possible responses were 0 (no sisters or brothers); 1 (within 1 mile); (2) 1–5 miles); 3 (6–15 miles); 4 (16–50 miles); 5 (50 + miles).
- 4) Contact frequency with children or other relatives. Possible responses were 0 (never/no children or relatives); 1 (daily); 2 (2–3 times per week); 3 (at least weekly); 4 (at least monthly); 5 (less often).
- 5) Contact frequency with friends in the community/neighbourhood. Possible responses were 0 (never/no friends); 1 (daily); 2 (2–3 times per week); 3 (at least weekly); 4 (at least monthly); 5 (less often).
- 6) Contact frequency with neighbours. Possible responses were
  0 (no contact with neighbours); 1 (daily); 2 (2–3 times per week); 3 (at least weekly); 4 (at least monthly); 5 (less often).
- 7) Religious involvement. Possible responses were 0 (none); 1 (regularly); 2 (occasionally).
- 8) Involvement in community or social groups. Possible responses were 0 (none); 1 (regularly); 2 (occasionally).

The exact algorithm used to construct the variable has been described in detail in Wenger (1991). Wenger's network typology is

described as follows:

- 1. The locally integrated network type includes close involvement with local family members, friends, neighbours, and the community. This type of network is typically larger than other types and provides the optimal level of social support.
- 2. The locally self-contained network type involves a household-focused lifestyle with arm's-length relationships with kin, and little community activity, though the person may rely considerably on neighbours for support. Community involvement, if any, tends to be very low.
- 3. The wider community-focused network type refers to a lack of local family members, but involves extensive contact with friends and neighbours, and with relatives such as adult children who live some distance away. Participants with this type of network are generally involved in community voluntary organizations.
- 4. The family dependent network type is characterised by active involvement with close local family members, but few peripheral friends and little contact with neighbours. This network is often based on a shared household with adult children or siblings, or very near separate households.
- 5. The private network type can be described as an absence of local family and kin, few nearby local friends and low levels of community contact or involvement.

The analysis utilised social network type as a categorical variable, where the locally integrated type was contrasted to each other network type (1 = locally integrated, 2 = locally self-contained, 3 = wider community focused, 4 = family dependent, 5 = private).

### 2.2.2. Socio-demographic characteristics

Socio-demographic characteristics included age, sex, marital status, education, wealth (number of assets), and pension. Education was classified as none, incomplete primary, completed primary, completed secondary, and completed tertiary. A variable for household assets was generated by summing up the number of household assets owned (i.e. car, television, refrigerator, telephone, mains electricity, mains water, plumbed toilet). This ranged from 0 to 7. Receipt of any occupational or government pension was a dichotomous variable.

### 2.2.3. Physical health status, disability, dementia, and depression

Physical health status was assessed through self-report of a list of 11 commonly occurring physical impairments, and was grouped into none, one to two, and three or more. Disability was measured using the psychometrically validated 12-item World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 (WHODAS 2.0) (WHO, 2001). Higher scores (on a 0–100 scale) indicate greater disability. Dementia was assessed using the 10/66 Dementia Research Group criteria (Prince et al., 2003). Depression was assessed with the cross-culturally validated EURO-D scale, derived from the Geriatric Mental State examination (Castro-Costa et al., 2007; Guerra et al., 2015; Guerra et al., 2009; Prince et al., 1999). The total score ranges from 0 to 12, with a score of either four and above or five and above (depending on the country) representing the presence of probable depression. This has been identified the optimal cut-point for the EURO-D against the reference criterion of ICD-10 depressive episode specifically regarding the countries included in the 10/66 study (Guerra et al., 2015). Physical health, disability, dementia, and depression were considered as potential confounders as they may lead to higher mortality among older adults (Dewey and Saz, 2001; Fried et al., 1998; Schulz et al., 2000), and because they are also known to be related to social relationships (Avlund et al., 2004; Escobar-Bravo et al., 2012; Kuiper et al., 2015; Santini et al., 2015;

Uchino, 2006, 2009). We sought to control for these factors by entering them into the models as covariates. Alcohol consumption was also considered a potential confounder but was later omitted because it did not affect the estimates and did not improve the model fit.

### 2.3. Statistical analysis

All analyses were conducted using STATA 13.1. For each country, univariate and multivariate Cox proportional hazard models were constructed to estimate the mortality risk as a function of social network types. The start of the risk period was the time of the first survey. Participants were censored either at the date of death, or the date of follow up for those who were traced successfully. There were 1961 participants for whom vital status could not be determined at follow-up. Participants for whom vital status could not be determined at follow-up were not included in the survival analysis. The number (%) of those not traced at follow-up by social network type were: family dependent, 410 (11.6%); locally integrated 906 (10.5%); locally self-contained 215 (18.6%); wider community focused, 164 (19.0%), private 264 (16.3%). The models employed Wenger's 5-level social network type variable (i.e. each type contrasted to locally integrated type) as the main exposure variable of interest.

The multivariate analyses adjusted for age, gender, marital status, education, number of assets, receipt of pension, disability, number of physical impairments, and depression. All covariates were entered as categorical variables, apart from household assets and education, which were entered as categorical variables. Information on the covariates used for adjustment was obtained from the baseline survey. All regression analyses were based on the sample with no missing data. Only <2% of the data were missing for the covariates in the model. For all Cox proportional hazard models, the proportional hazards assumption was tested using the Schoenfeld residuals. A pooled estimate of the effects of network type on mortality was calculated by taking the estimates of each country and combining them into a fixed-effect meta-analysis. The analysis included one pooled analysis across all countries, and one pooled analysis of Latin American countries. The Cochrane Q heterogeneity and Higgin's I<sup>2</sup> were calculated to estimate the degree of heterogeneity. A heterogeneity level of less than 40% was considered to be negligible and 40-60% was considered to indicate moderate heterogeneity (Higgins and Thompson, 2002). Kaplan–Meier cumulative mortality curves were drawn to display the non-adjusted failure probability as a function of social network type using the pooled sample. Hazard ratios (HR) and their 95% confidence intervals (CIs) are reported.

### 3. Results

Table 1 presents the baseline characteristics of the sample in each country, and Fig. 1 shows the prevalence of the five different social network types across all sites. Participants were generally younger in Venezuela, China and India, while high proportions of the oldest age group were observed in Cuba, Dominican Republic, Peru, and Puerto Rico. Across all sites, urban China had the far lowest prevalence of locally integrated network type (6.6%), while rural China had the highest across all sites (86.8%). The prevalence of this network type was slightly less prevalent in Mexico and India as compared to the remaining sites. Overall, the locally integrated network type was generally the most prevalent and represented around 50% of network types across all sites apart from urban China. The prevalence of private network type was generally lower than the prevalence of other types, except in the case of urban China where this network type was about two thirds (64.4%).



**Fig. 1.** Crude prevalence of social network type in eight developing countries. Bars denote 95% confidence intervals. The locally integrated support network includes close relationships with local family, friends and neighbours. The family dependent support network is focused on close family ties, few neighbours and peripheral friends. The locally self-contained support network typically has arms-length relationships or infrequent contact with at least one relative but the primary reliance is on neighbours. The wider community-focused support network is typified by an absence of nearby relatives but active relationships with distant relatives, usually children, and a high salience of friends. The private restricted support network is associated with an absence of local kin, few nearby friends and low levels of community contacts or involvement.

Locally self-contained type was lowest in rural China and highest in urban China. The wider community-focused network type was more prevalent in Latin American countries as compared to the Asian sites. The family dependent network type had the lowest prevalence in both Chinese sites, while the highest were observed in Mexico. Overall, the family dependent type was the second most common network type in almost all sites.

Overall, vital status was ascertained for 13,891 individuals (87.7% of the cohort at baseline). Deaths were recorded for 2584 participants (18.6% of those for whom vital status was ascertained) during the 53,750 person years of follow-up. Fig. 2 presents the crude Kaplan–Meier failure curve by baseline social network type. The family dependent and the private social network types had the highest probability of mortality. Table 2 presents the association between social network type and mortality. In terms of the country-wise adjusted analyses, the locally self-contained social network type was significantly associated with mortality in Venezuela (HR = 1.69, 95%CI 1.07-2.68), while the private social network type significantly predicted mortality in Cuba (HR = 1.56, 95%CI 1.18–2.07), Peru (HR = 2.91, 95%CI 1.21–6.97), and Mexico (HR = 2.08, 95%CI 1.10-3.93). In the adjusted analysis across all countries, family dependent, and private social network types were significantly associated with 1.13 (95%CI [1.01–1.26],  $I^2 = 0.0\%$ ) and 1.36 (95%CI [1.06–1.73],  $I^2 = 55.3\%$ ) times higher mortality risks respectively. In the adjusted pooled analysis for Latin America only, the corresponding figures for each network type were: locally selfcontained (HR = 1.24, 95%CI 1.01–1.51,  $I^2 = 15.4\%$ ), family dependent (HR = 1.13, 95%CI 1.001–1.28,  $I^2 = 0.0\%$ ), and private  $(HR = 1.45, 95\%CI 1.20-1.75, I^2 = 44.5\%)$ . Because of the great difference in social networks between urban and rural China (Fig. 1),

we carried out a sensitivity analysis by re-running the Cox models across the two different centres. The direction of associations between social networks in urban China was different compared to



**Fig. 2.** Crude mortality risk by social network type across eight developing countries. The locally integrated support network includes close relationships with local family, friends and neighbours. The family dependent support network is focused on close family ties, few neighbours and peripheral friends. The locally self-contained support network typically has arms-length relationships or infrequent contact with at least one relative but the primary reliance is on neighbours. The wider community-focused support network is typified by an absence of nearby relatives but active relationships with distant relatives, usually children, and a high salience of friends. The private restricted support network is associated with an absence of local kin, few nearby friends and low levels of community contacts or involvement.

### Table 2

Country-wise unadjusted and adjusted hazard ratios and pooled estimates of the effect of social network type (contrasted to the locally integrated type) on all-cause-mortality among older adults in eight developing countries.<sup>a</sup>

Country	Locally self-contained			Wide	Wider community-focused			ly dependent		Private		
	HR	95%CI		HR	95%CI		HR	95%CI		HR	95%CI	
Unadjusted model												
Cuba	1.45	1.06 - 1.98		0.63	0.34-1.17		1.85	1.53-2.25		2.24	1.69 - 2.97	
Dominican Republic	1.29	0.86-1.95		1.42	1.06 - 1.91		1.21	0.96-1.53		1.99	1.40-2.81	
Peru	2.65	1.55-4.53		0.59	0.21-1.61		2.07	1.48 - 2.89		4.57	2.49-8.38	
Venezuela	2.22	1.42-3.47		1.03	0.60 - 1.76		1.83	1.27 - 2.62		2.69	1.62 - 4.46	
Mexico	1.57	0.80-3.07		1.30	0.62 - 2.72		1.85	1.37-2.48		3.05	1.61 - 5.80	
Puerto Rico	1.70	1.13-2.56		1.19	0.75 - 1.89		2.51	1.90-3.30		2.43	1.63-3.64	
China	0.78	0.55 - 1.11		NA <sup>c</sup>	NA <sup>c</sup>		1.76	1.37-2.27		0.93	0.75-1.15	
India	0.98	0.42-2.26		0.85	0.27-2.67		1.79	1.25-2.56		1.49	0.98-2.27	
Pooled estimate (all countries) <sup>b</sup>	1.42	1.22-1.65	$l^2 = 68.2\%$	1.15	0.94-1.40	$I^2 = 23.3\%$	1.79	1.62-1.96	$l^2 = 60.0\%$	1.67	1.48-1.90	$I^2 = 87.3\%$
Pooled estimate (Latin-America only)	1.67	1.40-1.99	$l^2 = 26.1\%$	1.16	0.95-1.42	$I^2 = 33.7\%$	1.79	1.61-1.99	$I^2 = 71.4\%$	2.43	2.06-2.87	$I^2 = 21.7\%$
Adjusted model <sup>d</sup>												
Cuba	1.12	0.82 - 1.52		0.68	0.36-1.26		1.00	0.79-1.26		1.56	1.18 - 2.07	
Dominican Republic	0.87	0.57-1.30		1.30	0.96-1.75		1.06	0.82-1.36		1.04	0.68 - 1.60	
Peru	1.44	0.79 - 2.64		0.63	0.23-1.71		1.23	0.84-1.81		2.91	1.21-6.97	
Venezuela	1.69	1.07 - 2.68		0.67	0.37-1.21		1.24	0.84-1.85		1.82	0.99-3.32	
Mexico	1.64	0.83-3.26		1.19	0.57 - 2.70		1.31	0.95-1.80		2.08	1.10-3.93	
Puerto Rico	1.31	0.82-2.09		1.12	0.70 - 1.78		1.19	0.84-1.70		0.98	0.59 - 1.65	
China	0.85	0.55-1.33		NA <sup>c</sup>	NA <sup>c</sup>		0.96	0.69-1.32		0.91	0.67 - 1.24	
India	1.07	0.47-2.45		0.82	0.25-2.67		1.44	0.96-2.14		1.42	0.92-2.21	
Pooled estimate (all countries) <sup>b</sup>	1.16	0.98-1.36	$I^2 = 14.4\%$	1.03	0.85-1.26	$I^2 = 21.4\%$	1.13	1.01-1.26	$I^2 = 0.0\%$	1.36	1.06-1.73	$I^2 = 55.3\%$
Pooled estimate (Latin-America only)	1.24	1.01-1.51	$I^2 = 15.4\%$	1.04	0.85-1.28	$I^2 = 33.2\%$	1.13	1.001-1.28	$I^2 = 0.0\%$	1.45	1.20-1.75	$I^2 = 44.5\%$

Results in bold are statistically significant (p < 0.05). Heterogeneity tests were performed with Higgin's I<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>a</sup> Each network type is contrasted to the locally integrated type. The locally integrated support network includes close relationships with local family, friends and neighbours. The locally self-contained support network typically has arms-length relationships or infrequent contact with at least one relative but the primary reliance is on neighbours. The wider community-focused support network is typified by an absence of nearby relatives but active relationships with distant relatives, usually children, and a high salience of friends. The family dependent support network is focused on close family ties, few neighbours and peripheral friends. The private restricted support network is associated with an absence of local kin, few nearby friends and low levels of community contacts or involvement.

<sup>b</sup> Pooled estimates were obtained by meta-analysis with fixed effects.

<sup>c</sup> Estimates could not be obtained because there were no deaths in this category for China.

<sup>d</sup> The multivariate analysis adjusted for age, gender, marital status, education, number of assets, receipt of pension, disability, number of physical impairments, depression, dementia.

the other centres, but this was not significant, and the metaanalyses pooled estimates remained unaffected. The Schoenfeld residuals confirmed that there were no appreciable violations in the proportional hazard assumption for any of the Cox proportional hazard models.

### 4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated the association of baseline social network type with all-cause mortality among older adults in urban and rural catchment areas in Latin America, China and India. Overall, our findings demonstrate that having a social network with few friends or community contacts is associated with higher mortality, as compared to those embedded in a more integrated social network. In the pooled analyses, the locally self-contained, family dependent, and private social network types were associated with significantly increased risk of mortality. After adjusting for sociodemographic variables and health status, the associations were considerably attenuated but those for family dependent and private networks remained statistically significant. When the analysis was restricted to Latin America, the effects were mostly stronger and less heterogeneous, given the generally null associations in China. Thus, lack of integration in one's social networks may be detrimental to health, particularly when the network is restricted to family, but not to friends and neighbours.

### 4.1. Strength and limitations

The strengths of this study include the use of a large,

population-based sample with over 50,000 person-years of followup. Further, to our knowledge, this is the first multi-country study using standardized questionnaires to assess the direct impact of social networks on mortality risk across a wide range of cultures in developing countries. However, some limitations deserve mentioning. First, our findings may not be generalized beyond the particular catchment areas sites where the study was carried out, and should not be taken to refer to the respective countries as a whole, or urban or rural settings in general within them. Second, social networks were assessed at baseline in late life, with no information regarding either exposures earlier in the life course, or subsequent changes in social networks. These may have been affected by the onset of disability or care dependence, which may have limited access to friends outside of the household, and increased dependence upon family. Moreover, we acknowledge a potential risk of overadjustment, since impaired health, disability, and needs for care are likely to be determinants of 'family dependent' network types, and may mediate the association between other restricted network types and mortality. There were some differences in the distributions of social network types at baseline between those who were and were not part of the second survey. Thus, some level of bias may have been introduced due to these differences. Furthermore, there were some potential confounders such as personality type (Bogg and Roberts, 2004; Weiss and Costa, 2005) that we could not adjust for due to lack of data. Next, arealevel contextual variables such as social capital, or neighbourhood crime and violence (as indicators of social disintegration) may be important determinants of mortality risk independent of individual social network exposures (Wilkinson et al., 1998), but our catchment area study design precluded the examination of these effects due to restricted area-level variance. Finally, the Wenger's social network construct and accompanying assessment tool, originally developed as having meaning, relevance and predictive validity for older people living in North Wales (Wenger, 1991), has not been formally validated in our study setting, although there is evidence at least to support its construct validity (Thiyagarajan et al., 2014). Other studies have highlighted some points of divergence between network typologies described in high income countries (Doubova Dubova et al., 2010).

### 4.2. Contextualization of findings

We did not find the wider-community focused network type to be associated with increased risk of mortality. This is consistent with a body of research that attests to the salience of friendships and community relationships, rather than family relations, to mental health and wellbeing (Adams and Blieszner, 1995; Chao, 2011), self-reported health (DuPertuis et al., 2001) and survival (Fiori et al., 2006). On the other hand, the family dependent network type carried significant risk. This seems to be in accordance with previous research, and additional factors may exacerbate the risk for this network type. Relationships in which family members are obliged to provide care for an older person can result in caregiver strain, poor relationship quality and patterns of caregiving behaviours that are directly harmful to the health and wellbeing of the older person receiving care (Beach et al., 2005; Christie et al., 2009; Krause and Rook, 2003).

Older people with a private social network type, characterised by having a very restricted network and being socially isolated, were at considerably high risk of mortality. To a lesser degree, this was also the case for the locally self-contained social network type characterised by a focus on household and immediate neighbours with little wider community engagement. Although people with the family dependent network type are at higher risk of mortality, it appears that having a family network is still better than having a very small network or no network at all (consistent with previous research; Fiori et al., 2008). One reason for this finding could be that family support still may serve to promote certain fundamental and preventive behaviours (better diet, health screening, physical activity, etc.). Other research has documented the negative impact of social isolation on morbidity and mortality (Cacioppo and Cacioppo, 2014; Cerhan and Wallace, 1997; Luo et al., 2012; Luo and Waite, 2014; Steptoe et al., 2013). Social isolation means that people will effectively be restricted in terms of fostering relationships with peers, participating in religious services, and being actively involved in the community. According to the broader social networks and social support literature, it is the lack of social integration that negatively influences health (Berkman and Syme, 1979: Krause et al., 1990).

As discussed previously, people in countries with less welldeveloped social welfare systems may be more reliant than those in high-income countries on informal social networks for social protection, and this may have implications for mortality. Comparing our results with those conducted in high income countries, we find that the risk of mortality associated with the most restricted network type (as compared to the most integrated type) is relatively stronger in our sample (HR = 1.45 for Latin America and HR = 1.36 across all countries) as compared to those results obtained among older adults in the USA (HR = 1.19) (Fiori et al., 2008), (HR = 1.20) (Keller et al., 2003) and among older adults in Israel (HR = 1.32) (Litwin and Shiovitz-Ezra, 2006) (for purposes of comparison, we reversed the hazard ratios reported in these papers because their focus was on protective effects rather than risk). The aforementioned studies did not use the exact same social network typology and did not include as many covariates as our study, with some studies omitting important confounders such as level of disability or number of medical conditions. Therefore, it is possible that the differences observed may not be directly comparable. However, it does serve to at least indicate that social networks may be of particular importance to the health and longevity of older adults in settings where their social protection is not assured.

### 4.3. Mechanisms, and implications for policy and practices

Social networks have been linked to health and mortality in various ways, including physiological, behavioural, and psychological pathways (Smith and Christakis, 2008; Uchino, 2006, 2009). Physiological pathways may involve metabolic function (Yang et al., 2013) or cardiovascular, neuroendocrine, and immune function (Uchino, 2006). Behavioural pathways to mortality may include suicide (Tsai et al., 2014). Finally, psychological pathways to mortality may involve mental disorders such as depression, which is particularly relevant in the context of perceived social isolation or loneliness (Luo et al., 2012). In order to assess the influence of depression on the association between social networks and mortality, we compared the pooled estimates obtained from the model with and without depression but an appreciable change in the estimates for social networks was not observed, suggesting that depression may not be a significant mediator of this association at least in our study setting.

The relationship between social networks and mortality is probably best understood from a life course perspective. acknowledging that social networks both influence and are influenced by life transitions and changes in health status (Melchior et al., 2003). First, there is evidence that social networks increase in size in early life and then decrease over time as individuals focus selectively on a core of positive long-term relationships (English and Carstensen, 2014). There is likely to be some continuity over time in the ability and propensity of an individual to form and maintain positive relationships. Marriage (Kalmijn, 2003; Mildardo, 1987; Parks et al., 1983), reproduction (Bost et al., 2002) and retirement (van Tilburg, 1992, 2003) are key life course events with the potential transiently to impact upon social networks and relationships. For those that survive into older age, there is, naturally, a loss of some of these long-term core relationships through bereavement (Ha, 2008; Utz et al., 2002). Being embedded in more integrated and diverse network types thus appear to be beneficial for health in various ways such as through psychological and material resources, instrumental and informational support, and social identification with or belongingness to resourceful community groups or social class (Cohen, 2004; Smith and Christakis, 2008).

While there is evidence that social networks and relationships influence mortality across the life course, the critical period or periods for intervention have not been clearly established. Social isolation has been shown to be a predictor of mortality similar to that of well-documented clinical risk factors in terms of associated risk (Pantell et al., 2013). However, although most other factors are generally non-modifiable, this is not the case for social integration. It thus becomes all the more relevant to consider it as an important non-pharmacological approach for public health planning and gerontological interventions to promote the health and wellbeing of the elderly population. Further, the trend of a decline in the size of social networks as people age means that social network integration may be assessed before the transition into old adulthood. Hence, individuals embedded in restricted networks could be identified before serious consequences for health take place.

Many different forms of social networks interventions exist, and are typically designed to 1) enhance existing network linkages (Heaney, 1991; Sandler et al., 1992; Wing and Jeffery, 1999), 2) develop new network linkages (Helgeson and Gottlieb, 2000), 3) enhance networks through the use of indigenous natural helpers and community health workers (Earp et al., 1997; Kegler and Malcoe, 2004; Krieger et al., 2005), or 4) enhance networks through community capacity building and problem solving (Boutilier et al., 2000; Minkler, 2001). For a detailed review, see Heaney and Israel (2008). In terms of preventing loneliness and promoting social integration among older adults, a literature review assessing social network interventions identified educational and social activity group interventions to be effective, whereas the effectiveness of home visiting and befriending schemes remained unclear (Cattan et al., 2005). In terms of possibilities for clinical practice interventions, Wenger's social network typology has been used as a practical tool in England and Wales as an integral part of gerontological social work practice, reflecting differing risk profiles for mental disorder and differing implications for health care utilization and transition to institutional care. This has also resulted in greater confidence among practitioners, increased understanding of the situations and needs of older people, and more appropriate tailoring of interventions (Wenger and Tucker, 2002).

Our results demonstrate that family dependent and private social network types were associated with mortality risk. The intervention required among older adults embedded in these types of networks would thus be to diversify the network member structure, particularly by incorporating friends and facilitating contact with neighbours and the community. Health and social care practitioners and community organisations can reinforce such networks by promoting social activity group interventions, or a broader community level programme designed specifically to facilitate social interaction. Another intervention perhaps relevant particularly to people embedded in the family dependent network type would be supporting the family caregivers to prevent possible stress or strain that could undermine the quality of the informal care provided and further potentially facilitate harmful caregiver behaviours (Cutrona and Cole, 2000). Enhancing and diversifying networks would not only add new social ties and interpersonal contact to the elderly client, but would also serve to provide respite for the family caregivers.

Future studies may make a more informative assessment of mortality risk by social network type if they also include measures of relationship quality (i.e. positive and negative interactions) (Schuster et al., 1990) or, in the case of informal care relationships, measures of potentially harmful caregiving behaviours (Williamson and Shaffer, 2001) and exemplary care (Dooley et al., 2007). Including such measures could provide more insight into the dynamics involved in the link between social network types and mortality. Finally, a thorough assessment of differences in the impact of social network types on mortality between developed and developing country settings is needed.

### 5. Conclusion

Our findings present evidence that more restricted networks are related to higher mortality. Specifically, the locally self-contained, the family dependent and the private social network types are associated with considerable risk among older adults in developing countries. Individuals embedded in such restricted social network types in a resource-limited context may suffer serious consequences. This study has demonstrated that Wenger's social network typology may be used as an effective tool to identify older adults who lack the social protection necessary to meet future needs of care. This could inform the development or enhancement of social care interventions in order to address the needs of those most at risk of neglect and deteriorating health. Health policy makers may use this information to plan more efficient use of limited care resources to improve health outcomes by targeting those embedded in restricted social networks. Initiatives could include for example educational and social activity group interventions for such individuals, preferably applied before the transition into older adulthood. Geriatric practitioners may also benefit from addressing older adults' level of social network integration in their assessment of patients.

### Acknowledgements

This is a secondary analysis of data collected by the 10/66 Dementia Research Group (www.alz.co.uk/1066). The 10/66 DRG is led by Martin Prince and co-ordinated by Cleusa Ferri from Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London. The other principal investigators, responsible for research governance in each site are Iuan Llibre Rodriguez (Cuba). Daisy Acosta (Dominican Republic). Mariella Guerra (Peru), Aquiles Salas (Venezuela), Ana Luisa Sosa (Mexico), KS Jacob (Vellore, India), Joseph D Williams (Chennai, India) and Yueqin Huang (China). The 10/66 Dementia Research Group's Research has been funded by the Wellcome Trust Health Consequences of Population Change Programme (GR066133 -Prevalence phase in Cuba and Brazil; GR08002 - Incidence phase in Peru, Mexico, Argentina, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Venezuela and China), the World Health Organisation (India, Dominican Republic and China), the US Alzheimer's Association (IIRG - 04 - 1286 -Peru, Mexico and Argentina), and FONACIT/CDCH/UCV (Venezuela). The Rockefeller Foundation supported a dissemination meeting at their Bellagio Centre. Alzheimer's Disease International has provided support for networking and infrastructure.

The research leading to these results has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007 - 2013 under REA grant agreement n° 316795.

Ai Koyanagi's work was supported by the Miguel Servet contract financed by the CP13/00150 project, integrated into the National R + D + I and funded by the ISCIII – General Branch Evaluation and Promotion of Health Research – and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).

Stefanos Tyrovolas' work was funded through a scholarship from the Foundation for Education and European Culture (IPEP).

Matthew Prina was supported by the MRC (MR/K021907/1).

### References

- Adams, R.G., Blieszner, R., 1995. Aging well with friends and family. Am. Behav. Sci. 39, 209–224.
- Avlund, K., Lund, R., Holstein, B.E., Due, P., 2004. Social relations as determinant of onset of disability in aging. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 38 (1), 85–99.
- Bassuk, S.S., Glass, T.A., Berkman, L.F., 1999. Social disengagement and incident cognitive decline in community-dwelling elderly persons. Ann. Intern. Med. 131 (3), 165–173.
- Beach, S.R., Schulz, R., Williamson, G.M., Miller, L.S., Weiner, M.F., Lance, C.E., 2005. Risk factors for potentially harmful informal caregiver behavior. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53 (2), 255–261. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53111.x.
- Berkman, L.F., Syme, S.L., 1979. Social networks, host resistance, and mortality: a nine-year follow-up study of Alameda County residents. Am. J. Epidemiol. 109 (2), 186–204.
- Bogg, T., Roberts, B.W., 2004. Conscientiousness and health-related behaviors: a meta-analysis of the leading behavioral contributors to mortality. Psychol. Bull. 130 (6), 887–919. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.6.887.
- Bost, K.K., Cox, M.J., Burchinal, M.R., Payne, C., 2002. Structural and supportive changes in couples' family and friendship networks across the transition to parenthood. J. Marriage Fam. 64 (2), 517–531.
- Boutilier, M., Cleverly, S., Labonte, R., 2000. Community as a setting for health promotion. In: Poland, B.D., Green, L.W., Rootman, I. (Eds.), Settings for Health Promotion: Linking Theory and Practice. Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Cacioppo, J.T., Cacioppo, S., 2014. Social relationships and health: the toxic effects of perceived social isolation. Soc. Personal. Psychol. Compass 8 (2), 58–72. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12087.
- Castro-Costa, E., Dewey, M., Stewart, R., Banerjee, S., Huppert, F., Mendonca-Lima, C.,

..., Prince, M., 2007. Prevalence of depressive symptoms and syndromes in later life in ten European countries: the SHARE study. Br. J. Psychiatry 191, 393–401. http://dx.doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.036772.

- Cattan, M., White, M., Bond, J., Learmouth, A., 2005. Preventing social isolation and loneliness among older people: a systematic review of health promotion interventions. Aging Soc. 25 (1), 41–67.
- Cerhan, J.R., Wallace, R.B., 1997. Change in social ties and subsequent mortality in rural elders. Epidemiology 8 (5), 475–481.
- Chao, S.F., 2011. Assessing social support and depressive symptoms in older Chinese adults: a longitudinal perspective. Aging Ment. Health 15 (6), 765–774. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2011.562182.
- Cho, Y., Margolis, D., Newhouse, D., Robalino, D., 2012. Labor markets in low- and middle-income countries: trends and implications for social protection and labor policies. Soc. Prot. Labor 1207.
- Christie, J., Smith, G.R., Williamson, G.M., Lance, C.E., Shovali, T.E., Silva, L.C., 2009. Quality of informal care is multidimensional. Rehabil. Psychol. 54 (2), 173–181. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0015705.
- Cohen, S., 2004. Social relationships and health. Am. Psychol. 59 (8), 676–684.
- Cutrona, C.E., Cole, V., 2000. Optimizing support in the natural network. In: Cohen, S., Underwood, L.G., Gottlieb, B.H. (Eds.), Social Support Measurement and Intervention: A Guide for Health and Social Scientists. Oxford University Press, New York, NY, pp. 278–308.
- Dewey, M.E., Saz, P., 2001. Dementia, cognitive impairment and mortality in persons aged 65 and over living in the community: a systematic review of the literature. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 16 (8), 751–761.
- Dooley, W.K., Shaffer, D.R., Lance, C.E., Williamson, G.M., 2007. Informal care can be better than adequate: development and evaluation of the exemplary care Scale. Rehabil. Psychol. 52, 359–369.
- Doubova Dubova, S.V., Perez-Cuevas, R., Espinosa-Alarcon, P., Flores-Hernandez, S., 2010. Social network types and functional dependency in older adults in Mexico. BMC Public Health 10, 104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-104.
- DuPertuis, L.L., Aldwin, C.M., Bosse, R., 2001. Does the source of support matter for different health outcomes? findings from the normative aging Study. J. Aging Health 13 (4), 494–510.
- Earp, J.A., Viadro, C.I., Vincus, A.A., Altpeter, M., Flax, V., Mayne, L., Eng, E., 1997. Lay health advisors: a strategy for getting the word out about breast cancer. Health Educ. Behav. 24 (4), 432–451.
- English, T., Carstensen, L.L., 2014. Selective narrowing of social networks across adulthood is associated with improved emotional experience in daily life. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 38 (2), 195–202. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0165025413515404.
- Escobar-Bravo, M.A., Puga-Gonzalez, D., Martin-Baranera, M., 2012. Protective effects of social networks on disability among older adults in Spain. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 54 (1), 109–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2011.01.008.
- Ferri, C.P., Acosta, D., Guerra, M., Huang, Y., Llibre-Rodriguez, J.J., Salas, A., ..., Prince, M.J., 2012. Socioeconomic factors and all cause and cause-specific mortality among older people in Latin America, India, and China: a population-based cohort study. PLoS Med. 9 (2), e1001179. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001179.
- Fiori, K.L., Antonucci, T.C., Akiyama, H., 2008. Profiles of social relations among older adults: a cross-cultural approach. Ageing Soc. 28, 203–231.
- Fiori, K.L., Antonucci, T.C., Cortina, K.S., 2006. Social network typologies and mental health among older adults. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 61 (1), P25–P32.
- Fratiglioni, L., Wang, H.X., Ericsson, K., Maytan, M., Winblad, B., 2000. Influence of social network on occurrence of dementia: a community-based longitudinal study. Lancet 355 (9212), 1315–1319. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(00) 02113-9.
- Fried, L.P., Kronmal, R.A., Newman, A.B., Bild, D.E., Mittelmark, M.B., Polak, J.F., ..., Gardin, J.M., 1998. Risk factors for 5-year mortality in older adults: the cardiovascular health Study. JAMA 279 (8), 585–592.
- Golden, J., Conroy, R.M., Bruce, I., Denihan, A., Greene, E., Kirby, M., Lawlor, B.A., 2009. Loneliness, social support networks, mood and wellbeing in communitydwelling elderly. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 24 (7), 694–700. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/gps.2181.
- Guerra, M., Ferri, C., Llibre, J., Prina, A., Prince, M., 2015. Psychometric properties of EURO-D, a geriatric depression scale: a cross-cultural validation study. BMC Psychiatry 15 (1), 12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12888-015-0390-4.
- Guerra, M., Ferri, C.P., Sosa, A.L., Salas, A., Gaona, C., Gonzales, V., ..., Prince, M., 2009. Late-life depression in Peru, Mexico and Venezuela: the 10/66 population-based study. Br. J. Psychiatry 195 (6), 510–515. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.064055.
- Ha, J., 2008. Changes in support from confidants, children, and friends following widowhood, J. Marriage Fam. 70, 306–318.
- Heaney, C.A., 1991. Enhancing social support at the workplace: assessing the effects of the caregiver support program. Health Educ. Q. 18 (4), 477–494.
- Heaney, C.A., Israel, B.A., 2008. Social networks and social support. In: Glanz, K., Rimer, B.K., Viswanath, K. (Eds.), Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA.
- Helgeson, V.S., Gottlieb, B.H., 2000. Support groups. In: Cohen, S., Underwood, L.G., Gottlieb, B.H. (Eds.), Social Support Measurement and Intervention. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Higgins, J.P., Thompson, S.G., 2002. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat. Med. 21 (11), 1539–1558. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/sim.1186.
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T.B., Layton, J.B., 2010. Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. PLoS Med. 7 (7), e1000316. http://dx.doi.org/

10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316.

- Kalmijn, M., 2003. Shared friendship networks and the life course: an analysis of survey data on married and cohabitating couples. Soc. Netw. 25, 231–249.
- Kegler, M.C., Malcoe, L.H., 2004. Results from a lay health advisor intervention to prevent lead poisoning among rural Native American children. Am. J. Public Health 94 (10), 1730–1735.
- Keller, B.K., Magnuson, T.M., Cernin, P.A., Stoner, J.A., Potter, J.F., 2003. The significance of social network in a geriatric assessment population. Aging Clin. Exp. Res. 15 (6), 512–517.
- Kinsella, K., Wan, H., 2009. An Aging World: 2008. U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- Krause, N., Liang, J., Keith, V., 1990. Personality, social support, and psychological distress in later life. Psychol. Aging 5 (3), 315–326.
- Krause, N., Rook, K.S., 2003. Negative interaction in late life: issues in the stability and generalizability of conflict across relationships. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 58 (2), P88–P99.
- Krieger, J.W., Takaro, T.K., Song, L., Weaver, M., 2005. The Seattle-King County Healthy Homes Project: a randomized, controlled trial of a community health worker intervention to decrease exposure to indoor asthma triggers. Am. J. Public Health 95 (4), 652–659. http://dx.doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2004.042994.
- Kuiper, J.S., Zuidersma, M., Oude Voshaar, R.C., Zuidema, S.U., van den Heuvel, E.R., Stolk, R.P., Smidt, N., 2015. Social relationships and risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. Ageing Res. Rev. 22, 39–57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2015.04.006.
- Litwin, H., Shiovitz-Ezra, S., 2006. Network type and mortality risk in later life. Gerontologist 46 (6), 735–743.
- Luo, Y., Hawkley, L.C., Waite, L.J., Cacioppo, J.T., 2012. Loneliness, health, and mortality in old age: a national longitudinal study. Soc. Sci. Med. 74 (6), 907–914. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.028.
- Luo, Y., Waite, L.J., 2014. Loneliness and mortality among older adults in China. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 69 (4), 633–645. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ geronb/gbu007.
- Melchior, M., Berkman, L.F., Niedhammer, I., Chea, M., Goldberg, M., 2003. Social relations and self-reported health: a prospective analysis of the French Gazel cohort. Soc. Sci. Med. 56 (8), 1817–1830.
- Mildardo, R.M., 1987. Changes in social networks of women and men following divorce. J. Fam. Issues 8 (1), 78–96.
- Minkler, M., 2001. Community organizing among the elderly poor in San Francisco's Tenderloin District. In: Rothman, J., Erlich, J.L., Tropman, J.E. (Eds.), Strategies of Community Intervention. Peacock Publishers, Itasca, III.
- Nyqvist, F., Pape, B., Pellfolk, T., Forsman, A.K., Wahlbeck, K., 2014. Structural and cognitive aspects of social capital and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Soc. Indic. Res. 116 (2), 545–566.
- Pantell, M., Rehkopf, D., Jutte, D., Syme, S.L., Balmes, J., Adler, N., 2013. Social isolation: a predictor of mortality comparable to traditional clinical risk factors. Am. J. Public Health 103 (11), 2056–2062. http://dx.doi.org/10.2105/ ajph.2013.301261.
- Parks, M.R., Stan, C.M., Eggert, L.L., 1983. Romantic involvement and social network involvement. Soc. Psychol. Q. 46, 116–131.
   Prince, M., Acosta, D., Albanese, E., Arizaga, R., Ferri, C.P., Guerra, M., ...,
- Prince, M., Acosta, D., Albanese, E., Arizaga, R., Ferri, C.P., Guerra, M., ..., Wortmann, M., 2008. Ageing and dementia in low and middle income countries-using research to engage with public and policy makers. Int. Rev. Psychiatry 20 (4), 332–343. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09540260802094712.
- Prince, M., Acosta, D., Chiu, H., Scazufca, M., Varghese, M., 2003. Dementia diagnosis in developing countries: a cross-cultural validation study. Lancet 361 (9361), 909-917. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(03)12772-9.
- Prince, M., Ferri, C.P., Acosta, D., Albanese, E., Arizaga, R., Dewey, M., ..., Uwakwe, R., 2007. The protocols for the 10/66 dementia research group population-based research programme. BMC Public Health 7, 165. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1471-2458-7-165.
- Prince, M.J., Reischies, F., Beekman, A.T., Fuhrer, R., Jonker, C., Kivela, S.L., ..., Copeland, J.R., 1999. Development of the EURO-D scale—a European, Union initiative to compare symptoms of depression in 14 European centres. Br. J. Psychiatry 174, 330–338.
- Reich, J.W., Zautra, A.J., 1991. Experimental and measurement approaches to internal control in at-risk older adults. J. Soc. Issues 47, 143–158.
- Sandler, I.N., West, S.G., Baca, L., Pillow, D.R., Gersten, J.C., Rogosch, F., et al., 1992. Linking empirically based theory and evaluation: the Family Bereavement Program. Am. J. Community Psychol. 20 (4), 491–521.
- Santini, Z.I., Koyanagi, A., Tyrovolas, S., Mason, C., Haro, J.M., 2015. The association between social relationships and depression: a systematic review. J. Affect Disord. 175C, 53–65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.049.
- Schulz, R., Beach, S.R., Ives, D.G., Martire, L.M., Ariyo, A.A., Kop, W.J., 2000. Association between depression and mortality in older adults: the cardiovascular health Study. Arch. Intern Med. 160 (12), 1761–1768.
- Schuster, T.L., Kessler, R.C., Aseltine Jr., R.H., 1990. Supportive interactions, negative interactions, and depressed mood. Am. J. Community Psychol. 18 (3), 423–438.
- Smith, K.P., Christakis, N.A., 2008. Social networks and health. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 34, 405–439.
- Steinbach, U., 1992. Social networks, institutionalization, and mortality among elderly people in the United States. J. Gerontol. 47 (4), S183–S190.
- Stephens, C., Alpass, F., Towers, A., Stevenson, B., 2011. The effects of types of social networks, perceived social support, and loneliness on the health of older people: accounting for the social context. J. Aging Health 23 (6), 887–911. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0898264311400189.

- Steptoe, A., Shankar, A., Demakakos, P., Wardle, J., 2013. Social isolation, loneliness, and all-cause mortality in older men and women. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (15), 5797–5801. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219686110.
- Stuck, A.E., Walthert, J.M., Nikolaus, T., Bula, C.J., Hohmann, C., Beck, J.C., 1999. Risk factors for functional status decline in community-living elderly people: a systematic literature review. Soc. Sci. Med. 48 (4), 445–469.
- Thiyagarajan, J.A., Prince, M., Webber, M., 2014. Social support network typologies and health outcomes of older people in low and middle income countries—a 10/ 66 Dementia Research Group population-based study. Int. Rev. Psychiatry 26 (4), 476–485. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2014.925850.
- Tsai, A.C., Lucas, M., Sania, A., Kim, D., Kawachi, I., 2014. Social integration and suicide mortality among men: 24-year cohort study of U.S. health professionals. Ann. Intern Med. 161 (2), 85–95. http://dx.doi.org/10.7326/m13-1291.
- Uchino, B.N., 2006. Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. J. Behav. Med. 29 (4), 377–387. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9056-5.
- Uchino, B.N., 2009. Understanding the links between social support and physical health: a lifespan perspective with emphasis on the seperability of perceived and received support. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 4, 236–255.
- UN, 2002. Report of the Second World Assembly on Ageing, Madrid 8–12 April 2002. A/CONF.197/9. United Nations, New York, NY.
- UNAIDS, 2010. UNAIDS Expanded Business Case: Enhancing Social Protection. UNAIDS, Geneva, CH.
- Utz, R.L., Carr, D., Nesse, R., Wortman, C.B., 2002. The effect of widowhood on older adults' social participation: an evaluation of activity, disengagement, and continuity theories. Gerontologist 42 (4), 522–533.
- van Tilburg, T., 1992. Support networks before and after retirement. J. Soc. Personal Relat. 9, 433–445.
- van Tilburg, T., 2003. Consequences of men's retirement for the continuation of work-related personal relationships. Ageing Int. 28 (4), 345–358.
- Weiss, A., Costa Jr., P.T., 2005. Domain and facet personality predictors of all-cause

mortality among medicare patients aged 65 to 100. Psychosom. Med. 67 (5), 724–733. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000181272.58103.18.

- Wenger, G.C., 1989. Support networks in old age constructing a typology. In: Jefferys, M. (Ed.), Ageing in the 20th Century. Routledge, London, UK, pp. 166–185.
- Wenger, G.C., 1991. A network typology: from theory to practice. J. Aging Stud. 5 (2), 147–162.
- Wenger, G.C., 1996. Social networks and gerontology. Rev. Clin. Gerontol. 6, 285–293.
- Wenger, G.C., 1997. Social networks and the prediction of elderly people at risk. Aging Ment. Health 1 (4), 311–320.
- Wenger, G.C., Dykstra, P.A., Melkas, T., 2007. Social embeddedness and late-life parenthood: community activity, close ties, and support networks. J. Fam. Issues 28, 1419–1456.
- Wenger, G.C., Tucker, I., 2002. Using network variation in practice: identification of support network type. Health Soc. Care Community 10 (1), 28–35.
- WHO, 2001. WHODAS II Disability Assessment Schedule. Retrieved 23rd of June, 2015, from. http://who.int/classifications/icf/whodasii/en/.
- WHO, 2011. Global Health and Aging. World Health Organization, Geneva, CH. Wilkinson, R.G., Kawachi, I., Kennedy, B.P., 1998. Mortality, the social environment, crime and violence. Sociol. Health Illn. 20 (5), 578–597.
- Williamson, G.M., Shaffer, D.R., 2001. Relationship quality and potentially harmful behaviors by spousal caregivers: how we were then, how we are now. The Family relationships in late life Project. Psychol. Aging 16 (2), 217–226.
- Wing, R.R., Jeffery, R.W., 1999. Benefits of recruiting participants with friends and increasing social support for weight loss and maintenance. J. Consult Clin. Psychol. 67 (1), 132–138.
- Yang, Y.C., Li, T., Ji, Y., 2013. Impact of social integration on metabolic functions: evidence from a nationally representative longitudinal study of US older adults. BMC Public Health 13, 1210. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1210.

Paper III

# The association of relationship quality and social networks with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among older married adults: Findings from a cross-sectional analysis of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA)

Ziggi Ivan Santini Ai Koyanagi Stefanos Tyrovolas Josep Maria Haro

Journal of Affective Disorders 179 (2015) 134-141

FISEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Affective Disorders



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jad

Research report

# The association of relationship quality and social networks with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among older married adults: Findings from a cross-sectional analysis of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA)



## Santini Ziggi Ivan\*, Ai Koyanagi, Stefanos Tyrovolas, Josep M. Haro

Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu, Universitat de Barcelona, Fundació Sant Joan de Déu/CIBERSAM, Dr. Antoni Pujades, 42, Sant Boi de Llobregat 08830, Barcelona, Spain

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 November 2014 Received in revised form 8 March 2015 Accepted 9 March 2015 <u>Available online 26 March 2015</u>

Keywords: Depression Anxiety Suicidal ideation Social support Social network Spouses

## ABSTRACT

*Background:* Important associations have been found between social relationships and various mental health outcomes. However, limited data exists for these associations among older adults especially in terms of relationship quality in partnerships. This study aimed to examine the associations of positive and negative partner interactions and social networks with depression, anxiety and suicidal ideation. *Methods:* Nationally-representative, cross-sectional data of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA) was analyzed. The analytical sample consisted of 4988 community dwelling adults aged  $\geq$ 50 years in spouse/partner relationships. Information on sociodemographics and social relationships were assessed

spouse/partner relationships. Information on sociodemographics and social relationships were assessed using standard questions. Validated scales for depression and anxiety, and a single-item question for suicidal ideation were used to assess mental health outcomes. Multivariable logistic regression was used to assess the association between social relationships and depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation.

*Results:* After adjusting for confounders, negative partner interactions were significantly associated with increased likelihood of depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, while positive partner interactions were significantly and inversely related to anxiety and suicidal ideation. Higher levels of social integration were significantly associated with lower odds for depression.

*Limitations:* Given the cross-sectional nature of the research, no firm conclusions can be made in terms of directions of causality.

*Conclusion:* By assessing the available social network of older adults, as well as the areas in their social relationships that need to be addressed, it may be possible for practitioners and policy makers to maximize the benefits of network integration and minimize the potentially harmful aspects of social relationships, thereby improving overall mental health and emotional well-being.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

## 1. Introduction

Europe is currently facing aging of the populations at an unprecedented speed, making efforts to prevent or treat mental disorders among people transitioning into old age a top priority (Rechel et al., 2009). Mental disorders in late-life is a major public health issue, with mood and anxiety disorders being some of the most common mental disorders among the elderly (Byers et al., 2010). Late-life depression is clearly different from depression occurring earlier in life due to its increased risk of suicide, impairment of physical, cognitive, and social functioning, and greater self-neglect which in turn may lead to

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.03.015 0165-0327/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. increased mortality (Fiske et al., 2009). Anxiety is even more common than depression among the elderly, and the course of anxiety disorders is generally less favorable than that of depressive disorders. Anxiety disorders are frequently comorbid with other medical and psychiatric conditions, and are associated with an increased risk of cognitive decline (Blay and Marinho, 2012). Furthermore, older adults have been identified as a high-risk group for death by suicide, with suicide completion rates being highest in persons aged 70 years or over in almost all regions of the world (Weaver and Koenig, 1996; WHO, 2014). Considering that the proportion of older adults in the population will increase considerably worldwide in the coming decades, the absolute number of deaths by suicide is expected to rise accordingly (Christensen et al., 2009; Lapierre et al., 2011).

In Ireland, the prevalence of major depressive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder among adults 45 years old and above

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 93 640 63 50. *E-mail address:* z.santini@pssjd.org (Z.I. Santini).

have been reported to be 10% and 5% respectively (Barry et al., 2009). Ireland has seen a steady increase in death by suicide over the past half century, with a four-fold increase in suicide mortality in men from 6.4 to 25.3 per 100,000 population between 1980 and 2000 (Lucey et al., 2005). This rising trend in Ireland is in sharp contrast with decreasing male suicide rates in most other European Union countries (Chishti et al., 2003). Men in particular are at risk for suicide, comprising 83% of the total number of completed suicides in Ireland in 2011. Within age groups, male suicide rates were highest in the age group 45-65 years old, while women's were highest in the age group 25-44 years old (CSO, 2014). Furthermore, suicidality in Ireland has been strongly linked to the financial crisis and unemployment, and the current rapid increase in unemployment suggests that Irish rates of suicide will rise again as they did in previous recessions (Corcoran and Arensman, 2011; Thekiso et al., 2013). In 2012, the suicide rate was 12% higher than in 2007, the year before the latest economic recession (NOSP, 2012).

In terms of the factors that influence mental health, the importance of people's social relationships has increasingly become recognized in recent years (Smith and Christakis, 2008; Uchino, 2009). In particular, positive (supportive) interactions have been reported to be of considerable importance (Schuster et al., 1990). Positive interactions refer to the degree a person feels that his or her partner/child/friend/relative can be trusted, relied on, or is perceived to be supportive (Schuster et al., 1990). While measures of positive interactions (often referred to as emotional social support) have been well utilized in studies, a more informative assessment can also be made by incorporating negative interactions, which relates to the extent that a person feels criticized, let down, or demanded too much from (Schuster et al., 1990). Rook (1984, 1990) introduced the term "negativity effect" to explain findings where negative interactions exerted stronger effects than positive interactions on well-being outcomes.

While mental health status is generally influenced by the quality of many different social relationships, several studies have concluded that the quality of spousal/partner relationships are particularly important (Dehle et al., 2001; Okabayashi et al., 2004; Okun and Lockwood, 2003; Pettit et al., 2011; Teo et al., 2013). Spousal relationship quality among older adults has been found to be an important determinant of both physical health as well as mental disorders, with negative social interactions and harmful behaviors being associated with depression and poorer health and wellbeing, whereas supportive interactions have been found to predict higher life-satisfaction and exert a protective effect against depression (Antonucci et al., 2001; Bookwala, 2005; Haley et al., 2003; Williamson and Shaffer, 2001).

Being integrated in social networks also has implications for health and wellbeing. Social networks are the structural components of a person's social relationships, such as the amount and type of social relations, frequency of contact, and social participation (Smith and Christakis, 2008). Studies assessing the social determinants of mental disorders particularly among older adults have consistently found that greater levels of social integration are protective against various outcomes on mental disorders. (Chan et al., 2011; Chao, 2011; Fiori et al., 2006; Garcia-Pena et al., 2013; Kuchibhatla et al., 2012; Sicotte et al., 2008; Tsai et al., 2005).

The aim of the study was to assess the association between social relationships and mental health among the older population. Research has established that poor social relationships and social isolation can pose a greater risk for mortality than excessive drinking and smoking, obesity, and lack of exercise (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010). However, the literature is scarce in terms of studies examining the role of social networks and both positive and negative aspects of relationship quality specifically in regards to outcomes on depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation in the older population. Further, the bulk of published studies on relationship quality and social networks have restricted their analyses to either of these constructs, rather than including both. This

study included both of these constructs in order to make a more comprehensive assessment of their roles. In addition, given that the vast majority of the literature on social support includes only positive interactions or supportive behaviors, this study took into account the role of both positive and negative aspects of relationship quality. Interventions targeted at intimate or family relationships have been suggested to be a particularly efficient approach for improving health and well-being among the elderly, as opposed to interventions that aim to address individuals wholly detached from a social context, which may be vague in scope. (IOM, 2001; Priebe et al., 2013). It is thus relevant to investigate the role of relationship quality in spousal/partner relationships, in order to inform effective intervention strategies that could benefit a broader social context than individuals seen in isolation from close social ties.

Using a large-scale, Irish nationally representative sample, we examined the associations between positive and negative interactions with spouse/partner (from here on 'partner interactions') and social networks in relation to anxiety, depression and suicidal ideation among older population over 50 years old living with a partner/spouse.

### 2. Methods

### 2.1. Study design and sample

Data for this study came from the first wave of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA) conducted between 2009 and 2010 by Trinity College in Dublin (Accessed via the Irish Social Science Data Archive - www.ucd.ie/issda). TILDA is an Irish nationally-representative, longitudinal study of the economic, health, and social status of 8175 people aged 50 years and above, along with an additional 329 spouses or partners younger than 50 years. The baseline survey excluded participants who reported a doctor's diagnosis of dementia. All participants were required to provide written informed consent, and those not able to consent personally because of severe cognitive impairment (judged at the interviewer's discretion) were not included. Full details of the survey and its sampling procedure have been described elsewhere (Cronin, O'Regan et al., 2013; Kearney et al., 2011; Whelan and Savva, 2013). Briefly, wave 1 of the TILDA study included face-to-face interviews conducted by trained professionals using Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI). The study also included a self-completion questionnaire, which was returned after the visit. Ethical approval was obtained from the ethics committee of Trinity College Dublin. Informed consent was obtained from all participants. The overall response rate of the study was 62% and the response rate of the self-completion questionnaire was 84% (Kearney et al., 2011; Whelan and Savva, 2013). For the analysis, participants under the age of 50 years were excluded. Also, since the domain of interest was people with spouse/partner, only those living with a partner or spouse at the time of the interview were included in the analysis. The sample size after restriction to these individuals was 4988.

#### 2.2. Measures

### 2.2.1. Mental disorders and suicidal ideation

Depression was measured with the 20-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977), which assesses symptoms experienced over the last week. Each of the 20 items was scored on scales from 0 (rarely or none of the time, less than one day in the week) to 3 (most or all of the time, five-seven days in the week). These scores were summed to create a scale that ranged from 0 to 60 (Cronbach's alpha=0–88). Depression was defined as a score of  $\geq$  16. A cut-off point of  $\geq$  16 has been associated with 100% sensitivity and 88% specificity for major depression in community dwelling older adults (Beekman et al., 1997). Anxiety was measured with the anxiety subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS-A). The measure consists of 7 items rated on a four-point scale from 0 (not at all) to 3 (very often indeed) with 5 items reverse coded. Reverse coded items were recoded so that all items were based on the same scale. The scores of the 7 items were summed to create a scale that ranged from 0 to 21 (Cronbach's alpha=0.84). Anxiety was defined as a score of  $\geq 8$ . This cut-off point has been associated with 89% sensitivity and 75% specificity for generalized anxiety disorder (Bjelland et al., 2002; Olsson et al., 2005).

Suicidal ideation was assessed with a question from the EURO-D scale (Prince et al., 1999). This component was included in the survey because the CES-D did not include suicidal ideation (Whelan and Savva, 2013). Thus, the measure for suicidal ideation included a single item scale, similar to that used in other studies on suicidal ideation and suicidality (Giletta et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2015; Mackelprang et al., 2014; Murphy, 2014; Sareen et al., 2005a; Sareen et al., 2005b; Triñanes et al., 2014). Participants were asked the following: "In the last month, have you felt that you would rather be dead?" The variable was coded 1 for "yes" and 0 for "no".

### 2.2.2. Relationship quality and social networks

Relationship quality in terms of participants' experiences of positive and negative partner interactions was assessed with items described by Schuster et al. (1990). Positive partner interactions were measured with three items relating to support: "How much does he/ she really understand the way you feel about things?"; "How much can you rely on him/her if you have a serious problem?"; and "How much can you open up to him/her if you need to talk about your worries?" Negative partner interactions were measured with four items relating to social strain including: "How much does he/she make too many demands on you?", "How much does he/she criticize you?", "How much does he/she let you down when you are counting on him/her?" and "How much does he/she get on your nerves?' Responses for positive and negative partner interactions were coded in the following way: 1 (not at all); 2 (a little); 3 (some); and 4 (a lot). The scores for positive and negative partner interactions were summed separately to create a scale ranging from 3-12 and 4-16 respectively. Cronbach's alpha for positive and negative partner interactions were 0.86 and 0.78 respectively. Finally, for the sake of comparability, both were converted into scales of 0-10, with 10 referring to the highest possible score for positive/negative partner interactions.

Social networks were assessed utilizing the Berkman–Syme Social Network Index (SNI). The SNI is a validated self-report questionnaire (Berkman and Syme, 1979) that assesses a person's degree of social integration by marital/partnership status (married/with partner versus not), sociability (number and frequency of contact with children, close relatives, and close friends), and church group membership or membership in community organizations. The composite score ranged from 0 to 4 and was categorized as 0–1 (most isolated), 2 (moderately isolated), 3 (moderately integrated), and 4 (most integrated). Because the sample was based on participants in marital/partner relationships, all individuals in the study had a score of at least 1. Further information about psychometric properties and evidence for the predictive validity of the SNI is available in Berkman and Breslow (1983).

### 2.2.3. Stressful life events (SLE)

SLEs were measured with a 12-item self-reported measure to assess exposure to traumatic events and other major stressful events over the life course. This measure was a modification of a previously utilized measure of traumatic life events (Krause et al., 2004). Stress-ful life events included experience of: being in a fire or natural disaster; drug addiction of family member; victim of serious assault;

life-threatening illness or accident; family member having life-threatening illness or accident; death of child; repetition of school year in childhood; parental addiction in childhood; physical abuse in childhood by parent; physical abuse by other; sexual abuse in childhood by parent; and sexual abuse in childhood by other. Responses to each SLE were coded as 0 (had not experienced that event) or 1 (had experienced that event). Responses were added up to create a scale ranging from 0 to 12.

# 2.2.4. Sociodemographic characteristics, chronic medical conditions, and harmful drinking

Sociodemographic characteristics included age, gender, education, financial circumstances, and place of residence. Age was categorized as 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, and  $\geq$  80 years. Education was classified as: primary (some primary/not complete; primary or equivalent); secondary (intermediate/junior/group certificate or equivalent; leaving certificate or equivalent); and tertiary (diploma/certificate; primary degree; postgraduate/higher degree). As a measure of wealth, since more than 50% of the values on income was missing, a proxy measure (financial strain) was utilized instead. Answers to the statement "shortage of money stops me from doing the things I want to do" were coded as follows: 1 (never); 2 (rarely); 3 (sometimes); and 4 (often). Place of residence was dichotomized into urban (Dublin city or county/another town or city) and rural.

The number of chronic medical conditions was assessed by the question "Has a doctor ever told you that you have any of the conditions on this card?" Reponses included 11 conditions: high blood pressure or hypertension; angina; heart attack (including myocardial or coronary thrombosis); congestive heart failure; diabetes or high blood sugar; stroke (cerebral vascular disease); ministroke or transient ischemic attack; high cholesterol; heart murmur; abnormal heart rhythm; and any other heart trouble. The total number of chronic medical conditions was calculated and was categorized as 0 (none), 1, 2–4 and  $\geq 5$ .

Harmful drinking was measured with the validated and reliable CAGE screening test for the clinical assessment of harmful drinking (Chan et al., 1994; Mayfield et al., 1974; Steinbauer et al., 1998). This instrument is designed as an instrument that can be used to alert the interviewer regarding the possible presence of alcoholism. The CAGE instrument assesses four aspects of drinking with the following questions: Have you ever felt you should cut down on your drinking?; Have people annoyed you by criticizing your drinking?; Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking?; and Have you ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover? Individual item responses were scored 0 (no) or 1 (yes). These scores were added to create a composite score ranging from 0 to 4 and problem drinkers were defined as those with a score of  $\ge 2$  on the CAGE scale (Mayfield et al., 1974).

### 2.3. Statistical analysis

The selection of control variables was based on the past literature (Djernes, 2006; Kessler et al., 1999; Nock et al., 2008; Vink et al., 2008). Continuous variables were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) and categorical variables as proportions. Comparisons of continuous and categorical variables between groups were performed using *t*-tests and Chi-square tests respectively. Multivariable logistic regression analyses were performed to assess the association between relationship quality, social networks, or other variables and the three mental health outcomes (depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation) independently. Continuous variables included in the models were those pertaining to relationship quality and stressful life events. Since some previous studies have suggested that the effect of relationship quality or social support on mental health outcomes may differ by gender (Fiori et al., 2013; Tiedt, 2010), we tested for

effect modification by gender in the association between relationship quality or social networks and the three mental health outcomes by including interaction terms in the model (i.e. positive partner interactions X gender, negative partner interactions X gender, or SNI X gender). However, since no significant interactions were observed, we did not stratify the analyses by gender. The sample weighting and the complex study design were taken into account in all analyses to generate nationally-representative estimates. Results are expressed as odds ratios and their 95% confidence intervals. A *P*-value < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. We analyzed data with Stata version 13 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, Texas).

### 3. Results

The mean (SD) age of the sample was 62.0 (8.5) years and 52.1% were males. The prevalence of depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation were 22.7%, 25.2%, and 2.9% respectively. The baseline characteristics of the study sample including their association with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation are illustrated in Table 1. Age, female gender, urban residence, lower educational level, higher levels of financial strain, social isolation, or negative partner interactions, greater numbers of chronic medical conditions, or stressful life events, and less positive partner interactions were significantly associated with higher likelihoods for the three mental health outcomes with the exception of the associations between education and anxiety, and age or gender and suicidal ideation.

### Table 1

Baseline characteristics of older adults in marital/partner relationships.

The association between positive and negative partner interactions, social networks, or other covariates and depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation are shown in Table 2. Experiencing more positive partner interactions was significantly associated with lower odds for anxiety or suicidal ideation but not depression. Experiencing more negative partner interactions was associated with significantly higher odds for depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Higher levels of social network integration was significantly and inversely related to depression.

## 4. Discussion

The current study investigated the associations of relationship quality and social networks, with three mental health outcomes (depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation) among participants aged 50 and above in spousal/partner relationships in Ireland. Negative partner interactions were positively related to all outcomes, while positive partner interactions were negatively related to anxiety and suicidal ideation. Social integration was inversely related to depression. The strengths of the study include the use of data from a large nationally-representative sample of the Irish population, and a range of validated scales to assess the determinants of mental disorders. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study examining the associations of social networks and both positive and negative aspects of relationship quality with mental health outcomes specifically among older adults in Ireland, and one of the few conducted with European population-based samples. In addition,

	Overall	Depression			Anxiety			Suicidal ideation		
		No	Yes	P-value	No	Yes	P-value	No	Yes	P-value
Unweighted N	4988	3841	1085		3655	1181		4847	132	
Age (years)				0.009			< 0.001	0.40 <b>-</b> ( <b>-</b> 0.0)		0.591
50-59	2211 (46.2)	1659 (50.0)	532 (50.4)		1524 (43.9	653 (56.2)		2137 (50.0)	69 (52.3)	
60-69	1/06 (33.7)	1356 (34.9)	327 (29.2)		1297 (35.0	361 (30.1)		1665 (33.9)	38 (28.5)	
70–79	888 (16.0)	688 (15.9)	184 (15.7)		696 (17.0)	141 (11.0)		866 (16.0)	21 (14.6)	
80+	183 (4.13)	138 (3.9)	42 (4.7)		138 (4.1)	26 (2.7)		179 (4.1)	4 (4.6)	
Male	2455 (52.1)	2014 (55.6)	409 (40.3)	< 0.001	1912 (55.1)	471 (43.9)	< 0.001	2397 (52.4)	56 (43.9)	0.054
Urban residence	2518 (49.1)	1889 (47.6)	596 (53.4)	0.003	1809 (47.8)	634 (53.2)	0.007	2426 (48.6)	86 (65.7)	< 0.001
Education				0.005			0.103			0.003
Primary	1259 (33.2)	927 (30.0)	306 (37.2)		870 (31.6)	313 (34.3)		1210 (30.0)	49 (47.5)	
Secondary	2127 (46.8)	1661 (47.7)	449 (44.7)		1563 (47.3)	507 (47.1)		2076 (47.0)	45 (36.2)	
Tertiary	1595 (20.0)	1252 (20.6)	324 (18.1)		1220 (21.2)	357 (18.6)		1556 (20.1)	36 (16.3)	
Financial strain				< 0.001			< 0.001			< 0.001
Never	1103 (21.7)	929 (20.0)	161 (14.9)		917 (24.6)	145 (11.9)		1078 (20.0)	23 (16.7)	
Rarely	1127 (21.4)	928 (23.4)	188 (14.8)		893 (23.4)	212 (16.3)		1110 (21.7)	17 (11.9)	
Sometimes	1856 (38.4)	1411 (38.1)	423 (39.9)		1356 (38.5)	467 (39.9)		1810 (38.6)	43 (31.9)	
Often	812 (18.4)	507 (14.8)	291 (30.4)		439 (13.6)	342 (31.9)		762 (17.8)	46 (39.6)	
Number of chronic medical conditions				< 0.001			0.039			0.001
None	1836 (36.9)	1486 (39.0)	333 (30.3)		1367 (37.7)	428 (36.0)		1793 (37.2)	40 (29.6)	
1	1692 (33.7)	1315 (34.1)	356 (32.3)		1265 (34.5)	378 (31.8)		1654 (33.9)	35 (27.0)	
2-4	1374 (27.6)	989 (25.5)	363 (34.4)		967 (26.2)	348 (30.0)		1322 (27.3)	50 (39.1)	
5+	86 (1.7)	51 (1.3)	33 (3.0)		56 (1.5)	27 (2.3)		78 (1.6)	7 (4.3)	
Problem drinking	608 (12.3)	427 (11.2)	173 (16.3)	< 0.001	374 (10.2)	221 (18.8)	< 0.001	569 (11.8)	38 (28.9)	< 0.001
Social Network Index				< 0.001			< 0.001			< 0.001
Most isolated	59 (1.5)	27 (0.9)	28 (2.9)		37 (1.3)	17 (1.6)		54 (1.4)	5 (3.8)	
Moderately isolated	1012 (21.6)	711 (19.6)	285 (27.9)		681 (19.7)	291 (25.9)		964 (21.1)	44 (35.7)	
Moderately integrated	2170 (44.6)	1689 (45.1)	457 (43.0)		1590 (44.8)	513 (44.1)		2110 (44.7)	57 (43)	
Most integrated	1747 (32.4)	1414 (34.4)	315 (26.2)		1347 (34.2)	360 (28.4)		1719 (32.9)	26 (17.4)	
Stressful life events <sup>a</sup> (mean $\pm$ SD)	$0.93 \pm 1.19$	$\textbf{0.85} \pm \textbf{1.12}$	$1.19 \pm 1.34$	< 0.001	$0.85 \pm 1.13$	$1.20 \pm  1.36$	< 0.001	$0.92 \pm 1.17$	$1.35\pm1.53$	0.020
Positive partner interactions <sup>b</sup> (mean $\pm$ SD)	$8.55\pm~2.26$	$8.76 \pm 2.06$	$\textbf{7.9} \pm \textbf{2.66}$	< 0.001	$8.86\ \pm 1.98$	$\textbf{7.75} \pm \textbf{2.61}$	< 0.001	$8.6 \pm 2.21$	$\textbf{7.08} \pm \textbf{3.08}$	< 0.001
Negative partner interactions <sup>b</sup> (mean $\pm$ SD)	$2.37 \pm 2.15$	$2.17\pm2.01$	$3.04 \pm 2.41$	< 0.001	2.03 ± 1.91	$3.35\pm2.42$	< 0.001	$2.33 \pm 2.11$	3.71 ± 2.62	< 0.001

Data are unweighted n (%) in the overall sample, or among those with or without that mental health condition.unless otherwise specified. Sampling weights were used for the calculation of proportions and means (SD). *P*-values based on chi-square tests for categorical variables and *t*-tests for continuous variables.

<sup>a</sup> The scale for stressful life events ranged from 0 to 12 and corresponded to the total number of stressful life events experienced.

<sup>b</sup> The scales for positive and negative partner interactions ranged from 0 to 10, with higher scores corresponding to higher levels of positive or negative partner interactions (refer to text for details).

#### Table 2

Association of positive and negative partner interactions and social network (independent variables) with depression, anxiety, or suicidal ideation (dependent variables) among older adults in marital/partner relationships estimated by multivariable logistic regression.

	Depress	ion		Anxiety	<i>r</i>		Suicida		
	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
Positive partner interactions <sup>a</sup>	0.98	0.94-1.01	0.213	0.95	0.91-0.99	0.011	0.91	0.83-0.997	0.044
Negative partner interactions <sup>a</sup>	1.14	1.09-1.19	< 0.001	1.23	1.18-1.29	< 0.001	1.14	1.02-1.28	0.021
Social Network Index									
Most isolated	1			1			1		
Moderately isolated	0.45	0.20-1.01	0.053	1.25	0.61-2.56	0.545	1.08	0.21-5.41	0.929
Moderately integrated	0.39	0.18-0.86	0.019	1.40	0.67-2.91	0.367	1.02	0.20-5.09	0.985
Most integrated	0.34	0.15-0.75	0.008	1.41	0.67-2.96	0.360	0.78	0.15-4.06	0.766
Stressful life events <sup>b</sup>	1.15	1.07-1.23	< 0.001	1.16	1.09-1.23	< 0.001	1.04	0.85-1.28	0.685
Problem drinking	1.43	1.13-1.82	0.003	1.65	1.3-2.1	< 0.001	2.77	1.61-4.78	< 0.001
Age (years)									
50-59	1			1			1		
60-69	0.77	0.63-0.95	0.016	0.67	0.56-0.82	< 0.001	0.58	0.33-1.03	0.063
70-79	1.02	0.77-1.36	0.891	0.54	0.41-0.73	< 0.001	0.56	0.27-1.18	0.126
80+	1.17	0.71-1.91	0.536	0.52	0.29-0.94	0.029	0.21	0.03-1.58	0.128
Gender (male vs. female)	0.44	0.37-0.52	< 0.001	0.61	0.51-0.73	< 0.001	0.68	0.42-1.08	0.104
Education									
Primary	1			1			1		
Secondary	0.89	0.72-1.09	0.262	0.80	0.65-0.99	0.043	0.60	0.35-1.05	0.074
Tertiary	0.83	0.66-1.04	0.101	0.70	0.56-0.88	0.003	0.59	0.33-1.05	0.073
Financial strain									
Never	1			1			1		
Rarely	1.02	0.77-1.34	0.887	1.33	1.00-1.76	0.049	0.64	0.30-1.33	0.231
Sometimes	1.63	1.28-2.08	< 0.001	1.83	1.44-2.32	< 0.001	0.95	0.49-1.87	0.889
Often	2.52	1.88-3.37	< 0.001	3.12	2.35-4.14	< 0.001	1.38	0.69-2.77	0.364
Residence (urban vs. rural)	1.24	1.03-1.49	0.020	1.15	0.97-1.37	0.105	1.54	0.99-2.38	0.054
Number of chronic medical conditions									
None	1			1			1		
1	1.41	1.14-1.75	0.001	1.02	0.83-1.25	0.877	1.12	0.64-1.94	0.698
2-4	1.78	1.44-2.19	< 0.000	1.28	1.04-1.58	0.019	2.08	1.25-3.46	0.005
5+	2.81	1.55–5.08	0.001	1.73	0.93-3.2	0.083	2.95	0.79-10.95	0.107

OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval. All models were mutually adjusted for all variables in the table.

<sup>a</sup> The scales for positive and negative partner interactions ranged from 0 to 10, with higher scores corresponding to higher levels of positive or negative partner interactions, respectively. Odds ratio represents the change for each additional point.

<sup>b</sup> The scale for stressful life events ranged from 0 to 12 corresponding to the number of stressful life events experienced.

this study is the first of its kind to assess associations between positive and negative partner interactions and suicidal ideation.

Several limitations deserve mention before discussing the results. First, these findings were based on cross-sectional data, which precludes the possibility to make firm conclusions about directions of causality. For example, poorer relationship quality may be the result of depression and not the cause of depression (Steger and Kashdan, 2009). Future studies are needed to establish causal relationships between these variables using prospective data. Second, since the data were based on self-report, reporting bias may exist. For example, some may have been reluctant to disclose harmful alcohol use due to social non-acceptance. Recall bias may also have affected reports of things such as the occurrence of stressful life events. Further, residual confounding may exist due to potential confounders that we could not adjust for due to lack of data. For example, information regarding possible confounders such as personality type (Krueger et al., 2001; Lopes et al., 2003) or intimate partner violence (Coker et al., 2002) were not included in the survey and therefore could not be adjusted for. Finally, due to age related factors, conventional limits for alcohol intake may not apply to older people (O'Connell et al., 2003) to detect problem drinking. Although the CAGE questionnaire used in our study to detect problem drinking has good validity and reliability among older people, some authors have recommended the use of supplementary questions to improve sensitivity (Berks and McCormick, 2008; Hinkin et al., 2001; O'Connell et al., 2003). Unfortunately, these supplementary questions were not available in the TILDA, and thus there might have been some level of under-detection especially in the older group of our study population.

Positive partner interactions were inversely related to anxiety and suicidal ideation. However, negative partner interactions were more significantly associated to all outcomes of mental disorders, and confirmed previous findings of negative partner interactions having stronger implications for mental health (Leung et al., 2007). Given that most previous research has focused solely on positive interactions/ support, these results underline the importance of examining both types of social exchanges when considering outcomes on mental disorder. Overall, the associations between negative partner interactions and all outcomes were stronger than those for positive partner interactions. These findings are in line with previous research (Bertera, 2005; Ford et al., 2011; Ha, 2010; Leung et al., 2007; Rook, 1984; Teo et al., 2013), and provides further support to the negativity effect, implying that the deleterious effects of negative partner interactions are greater than the protective effect of positive partner interactions. It has been suggested that positive interactions may be protective specifically in times of crisis or acute need of support, while negative interactions universally contribute to feelings of strain and psychological distress, regardless of a person's living situation or experience of traumatic events (Rook, 1984). Our results underline the need to address dysfunctional relationships among people living with a spouse/partner as a non-pharmacological approach to improve mental health outcomes.

Higher levels of social integration were protective only against depression. Interestingly, this was not the case for the other outcomes, i.e. socially isolated participants were not more likely to have anxiety or suicidal ideation. The literature is sparse concerning associations between social networks and anxiety/suicidal ideation, and the

absence of significant relationships for these two outcomes suggests that they are less sensitive to levels of social integration. In terms of depression, previous longitudinal studies have established causal protective effects of larger and more diverse social networks against depression (Chao, 2011; Rosenquist et al., 2011; Sonnenberg et al., 2013). Research indicates that being socially integrated is related to mental health via a number of biological, psychological, and social pathways, and that social isolation affects both physical and psychological functionings through feelings and perceptions of emptiness, worthlessness, lack of control, and personal threat (Cacioppo et al., 2010: Rosenquist et al., 2011: Uchino, 2009). The association between social isolation and depression may also be underpinned by feelings or perceptions of loneliness which have been reported to be associated with both social isolation and depression in older adults (Meltzer et al., 2013). Future research is needed to examine possible mediating or moderating effects of loneliness between these variables. Alternatively, other possible explanations include: the tendency of depressed individuals to isolate themselves, which may facilitate or further exacerbate feelings of loneliness; or the tendency of individuals with depression to form rather cynical and pessimistic perceptions of the reality of their social surroundings, thereby causing them to feel less integrated in social networks than they actually are (Steger and Kashdan, 2009).

Financial strain, chronic medical conditions, and harmful drinking were also strongly associated with adverse mental health outcomes. Since these factors are also known to influence intimate relationships (Beach et al., 2005; Hardie and Lucas, 2010; Homish and Leonard, 2007; Robles et al., 2014), addressing these issues as well may have the added benefit of ameliorating relationship quality in addition to improving mental health outcomes. In particular, future research is warranted to assess how supportive behaviors and network integration interact with these variables and together affect mental and emotional well-being.

From a public health standpoint, this study may have important implications for the prevention and treatment of mental disorders in the aging population. Focusing interventions on intimate partner relationships, rather than individual family members, can be particularly fruitful in terms of improving health outcomes, because they address a broader social context. For example, research on family interventions for management of chronic diseases in adults and the elderly suggests that recognizing and attending to the family relationship adds considerably to improving the health and wellbeing of both patients and family members (IOM, 2001; Priebe et al., 2013). Accordingly, a recent systematic review on suicide among the elderly emphasized the effectiveness of social intervention programs that promote healthy social interactions and community participation. Such programs have been found to increase levels of wellbeing, social and physical activity, and improve quality of life while also reducing depressive symptoms (Alves et al., 2014).

### 5. Conclusion

Our findings demonstrate that the quality of individuals' relationships with their spouse/partner is associated with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among older adults. It is possible that public health interventions could benefit considerably from focusing on marital/spousal relationship quality and especially relationship dysfunction in order to prevent a range of mental health problems. Our results indicate that while interventions for spouse/partner interactions may have an effect on all three mental health outcomes, social network integration may only have an effect on depression. If our findings are confirmed by longitudinal studies, strategies to improve relationship quality may have a positive impact on the mental wellbeing of the older population.

Role of funding source

Nothing declared.

### Conflict of interest

None of the authors have any interests to declare in relation to this submission.

#### Acknowledgments

The TILDA data is co-funded by the Government of Ireland through the Office of the Minister for Health and Children, by Atlantic Philanthropies, and by Irish Life: and has been collected under the Statistics Act, 1993, of the Central Statistics Office. The project has been designed and implemented by the TILDA Study Team. © Department of Health and Children. Copyright and all other intellectual property rights relating to the data are vested in TILDA

The research leading to these results has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013 under REA Grant agreement no. 316795.

Ai Kovanagi's work was supported by the Miguel Servet contract financed by the CP13/00150 project, integrated into the National R+D+I and funded by the ISCIII - General Branch Evaluation and Promotion of Health Research - and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).

Stefanos Tyrovolas' work was funded through a scholarship from the Foundation for Education and European Culture (IPEP).

### References

- Alves, V. d. M., Maia, A.C.C. d. O., Nardi, A.E., 2014. Suicide among elderly: a systematic review. Med. Express 1 (1), 9-13.
- Antonucci, T.C., Lansford, J.E., Akiyama, H., 2001. Impact of positive and negative aspects of marital relationships and friendships on well-being of older adults. Appl. Dev. Sci. 5 (2), 68-75.
- Barry, M.M., Van Lente, E., Molcho, M., Morgan, K., McGee, H., Conroy, R.M., Perry, I., 2009. SLÁN 2007: survey of lifestyle, attitudes and nutrition in Ireland, Mental and Social Well-Being Report. Department of Health and Children, Dublin, The Stationary Office.
- Beach, S.R., Schultz, R., Williamson, G.M., Miller, L.S., Weiner, M.F., Lance, C.E., 2005. Risk factors for potentially harmful informal caregiver behavior. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53 (2), 255-261.
- Beekman, A.T., Deeg, D.J., Van Limbeek, J., Braam, A.W., De Vries, M.Z., Van Tilburg, W., 1997. Criterion validity of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D): results from a community-based sample of older subjects in The Netherlands, Psychol, Med. 27 (1), 231-235.
- Berkman, L.F., Breslow, L., 1983. Health and Ways of Living. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Berkman, L.F., Syme, S.L., 1979, Social networks, host resistance, and mortality: a nine-year follow-up study of Alameda County residents. Am. J. Epidemiol. 109, 186 - 204
- Berks, L. McCormick, R. 2008, Screening for alcohol misuse in elderly primary care patients: a systematic literature review. Int. Psychogeriatr. 20 (6), 1090-1103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s1041610208007497

Bertera, E.M., 2005, Mental health in U.S. adults: the role of positive social support

- and social negativity in personal relationships. J. Soc. Pers. Relatsh. 22, 33–48. Bjelland, I., Dahl, A.A., Haug, T.T., Neckelmann, D., 2002. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. An updated literature review. J. Psychosom. Res. 52.69-77
- Blay, S.L., Marinho, V., 2012. Anxiety disorders in old age. Curr. Opin. Psychiatry 25 (6), 462-467. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0b013e3283578cdd.
- Bookwala, J., 2005. The role of marital quality in physical health during the mature years. J. Aging Health 17 (1), 85–104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0898264304272794
- Byers, A.L., Yaffe, K., Covinsky, K.E., Friedman, M.B., Bruce, M.L., 2010. High occurrence of mood and anxiety disorders among older adults: The National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch. General Psychiatry 67 (5), 489-496. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.35.
- Cacioppo, J.T., Hawkley, L.C., Thisted, R.A., 2010. Perceived social isolation makes me sad: five year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study. Psychol. Aging 25 (2) 453-463
- Chan, A., Malhotra, C., Malhotra, R., Ostbye, T., 2011. Living arrangements, social networks and depressive symptoms among older men and women in Singapore. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 26 (6), 630-639. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ gps.2574.
- Chan, A.W., Pristach, E.A., Welte, J.W., 1994. Detection by the CAGE of alcoholism or heavy drinking in primary care outpatients and the general population. J. Subst. Abuse 6, 123-135.
- Chao, S.F., 2011. Assessing social support and depressive symptoms in older Chinese adults: a longitudinal perspective. Aging Mental Health 15 (6), 765-774. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2011.562182.
- Chishti, P., Stone, D.H., Corcoran, P., Williamson, E., Petridou, E., 2003. Suicide mortality in the European Union. Eur. J. Public Health 13 (2), 108-114.
- Christensen, K., Doblhammer, G., Rau, R., Vaupel, J.W., 2009. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet 374 (9696), 1196-1208. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ s0140-6736(09)61460-4.

- Coker, A.L., Smith, P.H., Thompson, M.P., McKeown, R.E., Bethea, L., Davis, K.E., 2002. Social support protects against the negative effects of partner violence on mental health. J. Women's Health Gend. Based Med. 11 (5), 465-476. http://dx. doi.org/10.1089/15246090260137644.
- Corcoran, P., Arensman, E., 2011. Suicide and employment status during Ireland's Celtic Tiger economy. Eur. J. Public Health 21 (2), 209-214. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1093/eurpub/ckp236.
- Cronin, A., O'Regan, C., Finucane, C., Kearney, P.M., Kenny, R., 2013. Health and aging: development of the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing health assessment. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 61 (Suppl. 2), S269-278.
- CSO. (2014). Suicide statistics 2011 Retrieved 10/10, 2014.
- Dehle, C., Larsen, D., Landers, J.E., 2001. Social support in marriage. Am. J. Fam. Ther. 29 (4), 307-324.
- Djernes, J.K., 2006. Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 113, 372-387.
- Fiori, K.L., Antonucci, T.C., Cortina, K.S., 2006. Social network typologies and mental health among older adults. J. Gerontol. Ser. B: Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 61 (1), P25-32.
- Fiori, K.L., Windsor, T.D., Pearson, E.L., Crisp, D.A., 2013. Can positive social exchanges buffer the detrimental effects of negative social exchanges? Age and gender differences. Gerontology 59 (1), 40-52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000339747.
- Fiske, A., Wetherell, J.L., Gatz, M., 2009. Depression in old age. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 5, 363-389.
- Ford, E., Clark, C., Stansfeld, S.A., 2011. The influence of childhood adversity on social relations and mental health at mid-life. J. Affect. Disord. 133, 320-327.
- Garcia-Pena, C., Wagner, F.A., Sanchez-Garcia, S., Espinel-Bermudez, C., Juarez-Cedillo, T., Perez-Zepeda, M., Gallo, J.J., 2013. Late-life depressive symptoms: prediction models of change. J. Affect. Disord. 150 (3), 886-894. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.007.
- Giletta, M., Calhoun, C.D., Hastings, P.D., Rudolph, K.D., Nock, M.K., Prinstein, M.J., 2014. Multi-level risk factors for suicidal ideation among at-risk adolescent females: the role of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to stress. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol.
- Ha, J., 2010. The effects of positive and negative support from children on widowed older adults' psychological adjsutment: a longitudinal analysis. Gerontologist 50 (4), 471-481
- Haley, W.E., LaMonde, L.A., Han, B., Burton, A.M., Schonwetter, R., 2003. Predictors of depression and life satisfaction among spousal caregivers in hospice: application of a stress process model. J. Palliat. Med. 6 (2), 215-224. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1089/109662103764978461.
- Hardie, J.H., Lucas, A., 2010. Economic factors and relationship quality among young couples: comparing cohabitation and marriage. J. Marriage Fam. 72 (5), 1141–1154.
- Hinkin, C.H., Castellon, S.A., Dickson-Fuhrman, E., Daum, G., Jaffe, J., Jarvik, L., 2001. Screening for drug and alcohol abuse among older adults using a modified version of the CAGE. Am. J. Addict. 10 (4), 319–326.
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T.B., Layton, J.B., 2010. Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. PLoS Med. 7 (7), 1–20.
- Homish, G.G., Leonard, K.E., 2007. The drinking partnership and marital satisfaction: the longitudinal influence of discrepant drinking. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 75 (1), 43-51.
- IOM. 2001. Individuals and Families: Models and Interventions Health and Behavior: The Interplay of Biological, Behavioral, and Societal Influences, Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Health and Behavior: Research Practice, and Policy. National Academy Press, Washington DC.
- Kang, E., Hyun, M.K., Choi, S.M., Kim, J., Kim, G., Woo, J., 2015. Twelve-month prevalence and predictors of self-reported suicidal ideation and suicide attempt among Korean adolescents in a web-based nationwide survey. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 49 (1), 47–53. Kearney, P.M., Cronin, H., O'Regan, C., Kamiya, Y., Savva, G.M., Whelan, B., Kenny, R.,
- 2011. Cohort profile: the Irish longitudinal study on ageing. Int. J. Epidemiol. 40 (4), 877-884.
- Kessler, R.C., Borges, G., Walters, E.E., 1999. Prevalence of and risk factors for lifetime suicide attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 56 (7), 617-626.
- Krause, N., Shaw, B.A., Cairney, J., 2004. A descriptive epidemiology of lifetime trauma and the physical health status of older adults. Psychol. Aging 19 (4), 637-648. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.19.4.637.
- Krueger, R.F., McGue, M., Lacono, W.G., 2001. The higher-order structure of common DSM mental disorders: internalization, externalization, and their connections to personality. Personal. Individ. Differ. 30 (7), 1245-1259.
- Kuchibhatla, M.N., Fillenbaum, G.G., Hybels, C.F., Blazer, D.G., 2012. Trajectory classes of depressive symptoms in a community sample of older adults. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 125 (6), 492-501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01801.x.
- Lapierre, S., Erlangsen, A., Waern, M., De Leo, D., Oyama, H., Scocco, P., Quinnett, P., 2011. A systematic review of elderly suicide prevention programs. Crisis 32 (2), 88-98. http://dx.doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000076.
- Leung, K., Chen, C., Lue, B., Hsu, S., 2007. Social support and family functioning on psychological symptoms in elderly Chinese. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 44, 203-213. Lopes, P.N., Salovey, P., Straus, R., 2003. Emotional intelligence, personality, and the
- perceived quality of social relationships. Personal. Individ. Differ. 35 (3), 641-658.
- Lucey, S., Corcoran, P., Keeley, H.S., Brophy, J., Arensman, E., Perry, I.J., 2005. Socioeconomic change and suicide: a time-series study from the Republic of Ireland. Crisis 26 (2), 90-94.
- Mackelprang, J.L., Bombardier, C.H., Fann, J.R., Temkin, N.R., Barber, J.K., Dikmen, S.S., 2014. Rates and predictors of suicidal ideation during the first year after traumatic brain injury. Am. J. Public Health 104 (7), 100-107.
- Mayfield, D., McLeod, G., Hall, P., 1974. The CAGE Questionnaire: validation of a new alcoholism screening instrument. Am. J. Psychiatry 131, 1121-1123.

- Meltzer, H., Bebbington, P., Dennis, M.S., Jenkins, R., McManus, S., Brugha, T.S., 2013. Feelings of loneliness among adults with mental disorder. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 48 (1), 5-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00127-012-0515-8.
- Murphy, S.M., 2014. Determinants of adolescent suicidal ideation: rural versus urban. J. Rural Health 30 (2), 175-185.
- Nock, M.K., Borges, G., Bromet, E.J., Alonso, J., Angermeyer, M., Beautrais, A. Williams, D., 2008. Cross-national prevalence and risk factors for suicidal ideation, plans and attempts. Br. J. Psychiatry 192, 98–105.
- NOSP. (2012). Annual report 2012: Health Service Executive, Dublin, IE.
- O'Connell, H., Chin, A.V., Cunningham, C., Lawlor, B., 2003. Alcohol use disorders in elderly people: redefining an age old problem in old age. Br. Med. J. 327 (7416), 664-667. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327.7416.664.
- Okabayashi, H., Liang, J., Krause, N., Akiyama, H., Sugisawa, H., 2004. Mental health among older adults in Japan: Do sources of social support and negative interaction make a difference? Soc. Sci. Med. 59 (11), 2259-2270.
- Okun, M.A., Lockwood, C.M., 2003. Does level of assessment moderate the relation between social support and social negativity? A meta-analysis. Basic Appl. Soc. Psychol. 25, 15-35.
- Olsson, I., Mykletun, A., Dahl, A.A., 2005. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Rating Scale: a cross-sectional study of psychometrics and case finding abilities in general practice. BMC Psychiatry 5, 46.
- Pettit, J.W., Roberts, R.E., Lewinsohn, P.M., Seeley, J.R., Yaroslavsky, I., 2011. Developmental relations between social support and depressive symptoms through emerging adulthood: blood is thicker than water. J. Fam. Psychol. 25 (1), 127–136.
- Priebe, S., Burns, T., Craig, T.K.J., 2013. The future of academic psychiatry may be social. Br. J. Psychiatry 202, 319-320.
- Prince, M.J., Reischies, F., Beekman, A.T., Fuhrer, R., Jonker, C., Kivela, S.L., Copeland, J.R., 1999. Development of the EURO-D scale - a European Union initiative to compare symptoms of depression in 14 European centres. Br. J. Psychiatry 174, 330-338
- Radloff, L.S., 1977. The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Appl. Psychol. Meas. 1, 385-401.
- Rechel, B., Doyle, Y., Grundy, E., McKee, M., 2009. How can health systems respond to population ageing?. WHO, Copenhagen, DK.
- Robles, T.F., Slatcher, R.B., Trombello, J.M., McGinn, M.M., 2014. Marital quality and health: a meta-analytic review. Psychol. Bull. 140 (1), 140-187. http://dx.doi. org/10.1037/a0031859.
- Rook, K., 1984. The negative side of social interaction: impact on psychological well-being. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 46 (5), 1097-1108.
- Rook, K., 1990. Stressful aspects of older adults' social relationships: current theory and research. In: Stephens, M.A.P., Crowther, J.H., Hobfoll, S.E., Tennenbaum, D.L. (Eds.), Stress and Coping in Later-Life Families. Hemisphere, New York, NY, pp. 173-192.
- Rosenquist, J.N., Fowler, J.H., Christakis, N.A., 2011. Social network determinants of depression. Mol. Psychiatry 16, 273–281.
- Sareen, J., Cox, B.J., Afifi, T.O., de Graaf, R., Asmundson, G.J.G., ten Have, M., Stein, M.B., 2005a. Anxiety disorders and risk for suicidal ideation and suicide attempts: a population-based longitudinal study of adults. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 1249-1257.
- Sareen, J., Houlahan, T., Cox, B.J., Asmundson, G.J.G., 2005b. Anxiety disorders associated with suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey, J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 193 (7), 450–454. Schuster, T.L., Kessler, R.C., Aseltine, R.H., 1990. Supportive interactions, negative
- interactions, and depressed mood. Am. J. Community Psychol. 18, 423–438. Sicotte, M., Alvarado, B.E., Leon, E.M., Zunzunegui, M.V., 2008. Social networks and
- depressive symptoms among elderly women and men in Havana, Cuba. Aging
- Ment. Health 12 (2), 193–201. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607860701616358. Smith, K.P., Christakis, N.A., 2008. Social networks and health. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 34, 405-439
- Sonnenberg, C.M., Deeg, D.J., van Tilburg, T.G., Vink, D., Stek, M.L., Beekman, A.T., 2013. Gender differences in the relation between depression and social support in later life. Int. Psychogeriatr. 25 (1), 61-70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/ s1041610212001202.
- Steger, M.F., Kashdan, T.B., 2009. Depression and everyday social activity, belonging, and well-being. J. Couns. Psychol. 56 (2), 289-300.
- Steinbauer, J.R., Cantor, S.B., Holzer, C.E. r., Volk, R. J, 1998. Ethnic and sex bias in primary care screening tests for alcohol use disorders. Ann. Intern. Med. 129, 353-362
- Teo, A.R., Choi, H., Valenstein, M., 2013. Social relationships and depression: tenyear follow-up from a nationally representative study. PloS ONE 8 (4), 1-8.
- Thekiso, T.B., Heron, E.A., Masood, B., Murphy, M., McLoughlin, D.M., Kennedy, N., 2013. Mauling of the "Celtic Tiger": clinical characteristics and outcome of first-episode depression secondary to the economic recession in Ireland. J. Affect. Disord. 151 (2), 455-460. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.06.024.
- Tiedt, A.D., 2010. The gender gap in depressive symptoms among Japanese elders: evaluating social support and health as mediating factors. J. Cross-Cult. Gerontol. 25 (3), 239-256. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10823-010-9122-x
- Triñanes, Y., González-Villar, A., Gómez-Perretta, C., Carrillo-de-la-Peña, M.T., 2014. Suicidality in chronic pain: predictors of suicidal ideation in Fibromyalgia. Pain Pract.
- Tsai, Y.F., Yeh, S.H., Tsai, H.H., 2005. Prevalence and risk factors for depressive symptoms among community-dwelling elders in Taiwan. Int. J. Geriatr. Psy-
- chiatry 20 (11), 1097-1102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.1413. Uchino, B.N., 2009. Understanding the links between social support and physical
- health: a lifespan perspective with emphasis on the seperability of perceived and received support. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 4, 236-255
- Vink, D., Aartsen, M.J., Schoevers, R.A., 2008. Risk factors for anxiety and depression in the elderly: a review. J. Affect. Disord. 106, 29-44.

- Weaver, A.J., Koenig, H.G., 1996. Elderly suicide, mental health professionals, and the clergy: a need for clinical collaboration, training, and research. Death Stud. 20 (5), 495–508. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07481189608252757.
  Whelan, B., Savva, G.M., 2013. Design and methodology of the Irish longitudinal
- study on ageing. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 61 (Suppl. 2), S265–268.

WHO, 2014. Preventing Suicide: A Global Imperative. World Health Organization Press, Geneva, CH.Williamson, G.M., Shaffer, D.R., 2001. Relationship quality and potentially harmful

Williamson, G.M., Shaffer, D.R., 2001. Relationship quality and potentially harmful behaviors by spousal caregivers: how we were then, how we are now. The Family Relationships in Late Life Project. Psychol. Aging 16 (2), 217–226.

Chapter 4: General discussion

# **Strengths and limitations**

Before moving on to a general discussion of each paper and their broader implications, the most important strengths and limitations of the studies will be discussed briefly here. For the more in-depth discussions, please refer to the respective journal article included in the 'methods and results' section.

## Paper I: Systematic literature review

To our knowledge, our systematic review is the first to assess the literature documenting associations between social support networks and depression in the general population. Although our review provides some important insights into findings from a decade of research, a number of limitations should be born in mind.

First, as all included studies were based on survey databases, reporting bias may exist. This could mean that individuals may not accurately recollect information, or they may purposefully provide inaccurate information due to stigma, personal boundaries or the like. Also, perceptions of support could appear to be a risk factor for depression, but this could also be attributed to the tendency of individuals with depression to form rather cynical and pessimistic perceptions of the reality of their social surroundings, and thus, support may not actually be lacking. Second, reverse causality may exist between depression and social support networks, where people with depression may be less likely to engage in social activities or seek social support. This is a limitation of particular importance in the context of cross-sectional studies, as prospective studies are less likely to be affected by this type of bias.

Third, due to the large number of studies available in the domain of interest, only studies from peer-reviewed journals were included. Publication bias and the fact that 'gray literature' (i.e. papers published in databases that are not controlled by academic publishers) were not included in our review may have limited our findings. One should also note that our emphasis on studies assessing the influence of social relationships in populations-based samples did not allow for the inclusion of qualitative studies. Although qualitative studies are less able to address how one variable influences another, they can be useful in terms of offering explanations of psychosocial phenomena that are often not accessible through quantitative research. Finally, given that our review included studies from a wide range of cultural and national contexts, cultural differences

## Ziggi Ivan Santini

may exist and have implications for how findings should be interpreted (e.g. differences in social support seeking in individualistic as opposed to collectivistic cultures). However, the articles included in our review generally focused on one particular population, and we did not come across any studies drawing particularly insightful conclusions regarding culture differences.

## Paper II: Prospective study

The strengths of our study on social network types and mortality include the use of a large, population-based sample with over 50,000 person-years of follow-up. To our knowledge, this is the first multi-country study using standardized questionnaires to assess the direct impact of social networks on survival across a wide range of cultures in developing countries. However, some limitations deserve mentioning.

First, our findings may not be generalized beyond the particular catchment areas sites where the study was carried out, and should not be taken to refer to the respective countries as a whole, or urban or rural settings in general within them. Second, social networks were assessed at baseline in late life, with no in-formation regarding either exposures earlier in the life course, or subsequent changes in social networks. These may have been affected by the onset of disability or care dependence, which may have limited access to friends outside of the household, and increased dependence upon family. Third, there were some differences in the distributions of social network types at baseline between those who were and were not part of the second survey. Thus, some level of bias may have been introduced due to these differences. Furthermore, there were some potential confounders, such as personality type, that we could not adjust for due to lack of data.

Fourth, area-level contextual variables such as social capital, or neighborhood crime and violence (as indicators of social disintegration) may be important determinants of mortality risk independent of individual social network exposures, but our catchment area study design precluded the examination of these effects due to restricted area-level variance. Fifth, as the survey was based on self-report data, report-bias is an issue that could affect the reliability of some variables and ultimately the results. Finally, the Wenger's social network construct and accompanying assessment tool, originally developed as having meaning, relevance and predictive validity for older people living in North Wales, has not been formally validated in our study setting.

# Paper III: Cross-sectional study

The strengths of our cross-sectional study include the use of data from a large nationallyrepresentative sample of the Irish population, and a range of validated scales to assess mental disorders. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study examining the associations of social network integration and both positive and negative aspects of relationship quality with mental disorder specifically among older adults in Ireland, and one of the few conducted with European population-based samples. In addition, the study is the first of its kind to assess associations between positive and negative partner interactions and suicidal ideation. Nevertheless, a number of limitations should be considered.

First, these findings were based on cross-sectional data, which precludes the possibility to make firm conclusions about directions of causality. For example, poorer relationship quality could be the result of depression and not the cause of depression. Second, since the data were based on self-report, reporting bias may exist. For example, some may have been reluctant to disclose harmful alcohol use due to social non-acceptance. Recall bias may also have affected reports of things such as the occurrence of stressful life events. Of particular importance to this study is the issue of 'common methods variance', where self-report data pertaining to both predictor and outcome variables can result in an inflation of associations to some extent. Cross-sectional studies are particularly vulnerable to this type of bias. Last, residual confounding may exist due to potential confounders that we could not adjust for due to lack of data. For example, some relevant information regarding possible confounders such as personality type or intimate partner violence were not included in the survey.

# Social relationships in the context of psychiatric epidemiology

## Methodological issues in social support and network research

Our literature review indicated that several methodological issues could be raised in terms of research in the context of the broader social network and social support literature. First, many studies have tended to utilize only a limited set of measures relating to social support or networks. However, as we have demonstrated, many different measures of social support networks exist, such as perceived and received social support (emotional and instrumental), social network integration (size, frequency, source, centrality, transitivity, type), and social isolation (objective and perceived). Therefore, utilizing only a limited number of measures in an isolated manner runs the risk of other similarly important measures not being taken into account, thereby generating results that are not sufficiently comprehensive. Naturally, this can sometimes be attributed to a limited capacity in large epidemiological surveys, that require some prioritization of the content of questionnaires due to time-constraints and other resource-limitations. Nevertheless, the quantity of social networks can be very different from the quality of social networks, and perceptions of support can be different from enacted support. By extension, the utility of these measures due to such differences can sometimes produce inconsistent or conflicting results pertaining to mental health outcomes. There is a need to construct measures for population-based data that comprehensively include the various aspects of social support networks. Such measures could be constructed as a scale, which could then also be separated into sub-dimensions, thereby making it possible to explore each factor separately from the others. Alternatively, structural equation modeling techniques offer possibilities for taking various factors into account at the same time, although this naturally also requires that the necessary information exists in the dataset in the first place.

Second, it is common that studies in the social network and support literature only take into account positive aspects of social support, while the negative aspects are not represented. However, only positive aspects of support within social ties do not paint a complete picture of the quality of relationships. For example, frequent supportive behaviors from a person is not the same as few negative interactions exerted by that same individual. Similarly, a relationship may be characterized by inconsistent interpersonal behaviors from the same person, fluctuating between high levels of support to high levels of strain.

## Ziggi Ivan Santini

Third, the social support literature is scarce in terms of utilizing measures relating to the provision of social support rather than only focusing on the receipt of the same. This trend exists despite important differences reported in the dynamics between support provision and support receipt (Abbey, Andrews, & Halman, 1995; Fiori & Denckla, 2012; Mickelson, Helgeson, & Weiner, 1995). It is perhaps intuitive to assume that being on the receiving end of social support is the key player that affects health. However, it is also likely that *providing* social support has an equally important role to play in health, as indicated by a number of prospective studies reporting protective properties of support provision or helping behaviors against mortality (Brown, Nesse, Vinokur, & Smith, 2003; Lum & Lightfoot, 2005; Okun, Yeung, & Brown, 2013; Poulin, Brown, Dillard, & Smith, 2013). One prospective study demonstrated that altruistic and supportive behaviors towards others were associated with 38% less time spent in hospitals (Kim & Konrath, 2016). Other studies have reported significant associations between engaging in pro-social behavior and positive affect or reduced anxiety-symptoms (Dunn, Aknin, & Norton, 2008; Gallup, 2016; Lum & Lightfoot, 2005; Nelson, Layous, Cole, & Lyubomirsky, 2016; Trew & Alden, 2015). Thus, there appears to be a need for increased prioritization of specifically support provision in the area of social support networks and their implications for health and wellbeing.

Fourth, we have explored the different types of data available for investigations into social support networks. The vast majority of epidemiological studies are based on ego-centric network data, which does not include information about who is connected to whom in the dataset. The only exception (to our knowledge) is the Framingham Heart Study, which has been used for socio-centric data purposes. Socio-centric network data offers a wealth of opportunities for understanding network dynamics and their implications for health that cannot be discovered with ego-centric network data (Christakis & Fowler, 2011; Smith & Christakis, 2008). Unfortunately, socio-centric network data is rare, particularly in the field of large-scale epidemiological research, as well as researchers who have the skills and expertise to work with such data. There is a need for more socio-centric data in epidemiological surveys, and more attention given to social network analysis in higher learning, particularly the health sciences.

## Social support networks and implications for mental health

In terms of associations between social support networks and depression, our primary conclusions were that perceived social support and larger, diverse social networks were protective against depression in the general population. These associations were reported in a number of highquality cross-sectional as well as prospective studies. Other studies included in our review found that being socially isolated was particularly detrimental in terms of outcomes on depression. Similar findings have been reported in previous reviews and research articles relating to objective as well as perceived social isolation (i.e. loneliness) and their associated elevated risk for depression (Cacioppo, Hawkley, & Thisted, 2010), cognitive decline (Kuiper et al., 2016; Shankar, Hamer, McMunn, & Steptoe, 2013), and dementia (Kuiper et al., 2015). Thus, being objectively or subjectively socially isolated emerge as important risk factors for mental and neurological disorders. At the opposite end of the spectrum, a few words may also be said about outcomes relating to positive psychology. Research has reported that greater social integration and social participation predicts trust towards others (Glanville, Andersson, & Paxton, 2013), happiness and life-satisfaction (Lei, Shen, Smith, & Zhou, 2015; Litwin & Shiovitz-Ezra, 2011; Olsson, McGee, Nada-Raja, & Williams, 2013). Thus, a growing body of research suggests that being well integrated into social support networks is protective against a number of outcomes pertaining to mental disorders or neurological decline, and also appears to promote better mental health in terms of psychological and social well-being.

## Social support networks and implications for gender

Our literature review suggested that some gender differences exist in the association between social support networks and depression. Particularly (but not exclusively) women appear to be sensitive to levels of social support, and may experience more detrimental consequences to mental health when support is lacking. However, this does not mean that men do not need support. Rather, the social support literature indicates that specifically spousal relationships appear to be more central to the emotional well-being of men than women (Dykstra & de Jong Gierveld, 2004). A number of studies have reported that whereas women tend to seek support from an often wider circle of friends (Antonucci & Akiyama, 1987; Haines & Hurlbert, 1992), men are less likely to have a close confiding relationship with someone other than an intimate partner (Umberson, Wortman, & Kessler, 1992; van Grootheest, Beekman, Broese van Groenou, & Deeg, 1999), and therefore tend to draw more heavily on their spouses or partners for emotional support (Gurung, Taylor, & Seeman, 2003; Schwarzer & Gutiérrez-Doña, 2005).

A number of research findings have demonstrated dyadic relationships can have very significant implications for health and behavior. The literature suggests that this is the case especially for men in intimate relationships, and appear to give at least some credence to the expression that *behind every successful man is a woman*. For example, recent research relating to spousal relationships and marital satisfaction indicates that specifically men's life satisfaction is contingent on the marital appraisal of his spouse (but not vice versa), suggesting somehow that her happiness appears to be a prerequisite for his happiness (Carr, Freedman, Cornman, & Schwarz, 2014). Similarly, other research has found that husbands' blood pressure is particularly sensitive to the level of stress experienced by wives, while the effect in the opposite direction is much less pronounced (Birditt, Newton, Cranford, & Ryan, 2015). The findings seem to imply that women who are stressed or dissatisfied with the relationship may, as a result, be less likely to offer support, which in turn affects the emotional and physical wellbeing of their male counterparts.

The influence of women on their spouses may even spill over to the work settings, as one study demonstrated that the occupational success of men is influenced by the behavioral and supportive traits of their wife (Solomon & Jackson, 2014). Finally, there is evidence to suggest that although dependence on wives for emotional support is important for husband's psychological wellbeing, other forms of dependence appear to be associated with rather unfavorable outcomes. For example, studies have shown that women who are more dominant in terms of control over economic or social resources may exert some kind of masculinity threat, which in turn affects the health or behavior in men, such as increased risk of engaging in infidelity (Munsch, 2015) or experiencing erectile dysfunction (Cornwell & Laumann, 2011). These studies all highlight the importance of examining social relationships, and how one person can influence the health, attitudes, behavior, and wellbeing of someone the person is closely connected to.

# Social network types and mortality

## Social network integration as a need for survival

Our study on social networks and mortality demonstrated that survival time is significantly reduced in individuals embedded in restricted social networks as compared to those in the most integrated and diverse social network types. These results remained significant after controlling for socio-demographics, health indicators, disability, depression, and dementia. Our findings are in line with other previous research documenting the detrimental effects of restricted social networks and social isolation in terms of survival time (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010; Nyqvist et al., 2014; Steptoe, Shankar, Demakakos, & Wardle, 2013), physical health (Luanaigh & Lawlor, 2008; Luo et al., 2012; Valtorta, Kanaan, Gilbody, Ronzi, & Hanratty, 2016), pain tolerance (Johnson & Dunbar, 2016), health-risk behaviors (Shankar, McMunn, Banks, & Steptoe, 2011; Shiovitz-Ezra & Litwin, 2012), adherence to medical treatment (DiMatteo, 2004), living conditions (York Cornwell & Cagney, 2014), and a number of biological health indicators (Shankar et al., 2011). More recently, Holt-Lunstad, Smith, Baker, Harris, and Stephenson (2015) performed yet another meta-analytic review which reported that social isolation, loneliness, and living alone were associated with a corresponding 29%, 26%, and 32% increased likelihood of mortality, respectively. They conclude that both subjective and objective social isolation is comparable to established risk factors for mortality. Other studies have arrived at similar conclusions regarding the comparability of social isolation to other well-documented risk factors for reduced survival time (Pantell et al., 2013).

These findings together demonstrate that social interaction and embeddedness in social support networks are fundamentally important as a means for health and survival. However, human social connectedness has not historically been given the attention it deserves from the medical profession. Several decades ago, high mortality rates were observed among infants in orphanages, even when controlling for clinical conditions and medical treatment. Some researchers discovered that the defining factor predicting death among those infants was the lack of social interaction and physical contact. The medical profession was shocked to learn that without social interaction, infants would die (Bowlby, 1951; Provence & Lipton, 1962; Spitz, 1945). This finding is a prime example of a historical tendency in medicine to under-estimate the power of social influence due to an assumption that genetic or biological factors are more essential to consider for health

# Ziggi Ivan Santini

outcomes. This is not to say that a biological approach is not important or necessary. In fact, some important considerations regarding the role of genetics will be introduced briefly later in the discussion. Nevertheless, the point here is that evidence continues to accumulate and suggest that social context factors deserve a lot more attention from the medical profession and public health disciplines than it has conventionally received. Importantly, a key research study recently demonstrated that the dominant disease-centered medical model used to predict mortality/incapacity actively ignores many relevant domains (McClintock, Dale, Laumann, & Waite, 2016). The authors show that a more comprehensive model of health is warranted, where specifically loneliness should be included as one of the main indicators to be taken into account when defining vulnerable health classes.

Our results have added to the literature and complemented findings from high-income countries that have shown that restricted social network types are significant predictors of reduced survival in older adults (Fiori, Antonucci, & Akiyama, 2008; Giles, Glonek, Luszcz, & Andrews, 2005; Keller, Magnuson, Cernin, Stoner, & Potter, 2003; Litwin & Shiovitz-Ezra, 2006). Further, there is evidence to suggest that social network typology assessment can be used as a practical tool to benefit gerontological social work and health care services (Wenger & Tucker, 2002). Thus, there is a large and growing evidence-base pointing to the notion that structural and functional properties of social relationships deserve more consideration in public health agendas, and that implementing methods to identify vulnerability based on social network integration could enhance gerontological practice and social care.

## Social networks in the developing country context

In our survival analysis, we were also able to compare our findings to those conducted in different socio-economic settings. That is, comparing our results to those from high-income countries, the associated risk of reduced survival time among those embedded in restricted networks was relatively stronger. This is important because it suggests that individuals in country-settings with less developed social welfare systems may rely even more on their social networks for support, and consequently experience a more pronounced associated risk of reduced survival when social networks are restricted. Conversely, being embedded in good and diverse social support networks can have a more pronounced meaning in the context of limited social and health

infra-structures that do not have the sufficient resources to fully meet the demands for formal care (Fuhr et al., 2014). This means that for vulnerable individuals in limited resource-settings, it may be possible to harness information about social support networks and thereby promote health using a less resource-demanding approach than conventional public health strategies and interventions would otherwise require.

This concept becomes increasingly relevant as information technology and online social media use becomes more and more commonplace globally. For example, in spite of economic constraints, internet and mobile technology have increasingly become part everyday life in the world's emerging and developing economies (PRC, 2014). China is still a middle-income country, yet they have the highest population of smartphone users across all economies. India ranks lower than China in terms of the economic condition, yet it occupies the third rank in smartphone usage across the globe (eMarketer, 2014). It has been projected that the global number of smartphone users will increase from 2.6 billion today to 6.1 billion by 2020. Further, this increase will primarily be led by a huge growth in developing economies (Ericsson, 2016). Importantly, once people gain access to the internet via smartphones, they quickly begin to integrate it into their lives and engage in online social networking (PRC, 2014). Thus, communication technologies and online social network platforms may be used as tools in public health strategies to derive social and behavioral information for clinical use (Onnela & Rauch, 2016; Torous, Staples, & Onnela, 2015), and to facilitate social connectedness in order to reduce mental disorder and unhealthy behaviors in a population (Laranjo et al., 2015; Maher et al., 2014; Rice et al., 2014). This could potentially be an effective and low-cost approach to promoting health and wellbeing among otherwise socially vulnerable individuals in limited resource settings. Such an approach is essential to consider especially given that a third of the global burden of disability attributable to mental, neurological, and substance use disorders are found in China and India, a number greater than all developed countries combined (Charlson, Baxter, Cheng, Shidhaye, & Whiteford, 2016). Critically, only about 10 percent or less of people in China and India with a mental disorder receive effective psychiatric treatment for their condition (Patel et al., 2016; Thirthalli et al., 2016). Thus, if mobile technology and online social networks can be taken advantage of to address these imminent health issues, it is very much worth considering.

## Social support networks and their association with mental disorders

## Mental health in dyadic intimate relationships

In our cross-sectional study, we assessed associations between social support networks and three mental health outcomes among older married couples in Ireland. For this paper, we chose to focus specifically on spouses because marriage is the central relationship for most adults (Robles & Kiecolt-Glaser, 2003), and we were interested in investigating the association between social support networks and mental disorders within dyadic intimate relationships. A common finding in the broader social network and support literature is that marriage is good for health in general and plays a fundamental role in terms of longevity and even physiological function (Christakis & Fowler, 2011). For example, it has been demonstrated that on average, being married adds approximately seven years to a man's life and two years to a woman's life (Waite, 1995). Investigations into the links between marriage, bereavement, and death have shown that entering into marriage is associated with a sharp and substantial decrease in the risk of death (considerably more pronounced for men than for women), and subsequently a sharp increase in mortality risk mainly during the first 6-12 months after a spouse's death (also a much more pronounced association for men) (Young, Benjamin, & Wallis, 1963).

Interesting phenomena also occur in the time between couples enter into marriage and the point of bereavement. A large body of research has consistently linked marriage and positive health outcomes, and identified a typical trend where couples often have similar or concordant health statuses (Hoppmann & Gerstorf, 2014; Meyler, Stimpson, & Peek, 2007). Recent research has shown that as people age in relationships, they continuously become more and more like their partners, with their health becoming linked to each other over time. One 14.5 years long prospective study following the health trajectories of older long-term married couples found that levels and changes of both functional limitations and depressive symptoms are closely interrelated between spouses, implying that couples' health appears to change, for better or for worse, in sync (Hoppmann, Gerstorf, & Hibbert, 2011). Other studies have found similar interrelations between intimate partners in terms of happiness (Hoppmann, Gerstorf, Willis, & Schaie, 2011), cognitive functioning (Gerstorf, Hoppmann, Anstey, & Luszcz, 2009), memory and depression (Gerstorf, Hoppmann, Kadlec, & McArdle, 2009).

Hoppmann, Gerstorf, and Hibbert (2011) further found that the between-person associations crossed over from the mental to the physical, which indicates that a person's psychological health has an impact on the spouse's physical functioning, and vice versa. Similarly, another prospective study found that having a more optimistic spouse predicted better self-rated health, physical functioning, and fewer chronic illnesses (Kim, Chopik, & Smith, 2014). Most recently, Mejía, Gonzalez, and Smith (2015) investigated married couples who were together for several decades in order to examine partner similarity in a set of key predictors of mortality. They found striking patterns of concordance between spouses in terms of biomarkers and functional health indicators, specifically kidney function, total cholesterol level, and grip strength. According to the authors, long-term couples "co-create" their health over time as they spend their lives together, which ultimately promotes biological similarities and leads both individuals toward a parallel-like health trajectory. These studies demonstrate the unique role of intimate partners in predicting health, and that both the physical and mental health of older adults in intimate relationships are related to their spouses in a bi-directional manner.

In terms of being separated from an intimate partner, research investigating neurological responses to the breakup of long-term intimate relationships have found that the human brain appears to process relationship breakups similarly to sensations of physical pain (Eisenberger, 2015; Kross, Berman, Mischel, Smith, & Wager, 2011). Other research has reported that intimate and romantic relationships involve brain activity patterns of motivation, reward, and euphoria similar to those seen in drug addiction (Acevedo, Aron, Fisher, & Brown, 2012; Aron et al., 2005). For this reason, being separated from an intimate partner (such as in the case of a break-up or bereavement) can result in identifiable "withdrawal symptoms" for the lost partner in the form of intense distress and psychological as well as physiological discomfort (Fisher, Brown, Aron, Strong, & Mashek, 2010; Mearns, 1991). All these results appear to give scientific credence to the notions of *'getting the heart broken'* and *'dying from a broken heart'* as phenomena that actually do take place at some form of neurological and physiological level.

In our study, we found that better relationship quality was positively associated with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, while greater social network integration was inversely related to depression. Our results confirm documented benefits of supportive relationships for mental health in general (Thoits, 2011), and complement other recent findings demonstrating that

social support is positively associated with considerable increased likelihood of attaining complete remission from depression (Fuller-Thomson, Agbeyaka, LaFond, & Bern-Klug, 2016). Contrary to our expectation, social network integration did not predict anxiety symptoms and suicidal ideation in our sample. Other studies have found limited evidence for associations between social networks and anxiety, and seem to suggest that anxiety and phobic disorders, along with their somatic symptoms, appear to be somewhat less sensitive to structural social network factors (Beekman et al., 1998; Lindesay, 1991). Rather, they may be more related to certain vulnerability factors, such as family history or traumatic events, which also may be the case for suicidal ideation (Panagioti, Gooding, & Tarrier, 2009).

It may be that social networks are more likely to exert indirect effects in associations between vulnerability factors and anxiety or suicidal ideation. For example, stressful life events, such as rejection from peers, may facilitate social isolation and withdrawal, which in turn may result in social phobia or exacerbate symptoms of anxiety (Ollendick & Hirshfeld-Becker, 2002). Further, recent research has reported surprisingly high heritability of the long-term risk of developing social anxiety symptoms, implying that genes may play a particularly significant role in anxiety disorders (Torvik et al., 2016). Further, the lack of a significant association between social network integration and suicidal ideation may be a result of assessing associations independent from depression, as co-morbid depression has important implications for suicide and suicidal ideation (Panagioti et al., 2009). However, our results confirmed our expectation that relationship quality would be associated with anxiety and suicidal ideation. This suggests that the quality of interpersonal relationships within intimate social ties plays an important role in terms of various aspects of mental health, and may be more essential in regards to anxiety than structural aspects of social networks.

## Social negativity and mental health

We found some indication that negative interactions (social strain) have a stronger effect on mental health outcomes than was the case for positive interactions (emotional support). The term 'negativity effect' has been used to explain findings where negative interactions tend to exert stronger effects than positive interactions on mental and physical health outcomes (Baumeister, Bratslavsky, Finkenauer, & Vohs, 2001; Rook, 1984). It has been suggested that positive interactions may be protective specifically in times of crisis or acute need of support, while negative interactions universally contribute to feelings of strain and psychological distress, regardless of a person's living situation or experience of traumatic events (Rook, 1984). Previous research appears to confirm that while supportive behaviors generally are associated with favorable psychological outcomes, negative social interactions with social ties are particularly detrimental to mental health (Bertera, 2005; Ford, Clark, & Stansfeld, 2011; Ha, 2010; Leung, Chen, Lue, & Hsu, 2007; Stafford, McMunn, Zaninotto, & Nazroo, 2011; Teo, Choi, & Valenstein, 2013), social wellbeing (Stokes, 2016), physical health (Birditt et al., 2015; Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 2005; Liu & Waite, 2014; Robles & Kiecolt-Glaser, 2003), as well as being strongly linked to mistreatment and harmful behaviors (Luo & Waite, 2011). Further, a number of studies have demonstrated that specifically marital strain accelerates the normal decline in health as people age, and that its adverse effect is greater at older ages (Liu & Waite, 2014; Umberson, Williams, Powers, Liu, & Needham, 2006). This may partly be due to the effect of negative interactions as a stressor to the cardiovascular and immune systems, which become especially critical in the transition to older adulthood.

Social negativity and social strain are detrimental environmental conditions at all ages, and more intense forms have been shown to have serious deleterious effects on mental health when occurring throughout the developmental stages of childhood and adolescence. These effects can persist well into adulthood and tend to accumulate over time. For example, a number of studies have demonstrated that both frequent and occasional bullying from social ties during childhood are strongly associated with depression, anxiety, psychological distress, suicidal thoughts, and psychosis later in life (Lereya, Copeland, Costello, & Wolke, 2015; Takizawa, Maughan, & Arseneault, 2014; Varese et al., 2012). The results of these studies further reveal that the magnitude of these effects are similar to that of being placed in public care, experiencing childhood maltreatment, or experiencing multiple childhood adversities. Another study has reported even more pronounced effects of bullying from specifically kin relationships (siblings) on outcomes of depression, anxiety, and self-harm in late adolescence (Bowes, Wolke, Joinson, Lereya, & Lewis, 2014).

Bullying and other forms of social negativity can be considered types of socialpsychological strain, which has only recently been shown to be associated with considerable adverse metal health outcomes similar to other well-established social risk factors. For example, recent studies have shown that childhood psychological abuse (such as emotional neglect or verbal aggression) is significantly associated with a range of psychiatric outcomes later in life, also including psychosis (Spinazzola et al., 2014; Teicher, Samson, Polcari, & McGreenery, 2006; Varese et al., 2012), and dissociative identity disorder (Vissia et al., 2016). Alarmingly, these studies have shown that the magnitude of the effects of psychological abuse is similar or even stronger than the effects of experiencing physical abuse, sexual abuse, or witnessing domestic violence. These results underline the importance of considering the quality of people's psychosocial environment and interpersonal relationships. Our study confirms previous similar findings indicating that basic forms of social strain between intimate partners are significantly associated with adverse mental health outcomes. Therefore, we conclude that especially social strain should be prioritized in public mental health strategies.

## **Implications for public health research and interventions**

## Social network and support interventions

There are many different ways to intervene in social support networks, for example by improving social skills, enhancing social support, increasing opportunities for social contact, or addressing maladaptive social cognition (e.g. therapeutic interventions aimed at altering thought processes related to social interaction) (Heaney & Israel, 2008; Masi, Chen, Hawkley, & Cacioppo, 2011). A meta-analysis covering 30 social network interventions designed to reduce social isolation and loneliness among older adults found that educational and social activity group interventions were effective, whereas the effectiveness of home visiting and befriending schemes remained unclear (Cattan, White, Bond, & Learmouth, 2005). In terms of reducing loneliness specifically, Masi et al. (2011) conducted a meta-analysis across 50 intervention studies and found a larger effect size for interventions that addressed maladaptive social cognition than for interventions designed to improve social skills, enhance support, or increase opportunities for social interaction. This finding underscores that being objectively socially isolated can be distinct from perceiving to be social isolated (i.e. feeling lonely), and interventions may therefore be designed differently depending on whether they intend to enhance social network structure and function, or to reduce perceptions of social isolation. In terms of mental health outcomes, systematic reviews have provided some evidence that interventions to facilitate psychosocial supports, as compared to standard mental health care or controls, have beneficial effects on psychiatric outcomes, such as depression (Forsman, Schierenbeck, & Wahlbeck, 2011), anxiety (Tol et al., 2011), or severe mental illness (Fuhr et al., 2014). Thus, the literature does provide some documentation as to how it is possible to intervene effectively in social support networks, and also how this may be done as a means to promote mental health. There are several reasons why intervening in social support networks is worthwhile to consider as a sustainable strategy to public mental health. These are discussed below.

## Problems associated with pharmacological or psychotherapeutic approaches to health

Social support and network interventions have several important implications for public health planning and intervention strategies. First and foremost, social network interventions constitute a non-pharmacological approach to public health. This is important because a growing
body of research continues to document the vast and diverse negative health outcomes associated with particularly psychiatric drugs. One survey investigating the adverse effects of antidepressants revealed that these effects appear to be much more frequent than previously thought, and that the association between antidepressant use and adverse effects exists independent of the level of depression before the initiation of pharmacological treatment. Between 40-60% of recipients of antidepressants report sexual difficulties, emotional numbness, reduction in positive feelings, caring less about others, suicidality, drug withdrawal effects, and not feeling like oneself (Read, Cartwright, & Gibson, 2014).

Studies have reported significant associations between use of antidepressants and longterm weight gain (Arterburn et al., 2016), risk for subsequent bipolar and manic disorders (Patel et al., 2015), and that antidepressants used in combination with common painkillers increases the risk of intracranial hemorrhage (Shin et al., 2015). Some recent studies have shown that antidepressant use (specifically in children and teenagers) is largely ineffective as a treatment option (Cipriani et al., 2016; Ma, Zhang, Zhang, & Li, 2014), and considerably increases the risk of aggression, self-harm or suicide (Le Noury et al., 2015; Sharma, Guski, Freund, & Gotzsche, 2016). Similarly, other research has demonstrated the effectiveness of antidepressants in adults to be rather limited, with only a modest significant effect for those suffering from severe depression, while the magnitude of benefit in those with mild or moderate depression was minimal or nonexistent (Fournier et al., 2010).

There is also evidence to suggest that common psychiatric drugs prescribed for anxiety disorders or sleep problems are associated with considerable increased risks for developing dementia (Billioti de Gage et al., 2012; Billioti de Gage et al., 2014; Lagnaoui et al., 2002) and overdose mortality (Bachhuber, Hennessy, Cunningham, & Starrels, 2016). Further, a systematic review recently found considerable increased risk of heart attack associated with anti-psychotic drug use (Yu et al., 2016). Thus, seeking to address mental disorders with a pharmacological approach may not always be an effective solution, while at the same time running the risk of exposing vulnerable individuals to various side-effects and adverse health outcomes.

Finally, psychotherapy is widely accepted as the ideal alternative to pharmacotherapy for mental disorders. However, it is important to consider that although psychotherapeutic approaches can be effective (Cuijpers, Donker, Weissman, Ravitz, & Cristea, 2016; Woelbert, 2015), they

tend to be expensive (whether funded publically or privately), characterized by limited availability (e.g. limited to one session per week), often not easily accessed (e.g. may be subject to a waiting list), and can also sometimes result in adverse outcomes and worsening of symptoms (Crawford et al., 2016).

#### Potential advantages of social network interventions

Social support and network interventions certainly constitute a non-pharmacological approach to mental health and wellbeing. The evidence shows that having a large social network with supportive relationships is predictive of a range of favorable physical and mental health outcomes. However, not all people are equally fortunate when it comes to having social support networks, and this has implications for health. As mentioned previously, social isolation has been reported to be a predictor of mortality similar to other well-documented clinical risk factors in terms of associated risk (e.g. being obese or an alcoholic) (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010; Pantell et al., 2013). However, while other common risk factors are irreversible or at least not easily reversed (such as in the case of obesity or substance use disorders), it is in fact very tangible to intervene in people's social networks generally increase in size early in life, and subsequently tend to decrease in size as people begin to focus selectively on a core set of long-term relationships (English & Carstensen, 2014; Marsden, 1987). This means that people's embeddedness in social support networks can be assessed in early adulthood, well before the transition into older ages where many adverse health conditions begin to develop.

It is also worthwhile to consider that a person's social support networks can be a readily available resource in the absence of formal mental health and social care services. This is especially relevant as health systems in most economic settings are faced with significant financial constraints, with about 35-50% of people in developed countries and more than 75% of people in the developing world receiving no treatment for mental disorders (Demyttenaere et al., 2004). Contrary to formal mental health and social services that may not be available or affordable, people generally provide support to their social ties free of charge and may do so rather frequently. Once a close relationship between two people is established, these two people may benefit from receiving each other's support as long as the relationship persist. Further, the more close social

ties a person has, the more the person can benefit from the social support these connections offer (naturally, there is also an upper limit to the amount of close social ties a person can have). Although public health interventions designed to improve social support networks would require some monetary investment, the fact remains that if lasting supportive relationships can be facilitated between individuals, there should be virtually no costs related to maintaining the relationship. This is not the case for formal health and social services, which often require sustained financial resources over a long-term period.

Another thing to consider is that both having good social support networks and providing support or engaging in pro-social behavior are associated with beneficial physical and mental health outcomes (Kim & Konrath, 2016; Lum & Lightfoot, 2005; Smith & Christakis, 2008; Thoits, 2011; Trew & Alden, 2015). Thus, effective interventions to improve social support networks could very well have the double impact, in the sense that two parties may benefit: the support recipient and the support provider. Conventional health interventions generally target a particular population of vulnerable individuals. Interventions to improve social support networks would technically target socially isolated individuals or those having poor social relationships. However, given that such interventions would involve the expansion of social support networks or the facilitation of supportive behaviors from social ties, they would automatically come to affect those connections as well. In others words, every time an individual is subject to improved social support, there must also be at least one other individual who provides the social support, and this may benefit both the recipient and providers at the same time. Similar to the way a vaccine not only affects a vaccinated individual, but also the individuals that were not infected as a result (this phenomenon is referred to as a 'positive externality' in health economics), social support interventions have the potential to affect not only individuals that are socially vulnerable, but also those social connections who, as a result of the intervention, will provide support. Thus, social support networks involve an essentially free resource that, with the right intervention, may have spillover effects and benefit more people than just the individual exposed to unfavorable social conditions.

However, the point is not that social support and network interventions should replace formal mental health care services, whether they involve pharmacological or psychotherapeutic treatment. Rather, the point is that it may be possible to benefit from interventions into social support networks as a means to complement or enhance existing formal social and health care services, to possibly prevent, limit or reduce adverse effects resulting from pharmacological treatment, or to address a need where sufficient formal services cannot be delivered due to various financial or structural barriers.

#### The importance of socio-centric approaches to analysis and intervention

Some words should be said about the implications of socio-centric network data in health research. One article included in our systematic review identified a pattern of contagion through social networks, that is, depression spreads through social networks on average up to three degrees of separation (e.g. from one person to the friend of a friend) (Rosenquist, Fowler, & Christakis, 2011). The contagious properties of depressive symptoms through social networks have been confirmed in a previous meta-analysis (Joiner Jr. & Katz, 1999) and subsequently in experimental settings (Barsade, 2002) as well as prospective cohort studies (Haeffel & Hames, 2013). It is not merely that emotional states cluster together among similar individuals in a population, but that particular emotional states, attitudes, or even lifestyle factors can be identified to spread across social networks through time. Network contagion have also been identified to occur with loneliness (Cacioppo, Fowler, & Christakis, 2009), anxiety (Elev et al., 2015), happiness (Fowler & Christakis, 2008), laughter (Provine & Fischer, 1989; Scott et al., 2014), altruistic behavior (Fowler & Christakis, 2010), rudeness (Foulk, Woolum, & Erez, 2016), concentration (Desender, Beurms, & Van den Bussche, 2016), workplace productivity (Bandiera, Barankay, & Rasul, 2010; De Grip & Sauermann, 2012; Falk & Ichino, 2006; Mas & Moretti, 2009), smoking cessation (Christakis & Fowler, 2008), risky behavior (Suzuki, Jensen, Bossaerts, & O'Doherty, 2016), body temperature (Cooper et al., 2014), obesity (Christakis & Fowler, 2007), divorce (McDermott, Fowler, & Christakis, 2013), childbearing and contraceptive use (Bloom, Canning, Günther, & Linnemayr, 2008; Kuziemko, 2006).

Suicide contagion is perhaps the most devastating example to illustrate the power of network influence, operating similarly through the transmission of ideas, behaviors, and norms across social relationships. A large epidemiological study among American adolescents showed that having a friend who took his or her own life increased the likelihood of suicidal ideation about three-fold, and suicide attempt two-fold. The association was further exacerbated by other

structural social network risk factors, such as having fewer friends (more restricted networks), and having a network structure where one's friends are not friends with one another (lower network transitivity) (Bearman & Moody, 2004). Another Swedish population-based study found that men (but not women) were 8.3 times more likely to take their own life if a family member had died by suicide, and 3.5 times more likely if a co-worker had taken his or her life (Hedström et al., 2008). It should be noted that emotional states, thought patterns, or lifestyle factors do not spread evenly across an entire social network, but also depends on factors such as network centrality vs periphery, transitivity, physical proximity, and type of social ties (Christakis & Fowler, 2011), which further underlines the importance of socio-centric network analysis in health research.

This has implications for public health planning and interventions, as it demonstrates that interpersonal health phenomena operate on a larger and more complex scale than conventional strategies, and it offers some novel approaches to health and medical care. For example, a social network perspective demands a rethinking of how interventions are designed given that social contagion depends on how and where someone is located in a network. This point is perhaps best illustrated in the context of sexually transmitted diseases. Sexual networks serve as a particularly good example because having sex with someone is clearly a very deliberate and detectable type of social tie. While for example asking people about their friendships can depend on one's subjective values regarding what constitutes a friendship, a sexual relationship can be said to be a much more tangible measure of a previous or ongoing social interaction. One might say that a sexual relationship is the equivalent to what death is in medicine: an unambiguous end-point. One study used socio-centric network data to investigate the spread of sexually transmitted diseases by reporting and mapping the number of individuals' sexual partners (Liljeros et al., 2001). Importantly, this study showed that the social network had highly active cores, and that safe-sex campaigns would be most effective if aimed at high-activity members rather than just targeted equally across all members of a population.

Contrary to a conventional public health perspective, social network research reveals that structural and functional network factors can sometimes determine risk moreso than individual attributes, i.e. sometimes having more to do with who people know than who people are. In short, the spread of disease depends on the larger patterns of contact and connectedness in the overall network. Without information about individuals' interconnectedness in a population, high or low risk of contagion cannot be determined. For example, in the case of sexually infectious diseases, simple enumeration of numbers of sexual partners per individual cannot yield such insights without actually mapping the networks. Since it has been established that mental states and behaviors have contagious properties through social networks, a similar approach can be used in the area of public health and prevention strategies. Thus, the effectiveness of interventions may be increased by gathering information about how people are socially connected in a population, thereby targeting those most central and likely to exert the most influence and facilitate contagion in a network.

Finally, a social network perspective gives rise to new ways of assessing the effectiveness of interventions. For example, conventional health interventions are mainly focused on the effect of an intervention specifically among those individuals exposed to the intervention. However, since it has been shown that psychological states, emotions, and behaviors can spread though social networks, a network approach to health interventions would emphasize as well the effect of the intervention among those not exposed to the intervention, but nevertheless influenced by the intervention due to network contagion. If it can be assumed that it is possible to design interventions that are effective up to three degrees of separation in a population social network, the implication is that it may be possible to design interventions specifically to facilitate network contagion, thereby utilizing minimum resources while at the same time reaching maximum impact.

## **Future directions**

#### The role of online social networks in health

Technological progress is currently moving at an incredibly rapid pace, continuously enhancing the possibilities for social connections and communication. For example, some studies have demonstrated the possibility of direct long-distance brain-to-brain communication with the use of electroencephalogram and transcranial magnetic stimulation technologies (Grau et al., 2014; Rao et al., 2014; Stocco et al., 2015). Facebook AI research is currently developing artificial intelligence systems that can be trained to associate specific words with corresponding images, thus making is possible for visually impaired people to understand the content of images posted by their connections on social media by means of auditory descriptions (Metz, 2016). The development of new technologies continues to break social barriers between people and connect people digitally. In this context, some words ought to be said about the implication of information technology and online social media, which have come to play a more and more essential role in social relationships and interaction.

As mentioned previously, it is important to keep in mind that although related to each other, social networks are not the same as *online* social networks. The term 'social networks' generally refers to real "in-person" social relationships. 'Online social networks' on the other hand, is a term that encompasses social interactions that take place via the internet, and that may or may not develop into real personal relationships. Importantly, online social networks can have very real implications for health and wellbeing. For example, research has reported that online social networking sites designed to facilitate smoking cessation can foster supportive communities, which in turn has been effective to help people quit smoking more easily (Phua, 2013). Conversely, online social networks can have detrimental consequences for health. For example, a study conducted during a syphilis epidemic in San Francisco showed that people who found a sexual partner through an online social network site were three times more likely to contract a sexually transmitted disease than someone who found a sexual partner the "old-fashioned way" (Klausner, Wolf, Fischer-Ponce, Zolt, & Katz, 2000). Thus, online social networks can sometimes augment associations to health, whether the outcomes are favorable or detrimental.

Interestingly, online social networking behavior appears to have many similarities to the way real social networks operate. For example, while it is possible to have hundreds of online social ties (connections, friends, followers, etc.), people appear to still selectively focus on a core of online close relationships as they do in real in-person relationships. For Facebook users, the average number of friends is approximately 110-150. However, several studies have shown that even in spite all these digital connections, people still tend to keep close friend groups small, with about 4-6 close online friends that they regularly interact with (Dunbar, 2016; Lewis, Kaufman, Gonalez, Wimmer, & Christakis, 2008). Further, research has also shown that online social network users tend to have a limit to the number of close relationships they have by maintaining a manageable group of close contacts. They do this by instituting an unconscious "one in, one out" rule, where more close relationships are continuously replacing less close ones. In other words, even though the size of online social networks can be virtually ever-expanding, the capacity for maintaining emotionally close online social ties appears to be finite (Saramaki et al., 2014).

Interestingly, the average number of close online social contacts is remarkably similar to the number of close contacts people tend to have in the non-digital world (Dunbar, 2016; Marsden, 1987). This means that online social networks do not in and of themselves automatically expand our social relationships in a qualitative way. On the contrary, the rules that operate appear to be similar whether our social relationships are digital or not. For example, a number of studies have indicated that more time on Facebook is linked to both high and low levels of social connectedness, and that although Facebook can be an effective platform for increasing social support networks among people that are already highly socially connected, it may also at the same time make those who are isolated or depressed feel even more so (Appel, Crusius, & Gerlach, 2015; Sheldon, Abad, & Hinsch, 2011; Teppers, Luyckx, Klimstra, & Goossens, 2014). This again seems to tell us that the use of online social networks does not automatically translate into any improvements in terms of social or psychological wellbeing, and may depend on the way people use online social networks to interact with others.

Finally, one way that online social networks appear to be similar to in-person social networks relate to the spread of emotions. Research has been able to demonstrate that emotional contagion occurs in online social networks similarly to the way they operate in in-person social interaction (Coviello et al., 2014; Kramer, Guillory, & Hancock, 2014). All this shows how similar

online social networks are to in-person social networks, which means that public health agendas may be able to take advantage of online social network data in order to affect social relationships and ultimately improve population health. There is at least some evidence from systematic reviews to suggest that online social network interventions can have favorable outcomes on mental health (Rice et al., 2014) and health behaviors (Laranjo et al., 2015; Maher et al., 2014).

#### Current challenges to be considered in the context of online social network interventions

Several challenges exist and must be overcome in order to utilize online social networks for health purposes. First, there are some ethical problems relating to interventions conducted in online social networks. For example, Facebook was confronted with some serious criticism as a consequence of an experimental study conducted by Kramer et al. (2014), who investigated the facilitation of emotion contagion across online social networks. These authors allegedly manipulated users' newsfeeds without their consent in order to study the effects of the experimental manipulation on emotions in the social network. Clearly, the lack of consent from users crossed an ethical boundary, especially given that the study turned out to confirm that the manipulation indeed was effective in terms of spreading positive or negative emotions through the network. Naturally, such ethical issues must be overcome in order to design online social network interventions in the first place. There are now legal and ethical guidelines for data scientists to consult before conducting experiments or interventions in online social networks, and research proposals should go through a formal review process in order to ensure that the research is ethical and sound in areas of privacy and security (Jetten & Sharon, 2016).

A second challenge to consider is that, according to the literature, the benefits of social networks can be achieved when people's social networks expand into larger and more diverse networks. It is well known that people generally tend to establish connections with other people based on shared characteristics and interests (homophily) (McPherson, Smith-Lovin, & Cook, 2001), which then typically evolves into longer lasting relationships when there is a sustained opportunity for social interaction (Christakis & Fowler, 2011). Importantly, some studies have discovered that Facebook use is protective against loneliness or declines in subjective wellbeing when used as a tool to make new friends or maintain contact with close connections through direct social network interaction (Kross et al., 2013; Teppers et al., 2014), while appearing to reinforce

feelings of loneliness when used to compensate for social skills (Teppers et al., 2014). Thus, it is key that interventions are designed specifically to facilitate the expansion of people's close social relationships and to reinforce the development or maintenance of close relationships on a long-term basis.

Last, the quality of social relationships is perhaps the most difficult challenge to address, since it may not be easy to influence *how* people interact with each other. However, since there is evidence that emotions, mental states, and behaviors can spread through social networks, it may also be possible to use social media as a means to influence people's attitudes towards social interaction and support provision to social ties. Facebook recently launched a feature designed to aid users in providing support in situations where connections post concerning updates relating to suicide or self-harm. Upon discovering a concerning update from a connection, users may now notify Facebook. Facebook then guides the user in terms of supporting the at-risk individual through a number of options, such as notifying emergency services (if person perceived to be in immediate danger), contacting the person directly (Facebook will make suggestions regarding content of messages), or anonymously reporting the post to Facebook, in which case Facebook will attempt to provide the support (Miners, 2015). Although there is not yet evidence to show that this feature is effective in terms of reducing suicidal attempts or ideation, it is certainly a step in the right direction. As mentioned previously, social support networks can be a vital source for health in all contexts, and especially so in developing economies. Online social network interventions offer new opportunities for reaching vulnerable individuals, facilitating social connectedness, and improving social support networks, which ultimately could lead to better health.

## The role of advancing technologies and artificial intelligence research

As new technological innovations continue to make their way into the area of medicine and psychiatry, one relevant future step could lie in the use of machine learning (artificial intelligence) in the context of online social networking and mental health. With the use of machine learning, it may become possible to create algorithms that can effectively calculate risk for mental disorder based on indicators of risk derived from social media use, or they may be used to calculate how social network interventions can be tailored to become the most effective in reducing adverse health outcomes. Recently, in the context of psychiatry specifically, studies have demonstrated that machine learning could not only help to predict the characteristics of a person's mental disorder as well as treatment response, but could also do so more effectively than traditional medical approaches and with less information (Chekroud et al., 2016; Dipnall et al., 2016; Kessler et al., 2016; Passos et al., 2016).

In the context of social media, there is evidence that machine learning algorithms can be used to effectively predict personality based on online social network interactions (Chapsky, 2011; Solinger, Hirshfield, Hirshfield, Friendman, & Leper, 2014; Youyou, Kosinski, & Stillwell, 2015). Given that personality can have implications for propensity for loneliness (Ernst & Cacioppo, 1999; Russell, 1996) and mental disorder (Krueger, 1999), such machine learning models applied to the analysis of online social networking could become useful in identifying users at risk of social isolation, which by extension could provide an opportunity to prevent mental health problems associated to chronic loneliness (Cacioppo, Cacioppo, Dulawa, & Palmer, 2014; Russell, 2014). Similar research has used algorithms to predict life satisfaction based on Twitter data (Yang & Srinivasan, 2016). Yet others have developed promising machine learning frameworks to extract online social network data in order to identify potential cases of problematic internet use or internet addiction (Shuai et al., 2016), which is a growing social issue that can have very real negative life consequences (Cash, Rae, Steel, & Winkler, 2012), and also associated with a range of psychiatric disorders (Ho et al., 2014; Schou Andreassen et al., 2016).

The evidence for the potential benefits of using online social network data as an aid to improve public health has only started to emerge. So far, there is evidence to suggest that statistical techniques in the field of predictive analytics can be used with online social network data to provide useful insights and model predictions of biomedical outcomes, health-related behaviors, disease outbreaks, or public health and safety threats (Young, 2014), such as in the context of sexually transmitted diseases (Young, 2015; Young, Rivers, & Lewis, 2014), influenza transmission (Broniatowski, Paul, & Dredze, 2013), smoking behaviors (Myslin, Zhu, Chapman, & Conway, 2013), and even major violent events or terrorist attacks (Johnson et al., 2016). In one noteworthy study, researchers were able to link online social network data to medical records, which has shown to be effective in terms of providing useful insights into health status and health outcomes (Padrez et al., 2015). The long-term goal is to develop technologies and algorithms that

can utilize social network content, link it to medical data, and ultimately improve the assessment of health status and predict diseases. Importantly, people appear to be quite willing to have social media content used for medical purposes if just informed properly. According to Padrez et al. (2015), 71 percent of their participants consented to share their social media activity and have it linked to electronic medical records. Thus, if people are informed that their social media data can be used to benefit their health, researchers may just need to inform and obtain consent properly in order to access this kind of digital information.

Finally, artificial intelligence research is continuously advancing in the field of creating social robots or robot companions that possess the social-behavioral skills to interact with humans on a personal level (Dautenhahn, 2007). This kind of research is still in its infancy, but social robots may one day offer an alternative to otherwise lacking social relationships, capable of providing instrumental and emotional support equivalent to that of a human being – or perhaps even better (Gallego-Pérez, Lohse, & Evers, 2013, 2014). Thus, an exciting time is approaching where novel innovative methods offer new ways to work with social media data. All this may be used in public health and social network science as a means to improve social support networks, which in turn could constitute a sustainable and low cost approach to addressing or preventing poor physical and mental health.

### The role of genetics, epigenetics, and epidemiology in human health and social connectedness

Finally, some words should be said about our current knowledge regarding human social connectedness and its place in the broader nature/nurture debate. While the literature reviewed so far has made the case for demonstrating the importance of considering the social context in health research, this is not to say that biological or genetic factors are not important. In fact, there is evidence to show that genetic factors can very much be implicated in human social connectedness, and by extension, health. Recently, research has concluded that genetic factors account for about half of the variation of network size, network transitivity, and loneliness (Boomsma, Willemsen, Dolan, Hawkley, & Cacioppo, 2005; Fowler, Dawes, & Christakis, 2009). These findings demonstrate that biological and genetic factors are indeed important to consider in the context of social relationships and health.

The argument for this can be further sustained with recent findings in the area of epigenetics. It is now becoming clear that life experiences can affect genetic activity, involving hundreds of proteins, enzymes, and other chemicals that regulate cells. For example, it has been shown that being exposed to stressful events can result in various epigenetic modifications that lead to significant suppression of gene expression and impaired behavioral adaptation of those genes (Saunderson et al., 2016). Such modifications have been linked to differences in gene activity associated with various disease markers and biological processes that are also related to the development of physical and mental health problems (Weder et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2013). Moreover, a body of recent research involving animals as well as humans have demonstrated that various social and environmental conditions, such as stress or trauma, can result in heritable genetic modifications, implying that the predisposition to disease brought about by life experiences can be passed on genetically to subsequent generations (Dias & Ressler, 2014; Feinberg et al., 2015; Gapp et al., 2014; Hackett et al., 2013; Houri-Ze'evi et al., 2016; Teperek et al., 2016; Yehuda et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2014). Thus, it is increasingly becoming clear that genetics have an essential role to play in terms of social circumstances and, at the same time, that socialenvironmental conditions can affect genetic activity in people as well as their offspring.

The 20<sup>th</sup> century was largely dominated by medical research focusing on identifying single genetic or environmental agents that could explain disease variability. However, huge advances in health research the past few decades have demonstrated the vastly complex interaction of genetic and environmental conditions, all suggesting that it is time to move beyond a simplistic and dichotomous nature/nurture debate (Fitzgerald, Rose, & Singh, 2016; Hernandez & Blazer, 2006). Rather, much can be done in future research to incorporate measures of social environment factors into genetic studies and also to incorporate genetic measures into social epidemiological studies. Social network analysis has much to offer to advance current knowledge in this area.

## Chapter 5: Conclusions

Three main conclusions can be derived from the research carried out: First, the project has been able to identify key indicators of social support networks in relation to depression. Generally, studies have found protective effects of perceived social support and large, diverse social networks against outcomes of depression in the general population. We were able to derive some recommendations for future research, for example the incorporation of both structure and function of social support networks into mental health research for a more comprehensive assessment. Second, we have demonstrated that human social connectedness is an important protective factor for survival. In our study, survival time was significantly reduced in individuals embedded in restricted social networks. The immediate implication is that social support networks is a vital resource for survival, and especially so in contexts where formal health or social care is lacking. Third, we have demonstrated that significant associations between social support networks and mental disorders can be identified on a large-scale epidemiological level. For older Irish adults in intimate relationships, we found that worse relationship quality with the spouse is positively associated with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, and that restricted social network integration is positively associated with depression. It is possible that public mental health strategies could benefit by designing interventions targeted towards enhancing social networks and addressing the quality of intimate relationships, especially social strain, in order to improve mental health.

These main findings taken together with the broader social support literature suggest that public health agendas may benefit substantially by incorporating methods relating to social network science in health research as a means to optimize disease identification and intervention. The literature reviewed also indicates that social connectedness may be assessed relatively early in adult life, which implies opportunities for early intervention. Importantly, interventions into social support networks offer a non-pharmacological approach to public health, and should be taken into consideration as a means to limit or reduce drug complications and the adverse effects that are often associated with the consumption of medicines, particularly psychiatric drugs. In terms of modern information technology, online social network platforms and machine learning applications offer novel, potentially low-cost, and possibly game-changing ways for researchers to intervene in human health and social connectedness. Finally, recent scientific advances indicate that it may be time to abandon a simplistic nature/nurture discourse regarding the causality of diseases, and instead look beyond to evidence demonstrating that human health is product of complex interactions between genetic, biological, psychological, social, and environmental factors. The future of medicine and public health lies in our ability to invent or design new cutting-edge methods that can take a multitude of biological, psychological and social factors into account at the same time in order to improve health on a global scale. While the way to get there is undoubtedly long and complex, the end goal is a simple one that pertains to a basic human desire – to live a long healthy life with meaningful social relationships.

# Activities and fieldwork during the doctorate research program

In January 2014, I was enrolled in the Maratone network–a leading European mental health initial training network funded by a Marie Curie grant awarded by the European Commission (FP7-PEOPLE-2012-ITN; grant agreement number 316795). I was recruited to take part in Dr. Josep Maria Haro's research group at the Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu in Barcelona, Spain for the next three years of my life. These are the activities and the fieldwork I have been engaged with since I started the program:

- Role as lead author and investigator on several research projects, some of which are included in this dissertation. Also collaboration and co-authorship on other projects within and external to the research group.
- Participation in the specialized training program organized by Maratone, including Elearning and coursework hosted at partner institutions and universities. Coursework also included a number of courses relevant to mental health organized by the Johns Hopkins University and hosted at the Pompeu Fabra University in Barcelona.
- Presentation of research results at the seminary held at the Parc Sanitari Sant Joan de Déu, and the annual Early Stage Researcher conferences organized by Maratone. Also participation and presentation of research results at international conferences, including the European Health Forum Gastein (EHFG2015), and the European Congress of Psychiatry 2016 (EPA2016).
- Participation in fieldwork relating to data collection in the Sant Boi Study and the Collaborative Research on Ageing in Europe study (COURAGE), and organization of meta-data in relation to the ATHLOS study (Ageing Trajectories of Health: Longitudinal Opportunities and Synergies). Also taken on the role as a project manager on the writing of a Horizon 2020 EU project proposal relating to the potential for Big Data to support public health policies (project BigAPPLE).
- Two secondments of three months' duration each. The first secondment was held at the King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology, and Neuroscience (IoPPN). The last secondment was held at the Adelphi University, Gordon F. Derner Institute for Advanced Psychological Studies. Both secondments involved the role as lead author on research projects relating to social support networks using population-based data.

# Funding sources for this thesis

The research leading to this thesis has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007 - 2013 under REA grant agreement n° 316795.

The funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of this thesis.

# Bibliography

- Abbey, A., Andrews, F. M., & Halman, L. J. (1995). Provision and receipt of social support and disregard: what is their impact on the marital life quality of infertile and fertile couples? J Pers Soc Psychol, 68(3), 455-469.
- Acevedo, B. P., Aron, A., Fisher, H. E., & Brown, L. L. (2012). Neural correlates of long-term intense romantic love. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, 7(2), 145-159. doi:10.1093/scan/nsq092
- Antonucci, T. C., & Akiyama, H. (1987). Social networks in adult life and a preliminary examination of the convoy model. *J Gerontol*, 42(5), 519-527.
- Appel, H., Crusius, J., & Gerlach, A. L. (2015). Social Comparison, Envy, and Depression on Facebook: A Study Looking at the Effects of High Comparison Standards on Depressed Individuals. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 34(4), 277-289.
- Aron, A., Fisher, H., Mashek, D. J., Strong, G., Li, H., & Brown, L. L. (2005). Reward, motivation, and emotion systems associated with early-stage intense romantic love. J Neurophysiol, 94(1), 327-337. doi:10.1152/jn.00838.2004
- Arterburn, D., Sofer, T., Boudreau, D. M., Bogart, A., Westbrook, E. O., Theis, M. K., ... Haneuse, S. (2016). Long-Term Weight Change after Initiating Second-Generation Antidepressants. J Clin Med, 5(4). doi:10.3390/jcm5040048
- Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of independence and conformity: I. A minority of one against a unanimous majority. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 70(9), 1-70.
- Avlund, K., Lund, R., Holstein, B. E., & Due, P. (2004). Social relations as determinant of onset of disability in aging. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*, *38*(1), 85-99.
- Bachhuber, M. A., Hennessy, S., Cunningham, C. O., & Starrels, J. L. (2016). Increasing Benzodiazepine Prescriptions and Overdose Mortality in the United States, 1996–2013. *Am J Public Health*, 106(4), 686-688. doi:10.2105/ajph.2016.303061
- Bandiera, O., Barankay, I., & Rasul, I. (2010). Social incentives in the workplace. *Review of Economic Studies*, 77, 417-459.
- Barsade, S. G. (2002). The Ripple Effect: Emotional Contagion and Its Influence on Group Behavior. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 47(4), 644-675.
- Bartholomew, R. E., & Wessely, S. (2002). Protean nature of mass sociogenic illness: from possessed nuns to chemical and biological terrorism fears. *Br J Psychiatry*, *180*, 300-306.
- Baumeister, R. F., Bratslavsky, E., Finkenauer, C., & Vohs, K. D. (2001). Bad is stronger than good. *Review of General Psychology*, *5*(4), 323-370.
- Bearman, P. S., & Moody, J. (2004). Suicide and friendships among American adolescents. *Am J Public Health*, 94(1), 89-95.
- Beekman, A. T., Bremmer, M. A., Deeg, D. J., van Balkom, A. J., Smit, J. H., de Beurs, E., . . . van Tilburg, W. (1998). Anxiety disorders in later life: a report from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 13(10), 717-726.
- Bertera, E. M. (2005). Mental health in U. S. adults: The role of positive social support and social negativity in personal relationships. *J. Soc. Pers. Relatsh.*, 22, 33-48.
- Billioti de Gage, S., Begaud, B., Bazin, F., Verdoux, H., Dartigues, J. F., Peres, K., . . . Pariente, A. (2012). Benzodiazepine use and risk of dementia: prospective population based study. *Bmj*, 345, e6231. doi:10.1136/bmj.e6231

- Billioti de Gage, S., Moride, Y., Ducruet, T., Kurth, T., Verdoux, H., Tournier, M., . . . Begaud, B. (2014). Benzodiazepine use and risk of Alzheimer's disease: case-control study. *Bmj*, 349, g5205. doi:10.1136/bmj.g5205
- Birditt, K. S., Newton, N. J., Cranford, J. A., & Ryan, L. H. (2015). Stress and Negative Relationship Quality among Older Couples: Implications for Blood Pressure. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbv023
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., Günther, I., & Linnemayr, S. (2008). Social Interactions and Fertility in Developing Countries. *PGDA Working Series*, *34*, 1-48.
- Boomsma, D. I., Willemsen, G., Dolan, C. V., Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2005). Genetic and environmental contributions to loneliness in adults: the Netherlands twin register study. *Behav Genet*, 35(6), 745-752. doi:10.1007/s10519-005-6040-8
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, *134*(4), e1032-1039. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0832
- Bowlby, J. (1951). Maternal care and mental health. Geneva, CH.: WHO.
- Broniatowski, D. A., Paul, M. J., & Dredze, M. (2013). National and local influenza surveillance through Twitter: an analysis of the 2012-2013 influenza epidemic. *PLoS One*, 8(12), e83672. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083672
- Brown, S. L., Nesse, R. M., Vinokur, A. D., & Smith, D. M. (2003). Providing social support may be more beneficial than receiving it: results from a prospective study of mortality. *Psychol Sci*, *14*(4), 320-327.
- Bryant, G. A., Fessler, D. M., Fusaroli, R., Clint, E., Aaroe, L., Apicella, C. L., ... Zhou, Y. (2016). Detecting affiliation in colaughter across 24 societies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *113*(17), 4682-4687. doi:10.1073/pnas.1524993113
- Cacioppo, J. T., Cacioppo, S., Dulawa, S., & Palmer, A. A. (2014). Social neuroscience and its potential contribution to psychiatry. *World Psychiatry*, 13(2), 131-139. doi:10.1002/wps.20118
- Cacioppo, J. T., Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2009). Alone in the crowd: the structure and spread of loneliness in a large social network. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 97(6), 977-991. doi:10.1037/a0016076
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., & Thisted, R. A. (2010). Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study. *Psychol Aging*, 25(2), 453-463. doi:10.1037/a0017216
- Carr, D., Freedman, V. A., Cornman, J. C., & Schwarz, N. (2014). Happy Marriage, Happy Life? Marital Quality and Subjective Well-Being in Later Life. *J Marriage Fam*, 76(5), 930-948. doi:10.1111/jomf.12133
- Cash, H., Rae, C. D., Steel, A. H., & Winkler, A. (2012). Internet Addiction: A Brief Summary of Research and Practice. *Curr Psychiatry Rev*, 8(4), 292-298. doi:10.2174/157340012803520513
- Cattan, M., White, M., Bond, J., & Learmouth, A. (2005). Preventing social isolation and loneliness among older people: a systematic review of health promotion interventions. *Aging Soc*, 25(1), 41-67.
- Chapsky, D. (2011). Leveraging Online Social Networks and External Data Sources to Predict Personality. Paper presented at the The 2011 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining, Kaohsiung, TW.

- Charlson, F. J., Baxter, A. J., Cheng, H. G., Shidhaye, R., & Whiteford, H. A. (2016). The burden of mental, neurological, and substance use disorders in China and India: a systematic analysis of community representative epidemiological studies. *Lancet*. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30590-6
- Chekroud, A. M., Zotti, R. J., Shehzad, Z., Gueorguieva, R., Johnson, M. K., Trivedi, M. H., . . . Corlett, P. R. (2016). Cross-trial prediction of treatment outcome in depression: a machine learning approach. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 3(3), 243-250. doi:10.1016/s2215-0366(15)00471-x
- Christakis, N. A., & Fowler, J. H. (2007). The spread of obesity in a large social network over 32 years. *N Engl J Med*, 357(4), 370-379. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa066082
- Christakis, N. A., & Fowler, J. H. (2008). The collective dynamics of smoking in a large social network. *N Engl J Med*, 358(21), 2249-2258. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa0706154
- Christakis, N. A., & Fowler, J. H. (2011). Connected: The surprising power of our social networks and how they shape our lives -- How your friends friends friends affect everything you feel, think, and do. New York, NY: Little, Brown and Company.
- Cipriani, A., Zhou, X., Del Giovane, C., Hetrick, S. E., Qin, B., Whittington, C., . . . Xie, P. (2016). Comparative efficacy and tolerability of antidepressants for major depressive disorder in children and adolescents: a network meta-analysis. *Lancet*. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30385-3
- Cooper, E. A., Garlick, J., Featherstone, E., Voon, V., Singer, T., Critchley, H. D., & Harrison, N. A. (2014). You turn me cold: evidence for temperature contagion. *PLoS One*, 9(12), e116126. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116126
- Cornwell, B., & Laumann, E. O. (2011). Network position and sexual dysfunction: implications of partner betweenness for men. *Ajs*, *117*(1), 172-208.
- Coviello, L., Sohn, Y., Kramer, A. D., Marlow, C., Franceschetti, M., Christakis, N. A., & Fowler, J. H. (2014). Detecting emotional contagion in massive social networks. *PLoS One*, 9(3), e90315. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090315
- Crawford, M. J., Thana, L., Farquharson, L., Palmer, L., Hancock, E., Bassett, P., ... Parry, G.
  D. (2016). Patient experience of negative effects of psychological treatment: results of a national surveydagger. *Br J Psychiatry*, 208(3), 260-265. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.162628
- Cuijpers, P., Donker, T., Weissman, M. M., Ravitz, P., & Cristea, I. A. (2016). Interpersonal Psychotherapy for Mental Health Problems: A Comprehensive Meta-Analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*, appiajp201515091141. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15091141
- Dautenhahn, K. (2007). Socially intelligent robots: dimensions of human–robot interaction. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 362*(1480), 679-704. doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.2004
- De Grip, A., & Sauermann, J. (2012). The Effects of Training on Own and Co-worker Productivity: Evidence from a Field Experiment. *The Economic Journal*, 122(560), 376-399.
- Demyttenaere, K., Bruffaerts, R., Posada-Villa, J., Gasquet, I., Kovess, V., Lepine, J. P., ... Chatterji, S. (2004). Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Jama*, 291(21), 2581-2590. doi:10.1001/jama.291.21.2581
- Desender, K., Beurms, S., & Van den Bussche, E. (2016). Is mental effort exertion contagious? *Psychon Bull Rev*, 23(2), 624-631. doi:10.3758/s13423-015-0923-3
- Dias, B. G., & Ressler, K. J. (2014). Parental olfactory experience influences behavior and neural structure in subsequent generations. *Nat Neurosci, 17*(1), 89-96. doi:10.1038/nn.3594

- DiMatteo, M. R. (2004). Social support and patient adherence to medical treatment: a metaanalysis. *Health Psychol*, 23(2), 207-218. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.23.2.207
- Dipnall, J. F., Pasco, J. A., Berk, M., Williams, L. J., Dodd, S., Jacka, F. N., & Meyer, D. (2016). Fusing Data Mining, Machine Learning and Traditional Statistics to Detect Biomarkers Associated with Depression. *PLoS One*, 11(2), e0148195. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0148195
- Dunbar, R. I. (2016). Do online social media cut through the constraints that limit the size of offline social networks? *R Soc Open Sci*, *3*(1), 150292. doi:10.1098/rsos.150292
- Dunn, E. W., Aknin, L. B., & Norton, M. I. (2008). Spending money on others promotes happiness. *Science*, 319(5870), 1687-1688. doi:10.1126/science.1150952
- Dykstra, P. A., & de Jong Gierveld, J. (2004). Gender and marital-history differences in emotional and social loneliness among Dutch older adults. *Can J Aging*, 23(2), 141-155.
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2015). Social pain and the brain: controversies, questions, and where to go from here. *Annu Rev Psychol*, *66*, 601-629. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115146
- Eley, T. C., McAdams, T. A., Rijsdijk, F. V., Lichtenstein, P., Narusyte, J., Reiss, D., . . . Neiderhiser, J. M. (2015). The Intergenerational Transmission of Anxiety: A Children-of-Twins Study. Am J Psychiatry, 172(7), 630-637. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14070818
- eMarketer. (2014). 2 billion consumers worldwide to get smart(phones) by 2016: eMarketer.
- English, T., & Carstensen, L. L. (2014). Selective Narrowing of Social Networks Across Adulthood is Associated With Improved Emotional Experience in Daily Life. *Int J Behav Dev*, 38(2), 195-202. doi:10.1177/0165025413515404
- Ericsson. (2016). *Ericsson mobility report: On the pulse of the networked society*. Stockholm, SE: Ericsson.
- Ernst, J. M., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1999). Lonely hearts: Psychological perspectives on loneliness. *Applied and Preventive Psychology*, 8(1), 1-22. doi:10.1016/S0962-1849(99)80008-0
- Falk, A., & Ichino, A. (2006). Clean evidence on peer effects. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 24, 39-57.
- Feinberg, J. I., Bakulski, K. M., Jaffe, A. E., Tryggvadottir, R., Brown, S. C., Goldman, L. R., . . . Feinberg, A. P. (2015). Paternal sperm DNA methylation associated with early signs of autism risk in an autism-enriched cohort. *Int J Epidemiol*, 44(4), 1199-1210. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv028
- Fiori, K. L., Antonucci, T. C., & Akiyama, H. (2008). Profiles of social relations among older adults: A cross-cultural approach. *Ageing Soc*, 28(2), 203-231.
- Fiori, K. L., & Denckla, C. A. (2012). Social support and mental health in middle-aged men and women: a multidimensional approach. *J Aging Health*, 24(3), 407-438. doi:10.1177/0898264311425087
- Fisher, H. E., Brown, L. L., Aron, A., Strong, G., & Mashek, D. (2010). Reward, addiction, and emotion regulation systems associated with rejection in love. *J Neurophysiol*, 104(1), 51-60. doi:10.1152/jn.00784.2009
- Fitzgerald, D., Rose, N., & Singh, I. (2016). Revitalizing sociology: urban life and mental illness between history and the present. *Br J Sociol*, 67(1), 138-160. doi:10.1111/1468-4446.12188
- Ford, E., Clark, C., & Stansfeld, S. A. (2011). The influence of childhood adversity on social relations and mental health at mid-life. *J Affect Disord*, 133(1-2), 320-327. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.03.017

- Forsman, A. K., Schierenbeck, I., & Wahlbeck, K. (2011). Psychosocial interventions for the prevention of depression in older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Aging Health, 23(3), 387-416. doi:10.1177/0898264310378041
- Foulk, T., Woolum, A., & Erez, A. (2016). Catching rudeness is like catching a cold: The contagion effects of low-intensity negative behaviors. *J Appl Psychol*, 101(1), 50-67. doi:10.1037/apl0000037
- Fournier, J. C., DeRubeis, R. J., Hollon, S. D., Dimidjian, S., Amsterdam, J. D., Shelton, R. C., & Fawcett, J. (2010). Antidepressant drug effects and depression severity: a patient-level meta-analysis. *Jama*, 303(1), 47-53. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1943
- Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2008). Dynamic spread of happiness in a large social network: longitudinal analysis over 20 years in the Framingham Heart Study. *Bmj*, 337, a2338. doi:10.1136/bmj.a2338
- Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2010). Cooperative behavior cascades in human social networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(12), 5334-5338. doi:10.1073/pnas.0913149107
- Fowler, J. H., Dawes, C. T., & Christakis, N. A. (2009). Model of genetic variation in human social networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(6), 1720-1724. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806746106
- Fratiglioni, L., Wang, H. X., Ericsson, K., Maytan, M., & Winblad, B. (2000). Influence of social network on occurrence of dementia: a community-based longitudinal study. *Lancet*, 355(9212), 1315-1319. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(00)02113-9
- Fuhr, D. C., Salisbury, T. T., De Silva, M. J., Atif, N., van Ginneken, N., Rahman, A., & Patel, V. (2014). Effectiveness of peer-delivered interventions for severe mental illness and depression on clinical and psychosocial outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 49(11), 1691-1702. doi:10.1007/s00127-014-0857-5
- Fuller-Thomson, E., Agbeyaka, S., LaFond, D. M., & Bern-Klug, M (2016). Flourishing after depression: Factors associated with achieving complete mental health among those with a history of depression. *Psychiatry Res, 242*, 111-120. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.04.041
- Gallego-Pérez, J., Lohse, M., & Evers, V. (2013, 2013/10/27/). *Position paper: robots as companions and therapists in elderly care.* Paper presented at the ICSR 2013 : Workshop Workshop Taking care of each other: Synchronisation and reciprocity for social companion robots, Vienna, Austria.
- Gallego-Pérez, J., Lohse, M., & Evers, V. (2014, 2014/03/03/). *Robots for the psychological wellbeing of the elderly*. Paper presented at the HRI 2014 Workshop Socially Assistive Robots for the Aging Population: Are we trapped in stereotypes?, Vienna, Austria.

Gallup. (2016). Gallup Global Emotions 2016. Washington, D. C.: Gallup Global Analytics.

- Gapp, K., Jawaid, A., Sarkies, P., Bohacek, J., Pelczar, P., Prados, J., . . . Mansuy, I. M. (2014). Implication of sperm RNAs in transgenerational inheritance of the effects of early trauma in mice. *Nat Neurosci*, 17(5), 667-669. doi:10.1038/nn.3695
- Gerstorf, D., Hoppmann, C. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2009). Dynamic links of cognitive functioning among married couples: longitudinal evidence from the Australian Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychol Aging*, *24*(2), 296-309. doi:10.1037/a0015069
- Gerstorf, D., Hoppmann, C. A., Kadlec, K. M., & McArdle, J. J. (2009). Memory and depressive symptoms are dynamically linked among married couples: longitudinal evidence from the AHEAD study. *Dev Psychol*, 45(6), 1595-1610. doi:10.1037/a0016346

- Giles, L. C., Glonek, G. F., Luszcz, M. A., & Andrews, G. R. (2005). Effect of social networks on 10 year survival in very old Australians: the Australian longitudinal study of aging. J Epidemiol Community Health, 59(7), 574-579. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.025429
- Glanville, J. L., Andersson, M. A., & Paxton, P. (2013). Do social connections create trust? An examination using new longitudinal data. *Social Forces*, *92*(2), 545-562.
- Golden, J., Conroy, R. M., Bruce, I., Denihan, A., Greene, E., Kirby, M., & Lawlor, B. A. (2009). Loneliness, social support networks, mood and wellbeing in community-dwelling elderly. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 24(7), 694-700. doi:10.1002/gps.2181
- Grau, C., Ginhoux, R., Riera, A., Nguyen, T. L., Chauvat, H., Berg, M., . . . Ruffini, G. (2014). Conscious brain-to-brain communication in humans using non-invasive technologies. *PLoS One*, 9(8), e105225. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105225
- Gurung, R. A., Taylor, S. E., & Seeman, T. E. (2003). Accounting for changes in social support among married older adults: insights from the MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. *Psychol Aging*, 18(3), 487-496. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.18.3.487
- Ha, J. H. (2010). The effects of positive and negative support from children on widowed older adults' psychological adjustment: a longitudinal analysis. *Gerontologist*, 50(4), 471-481. doi:10.1093/geront/gnp163
- Hackett, J. A., Sengupta, R., Zylicz, J. J., Murakami, K., Lee, C., Down, T. A., & Surani, M. A. (2013). Germline DNA demethylation dynamics and imprint erasure through 5hydroxymethylcytosine. *Science*, 339(6118), 448-452. doi:10.1126/science.1229277
- Haeffel, G. J., & Hames, J. L. (2013). Cognitive vulnerability to depression can be contagious. *Clinical Psychological Science*.
- Haines, V. A., & Hurlbert, J. S. (1992). Network range and health. *J Health Soc Behav*, 33(3), 254-266.
- Heaney, C. A., & Israel, B. A. (2008). Social networks and social support. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.), *Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice.* San Francisco, CA.: Jossey-Bass.
- Hedström, P., Ka-Yuet, L., & Nordvik, M. K. (2008). Interaction Domains and Suicide: A Population-based Panel Study of Suicides in Stockholm, 1991-1999. Social Forces, 87(2), 713-740.
- Hernandez, L. M., & Blazer, D. G. (Eds.). (2006). *Genes, behavior, and the social enviroment: Moving beyond the nature/nurture debate*. Washington, D. C.: National Academies Press.
- Ho, R. C., Zhang, M. W., Tsang, T. Y., Toh, A. H., Pan, F., Lu, Y., . . . Mak, K. K. (2014). The association between internet addiction and psychiatric co-morbidity: a meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*, 183. doi:10.1186/1471-244x-14-183
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., Baker, M., Harris, T., & Stephenson, D. (2015). Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for mortality: a meta-analytic review. *Perspect Psychol Sci*, 10(2), 227-237. doi:10.1177/1745691614568352
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. *PLoS Med*, 7(7), e1000316. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
- Hoppmann, C. A., & Gerstorf, D. (2014). Biobehavioral pathways underlying spousal health dynamics: its nature, correlates, and consequences. *Gerontology*, *60*(5), 458-465. doi:10.1159/000357671
- Hoppmann, C. A., Gerstorf, D., & Hibbert, A. (2011). Spousal Associations Between Functional Limitation and Depressive Symptom Trajectories: Longitudinal Findings from the Study

of Asset and Health Dynamics Among the Oldest Old (AHEAD). *Health Psychol*, 30(2), 153-162. doi:10.1037/a0022094

- Hoppmann, C. A., Gerstorf, D., Willis, S. L., & Schaie, K. W. (2011). Spousal interrelations in happiness in the Seattle Longitudinal Study: considerable similarities in levels and change over time. *Dev Psychol*, 47(1), 1-8. doi:10.1037/a0020788
- Houri-Ze'evi, L., Korem, Y., Sheftel, H., Faigenbloom, L., Toker, I. A., Dagan, Y., ... Rechavi, O. (2016). A Tunable Mechanism Determines the Duration of the Transgenerational Small RNA Inheritance in C. elegans. *Cell*, 165(1), 88-99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.057
- Jetten, L., & Sharon, S. (2016). Selected Issues Concerning the Ethical Use of Big Data Health Analytics. *Washington and Lee Law Review*, 72(3), 486-498.
- Johnson, K. V. A., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (2016). Pain tolerance predicts human social network size. *Sci Rep, 6.* doi:10.1038/srep25267
- Johnson, N. F., Zheng, M., Vorobyeva, Y., Gabriel, A., Qi, H., Velasquez, N., . . . Wuchty, S. (2016). New online ecology of adversarial aggregates: ISIS and beyond. *Science*, *352*(6292), 1459-1463. doi:10.1126/science.aaf0675
- Joiner Jr., T. E., & Katz, J. (1999). Contagion of Depressive Symptoms and Mood: Meta-analytic Review and Explanations From Cognitive, Behavioral, and Interpersonal Viewpoints. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 6(2), 149-164.
- Jones, T. F., Craig, A. S., Hoy, D., Gunter, E. W., Ashley, D. L., Barr, D. B., . . . Schaffner, W. (2000). Mass psychogenic illness attributed to toxic exposure at a high school. *N Engl J Med*, *342*(2), 96-100. doi:10.1056/nejm200001133420206
- Keller, B. K., Magnuson, T. M., Cernin, P. A., Stoner, J. A., & Potter, J. F. (2003). The significance of social network in a geriatric assessment population. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 15(6), 512-517.
- Kessler, R. C., van Loo, H. M., Wardenaar, K. J., Bossarte, R. M., Brenner, L. A., Cai, T., . . . Zaslavsky, A. M. (2016). Testing a machine-learning algorithm to predict the persistence and severity of major depressive disorder from baseline self-reports. *Mol Psychiatry*. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.198
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Jaremka, L., Andridge, R., Peng, J., Habash, D., Fagundes, C. P., . . . Belury, M. A. (2015). Marital discord, past depression, and metabolic responses to highfat meals: Interpersonal pathways to obesity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 52, 239-250. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.11.018
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Loving, T. J., Stowell, J. R., Malarkey, W. B., Lemeshow, S., Dickinson, S. L., & Glaser, R. (2005). Hostile marital interactions, proinflammatory cytokine production, and wound healing. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 62(12), 1377-1384. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.12.1377
- Kim, E. S., Chopik, W. J., & Smith, J. (2014). Are people healthier if their partners are more optimistic? The dyadic effect of optimism on health among older adults. *J Psychosom Res*, 76(6), 447-453. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.03.104
- Kim, E. S., & Konrath, S. H. (2016). Volunteering is prospectively associated with health care use among older adults. *Soc Sci Med*, 149, 122-129. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.043
- Klausner, J. D., Wolf, W., Fischer-Ponce, L., Zolt, I., & Katz, M. H. (2000). Tracing a syphilis outbreak through cyberspace. *Jama*, 284(4), 447-449.
- Knight, J., & Gunatilaka, R. (2011). Does economic growth raise happiness in China? Oxford Developmental Studies, 39(1), 1-25.

- Kramer, A. D., Guillory, J. E., & Hancock, J. T. (2014). Experimental evidence of massive-scale emotional contagion through social networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(24), 8788-8790. doi:10.1073/pnas.1320040111
- Kristensen, P., & Bjerkedal, T. (2007). Explaining the relation between birth order and intelligence. *Science*, *316*(5832), 1717. doi:10.1126/science.1141493
- Kross, E., Berman, M. G., Mischel, W., Smith, E. E., & Wager, T. D. (2011). Social rejection shares somatosensory representations with physical pain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(15), 6270-6275. doi:10.1073/pnas.1102693108
- Kross, E., Verduyn, P., Demiralp, E., Park, J., Lee, D. S., Lin, N., . . . Ybarra, O. (2013). Facebook Use Predicts Declines in Subjective Well-Being in Young Adults. *PLoS One*, 8(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069841
- Krueger, R. F. (1999). Personality traits in late adolescence predict mental disorders in early adulthood: a prospective-epidemiological study. *J Pers*, 67(1), 39-65.
- Kuiper, J. S., Zuidersma, M., Oude Voshaar, R. C., Zuidema, S. U., van den Heuvel, E. R., Stolk, R. P., & Smidt, N. (2015). Social relationships and risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *Ageing Res Rev, 22*, 39-57. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2015.04.006
- Kuiper, J. S., Zuidersma, M., Zuidema, S. U., Burgerhof, J. G. M., Stolk, R. P., Voshaar, R. C. O., & Smidt, N. (2016). Social relationships and cognitive decline: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *Int J Epidemiol*. doi:10.1093/ije/dyw089
- Kuziemko, I. (2006). *Is having babies contagious? Fertility peer effects between adult siblings.* Cambridge, MA: Havard University.
- Lagnaoui, R., Begaud, B., Moore, N., Chaslerie, A., Fourrier, A., Letenneur, L., . . . Moride, Y. (2002). Benzodiazepine use and risk of dementia: a nested case-control study. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 55(3), 314-318.
- Laranjo, L., Arguel, A., Neves, A. L., Gallagher, A. M., Kaplan, R., Mortimer, N., . . . Lau, A. Y. (2015). The influence of social networking sites on health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Med Inform Assoc*, 22(1), 243-256. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002841
- Le Noury, J., Nardo, J. M., Healy, D., Jureidini, J., Raven, M., Tufanaru, C., & Abi-Jaoude, E. (2015). Restoring Study 329: efficacy and harms of paroxetine and imipramine in treatment of major depression in adolescence. *Bmj*, *351*, h4320. doi:10.1136/bmj.h4320
- Lei, X., Shen, Y., Smith, J. P., & Zhou, G. (2015). Do Social Networks Improve Chinese Adults' Subjective Well-being? *J Econ Ageing*, *6*, 57-67. doi:10.1016/j.jeoa.2015.07.001
- Lereya, S. T., Copeland, W. E., Costello, E. J., & Wolke, D. (2015). Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: two cohorts in two countries. *Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(6), 524-531. doi:10.1016/s2215-0366(15)00165-0
- Leung, K. K., Chen, C. Y., Lue, B. H., & Hsu, S. T. (2007). Social support and family functioning on psychological symptoms in elderly Chinese. Arch Gerontol Geriatr, 44(2), 203-213. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2006.05.001
- Lewis, K., Kaufman, J., Gonalez, M., Wimmer, A., & Christakis, N. (2008). Tastes, ties, and time: A new social network dataset using Facebook.com. *Soc Networks*, *30*, 330-342.
- Liljeros, F., Edling, C. R., Amaral, L. A., Stanley, H. E., & Aberg, Y. (2001). The web of human sexual contacts. *Nature*, *411*(6840), 907-908. doi:10.1038/35082140
- Lindesay, J. (1991). Phobic disorders in the elderly. Br J Psychiatry, 159, 531-541.

- Litwin, H., & Shiovitz-Ezra, S. (2006). Network type and mortality risk in later life. *Gerontologist*, 46(6), 735-743.
- Litwin, H., & Shiovitz-Ezra, S. (2011). Social network type and subjective well-being in a national sample of older Americans. *Gerontologist*, *51*(3), 379-388. doi:10.1093/geront/gnq094
- Liu, H., & Waite, L. (2014). Bad marriage, broken heart? Age and gender differences in the link between marital quality and cardiovascular risks among older adults. *J Health Soc Behav*, 55(4), 403-423. doi:10.1177/0022146514556893
- Luanaigh, C. O., & Lawlor, B. A. (2008). Loneliness and the health of older people. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 23(12), 1213-1221. doi:10.1002/gps.2054
- Lum, T. Y., & Lightfoot, E. (2005). The Effects of Volunteering on the Physical and Mental Health of Older People. *Res Aging*, 27, 31-55.
- Luo, Y., Hawkley, L. C., Waite, L. J., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2012). Loneliness, health, and mortality in old age: a national longitudinal study. *Soc Sci Med*, 74(6), 907-914. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.028
- Luo, Y., & Waite, L. J. (2011). Mistreatment and psychological well-being among older adults: exploring the role of psychosocial resources and deficits. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*, 66(2), 217-229. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbq096
- Ma, D., Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., & Li, L. (2014). Comparative efficacy, acceptability, and safety of medicinal, cognitive-behavioral therapy, and placebo treatments for acute major depressive disorder in children and adolescents: a multiple-treatments meta-analysis. *Curr Med Res Opin*, 30(6), 971-995. doi:10.1185/03007995.2013.860020
- Maher, C. A., Lewis, L. K., Ferrar, K., Marshall, S., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., & Vandelanotte, C. (2014). Are health behavior change interventions that use online social networks effective? A systematic review. *J Med Internet Res*, 16(2), e40. doi:10.2196/jmir.2952
- Marsden, P. V. (1987). Core Discussion Networks of Americans. Am Sociol Rev, 52(1), 122-131.
- Mas, A., & Moretti, E. (2009). Peers at work. American Economic Review, 99, 112-145.
- Masi, C. M., Chen, H. Y., Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2011). A meta-analysis of interventions to reduce loneliness. *Pers Soc Psychol Rev*, 15(3), 219-266. doi:10.1177/1088868310377394
- McClintock, M. K., Dale, W., Laumann, E. O., & Waite, L. (2016). Empirical redefinition of comprehensive health and well-being in the older adults of the United States. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. doi:10.1073/pnas.1514968113
- McDermott, R., Fowler, J., & Christakis, N. (2013). Breaking Up is Hard to Do, Unless Everyone Else is Doing it Too: Social Network Effects on Divorce in a Longitudinal Sample. *Soc Forces*, 92(2), 491-519.
- McPherson, M., Smith-Lovin, L., & Cook, J. M. (2001). Birds of a feather: Homophily in social networks. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, 415-444. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.415
- Mearns, J. (1991). Coping with a breakup: negative mood regulation expectancies and depression following the end of a romantic relationship. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 60(2), 327-334.
- Mejía, S. T., Gonzalez, R., & Smith, J. (2015). *Time together gets under our skins: Bio-marker concordance among couples in older adulthood*. Paper presented at the 68th annual scientific meetings of the Gerontological Society of America, Orlando, FL.
- Metz, C. (2016). Facebook's AI is now automatically writing photo captions: Wired.com.

- Meyler, D., Stimpson, J. P., & Peek, M. K. (2007). Health concordance within couples: a systematic review. Soc Sci Med, 64(11), 2297-2310. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.02.007
- Mickelson, K. D., Helgeson, V. S., & Weiner, E. (1995). Gender effects on social support provision and receipt. *Personal Relationships*, 2(3), 211-224.
- Miners, Z. (2015). Facebook improves tool for suicide prevention. San Francisco, CA: PCWorld.
- Mortensen, E. L., Sorensen, H. J., Jensen, H. H., Reinisch, J. M., & Mednick, S. A. (2005). IQ and mental disorder in young men. *Br J Psychiatry*, *187*, 407-415. doi:10.1192/bjp.187.5.407
- Munsch, C. L. (2015). Her Support, His Support: Money, Masculinity, and Marital Infidelity. *Am Sociol Rev*, 80(3), 469-495.
- Myslin, M., Zhu, S. H., Chapman, W., & Conway, M. (2013). Using twitter to examine smoking behavior and perceptions of emerging tobacco products. *J Med Internet Res*, 15(8), e174. doi:10.2196/jmir.2534
- Nelson, S. K., Layous, K., Cole, S. W., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2016). Do Unto Others or Treat Yourself? The Effects of Prosocial and Self-Focused Behavior on Psychological Flourishing. *Emotion*. doi:10.1037/emo0000178
- Nyqvist, F., Pape, B., Pellfolk, T., Forsman, A. K., & Wahlbeck, K. (2014). Structural and Cognitive Aspects of Social Capital and All-Cause Mortality: A Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Social Indicators Research*, *116*(2).
- Okun, M. A., Yeung, E. W., & Brown, S. (2013). Volunteering by older adults and risk of mortality: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Aging*, 28(2), 564-577. doi:10.1037/a0031519
- Ollendick, T. H., & Hirshfeld-Becker, D. R. (2002). The developmental psychopathology of social anxiety disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 44-58.
- Olsson, A., Nearing, K. I., & Phelps, E. A. (2007). Learning fears by observing others: the neural systems of social fear transmission. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, 2(1), 3-11. doi:10.1093/scan/nsm005
- Olsson, A., & Phelps, E. A. (2007). Social learning of fear. *Nat Neurosci, 10*(9), 1095-1102. doi:10.1038/nn1968
- Olsson, C. A., McGee, R., Nada-Raja, S., & Williams, S. M. (2013). A 32-Year Longitudinal Study of Child and Adolescent Pathways to Well-Being in Adulthood. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 14(3), 1069-1083.
- Onnela, J. P., & Rauch, S. L. (2016). Harnessing Smartphone-Based Digital Phenotyping to Enhance Behavioral and Mental Health. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(7), 1691-1696. doi:10.1038/npp.2016.7
- Padrez, K. A., Ungar, L., Schwartz, H. A., Smith, R. J., Hill, S., Antanavicius, T., . . . Merchant, R. M. (2015). Linking social media and medical record data: a study of adults presenting to an academic, urban emergency department. *BMJ Qual Saf.* doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004489
- Panagioti, M., Gooding, P., & Tarrier, N. (2009). Post-traumatic stress disorder and suicidal behavior: A narrative review. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 29(6), 471-482. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.05.001
- Pantell, M., Rehkopf, D., Jutte, D., Syme, S. L., Balmes, J., & Adler, N. (2013). Social isolation: a predictor of mortality comparable to traditional clinical risk factors. *Am J Public Health*, 103(11), 2056-2062. doi:10.2105/ajph.2013.301261

- Passos, I. C., Mwangi, B., Cao, B., Hamilton, J. E., Wu, M. J., Zhang, X. Y., . . . Soares, J. C. (2016). Identifying a clinical signature of suicidality among patients with mood disorders: A pilot study using a machine learning approach. *J Affect Disord*, 193, 109-116. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.066
- Patel, R., Reiss, P., Shetty, H., Broadbent, M., Stewart, R., McGuire, P., & Taylor, M. (2015). Do antidepressants increase the risk of mania and bipolar disorder in people with depression? A retrospective electronic case register cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 5(12), e008341. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008341
- Patel, V., Xiao, S., Chen, H., Hanna, F., Jotheeswaran, A. T., Luo, D., . . . Saxena, S. (2016). The magnitude of and health system responses to the mental health treatment gap in adults in India and China. *Lancet.* doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00160-4
- Phua, J. (2013). Participating in Health Issue-Specific Social Networking Sites to Quit Smoking: How Does Online Social Interconnectedness Influence Smoking Cessation Self-Efficacy? *Journal of Communication*, 63(5), 933-952.
- Platek, S. M. (2010). Yawn, yawn, yawn, yawn, yawn, yawn, yawn! The social, evolutionary and neuroscientific facets of contagious yawning. *Front Neurol Neurosci*, 28, 107-112. doi:10.1159/000307086
- Polderman, T. J., Benyamin, B., de Leeuw, C. A., Sullivan, P. F., van Bochoven, A., Visscher, P. M., & Posthuma, D. (2015). Meta-analysis of the heritability of human traits based on fifty years of twin studies. *Nat Genet*, 47(7), 702-709. doi:10.1038/ng.3285
- Poulin, M. J., Brown, S. L., Dillard, A. J., & Smith, D. M. (2013). Giving to Others and the Association Between Stress and Mortality. Am J Public Health, 103(9), 1649-1655. doi:10.2105/ajph.2012.300876
- PRC. (2014). *Emerging nations embrace internet, mobile technology*. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center.
- Provence, S. A., & Lipton, R. C. (1962). *Infants in institutions*. New York, NY: International Universities Press.
- Provine, R. R., & Fischer, K. R. (1989). Laughing, Smiling, and Talking: Relation to Sleeping and Social Context in Humans. *Ethology*, *83*(4), 295-305.
- Rao, R. P., Stocco, A., Bryan, M., Sarma, D., Youngquist, T. M., Wu, J., & Prat, C. S. (2014). A direct brain-to-brain interface in humans. *PLoS One*, 9(11), e111332. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111332
- Read, J., Cartwright, C., & Gibson, K. (2014). Adverse emotional and interpersonal effects reported by 1829 New Zealanders while taking antidepressants. *Psychiatry Res*, 216(1), 67-73. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.01.042
- Rice, S. M., Goodall, J., Hetrick, S. E., Parker, A. G., Gilbertson, T., Amminger, G. P., . . . Alvarez-Jimenez, M. (2014). Online and social networking interventions for the treatment of depression in young people: a systematic review. *J Med Internet Res, 16*(9), e206. doi:10.2196/jmir.3304
- Robles, T. F., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K. (2003). The physiology of marriage: pathways to health. *Physiol Behav*, *79*(3), 409-416.
- Rook, K. S. (1984). The negative side of social interaction: impact on psychological well-being. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 46(5), 1097-1108.
- Rosenquist, J. N., Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2011). Social network determinants of depression. *Mol Psychiatry*, 16(3), 273-281. doi:10.1038/mp.2010.13

- Russell, D. W. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): reliability, validity, and factor structure. *J Pers Assess*, 66(1), 20-40. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa6601\_2
- Russell, D. W. (2014). Loneliness and social neuroscience. *World Psychiatry*, *13*(2), 150-151. doi:10.1002/wps.20126
- Rutledge, R. B., de Berker, A. O., Espenhahn, S., Dayan, P., & Dolan, R. J. (2016). The social contingency of momentary subjective well-being. *Nat Commun*, 7. doi:10.1038/ncomms11825
- Saramaki, J., Leicht, E. A., Lopez, E., Roberts, S. G., Reed-Tsochas, F., & Dunbar, R. I. (2014). Persistence of social signatures in human communication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(3), 942-947. doi:10.1073/pnas.1308540110
- Saunderson, E. A., Spiers, H., Mifsud, K. R., Gutierrez-Mecinas, M., Trollope, A. F., Shaikh, A., ... Reul, J. M. (2016). Stress-induced gene expression and behavior are controlled by DNA methylation and methyl donor availability in the dentate gyrus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. doi:10.1073/pnas.1524857113
- Schou Andreassen, C., Billieux, J., Griffiths, M. D., Kuss, D. J., Demetrovics, Z., Mazzoni, E., & Pallesen, S. (2016). The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: A large-scale cross-sectional study. *Psychol Addict Behav*, 30(2), 252-262. doi:10.1037/adb0000160
- Schurmann, M., Hesse, M. D., Stephan, K. E., Saarela, M., Zilles, K., Hari, R., & Fink, G. R. (2005). Yearning to yawn: the neural basis of contagious yawning. *Neuroimage*, 24(4), 1260-1264. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.10.022
- Schuster, T. L., Kessler, R. C., & Aseltine, R. H., Jr. (1990). Supportive interactions, negative interactions, and depressed mood. *Am J Community Psychol*, *18*(3), 423-438.
- Schwarzer, R., & Gutiérrez-Doña, B. (2005). More spousal support for men than for women: A comparison of sources and types of support. *Sex Roles*, *52*, 523-532.
- Scott, S. K., Lavan, N., Chen, S., & McGettigan, C. (2014). The social life of laughter. *Trends* Cogn Sci, 18(12), 618-620. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2014.09.002
- Shankar, A., Hamer, M., McMunn, A., & Steptoe, A. (2013). Social isolation and loneliness: relationships with cognitive function during 4 years of follow-up in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychosom Med*, 75(2), 161-170. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e31827f09cd
- Shankar, A., McMunn, A., Banks, J., & Steptoe, A. (2011). Loneliness, social isolation, and behavioral and biological health indicators in older adults. *Health Psychol*, 30(4), 377-385. doi:10.1037/a0022826
- Sharma, T., Guski, L. S., Freund, N., & Gotzsche, P. C. (2016). Suicidality and aggression during antidepressant treatment: systematic review and meta-analyses based on clinical study reports. *Bmj*, 352, i65. doi:10.1136/bmj.i65
- Sheldon, K. M., Abad, N., & Hinsch, C. (2011). A two-process view of Facebook use and relatedness need-satisfaction: disconnection drives use, and connection rewards it. J Pers Soc Psychol, 100(4), 766-775. doi:10.1037/a0022407
- Shin, J. Y., Park, M. J., Lee, S. H., Choi, S. H., Kim, M. H., Choi, N. K., . . . Park, B. J. (2015). Risk of intracranial haemorrhage in antidepressant users with concurrent use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: nationwide propensity score matched study. *Bmj*, 351, h3517. doi:10.1136/bmj.h3517

- Shiovitz-Ezra, S., & Litwin, H. (2012). Social network type and health-related behaviors: evidence from an American national survey. Soc Sci Med, 75(5), 901-904. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.031
- Shuai, H., Shen, C., Yang, D., Lan, Y., Lee, W., Yu, P. S., & Chen, M. (2016). *Mining Online Social Data for Detecting Social Network Mental Disorders*. Paper presented at the 25th International World Wide Web Conference, Montreal, CA.
- Smith, K. P., & Christakis, N. A. (2008). Social networks and health. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *34*, 405-429.
- Solinger, C., Hirshfield, L., Hirshfield, S., Friendman, R., & Leper, C. (2014). Beyond Facebook Personality Prediction. In G. Meiselwitz (Ed.), Social Computing and Social Media: 6th International Conference, SCSM 2014, Held as Part of HCI International 2014, Heraklion, Crete, Greece, June 22-27, 2014. Proceedings (pp. 486-493). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Solomon, B. C., & Jackson, J. J. (2014). The long reach of one's spouse: spouses' personality influences occupational success. *Psychol Sci*, 25(12), 2189-2198. doi:10.1177/0956797614551370
- Spinazzola, J., Hodgdon, H., Liang, L.-J., Ford, J. D., Layne, C. M., Pynoos, R., . . . Kisiel, C. (2014). Unseen wounds: The contribution of psychological maltreatment to child and adolescent mental health and risk outcomes. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 6*(Suppl 1), S18-S28. doi:10.1037/a0037766
- Spitz, R. A. (1945). Hospitalism; an inquiry into the genesis of psychiatric conditions in early childhood. *Psychoanal Study Child*, *1*, 53-74.
- Stafford, M., McMunn, A., Zaninotto, P., & Nazroo, J. (2011). Positive and negative exchanges in social relationships as predictors of depression: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Aging. *J Aging Health*, 23(4), 607-628. doi:10.1177/0898264310392992
- Steinbach, U. (1992). Social networks, institutionalization, and mortality among elderly people in the United States. *J Gerontol*, 47(4), S183-190.
- Steptoe, A., Shankar, A., Demakakos, P., & Wardle, J. (2013). Social isolation, loneliness, and all-cause mortality in older men and women. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110(15), 5797-5801. doi:10.1073/pnas.1219686110
- Stocco, A., Prat, C. S., Losey, D. M., Cronin, J. A., Wu, J., Abernethy, J. A., & Rao, R. P. (2015). Playing 20 Questions with the Mind: Collaborative Problem Solving by Humans Using a Brain-to-Brain Interface. *PLoS One*, 10(9), e0137303. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137303
- Stokes, J. E. (2016). Two-Wave Dyadic Analysis of Marital Quality and Loneliness in Later Life: Results From the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing. *Res Aging*. doi:10.1177/0164027515624224
- Stuck, A. E., Walthert, J. M., Nikolaus, T., Bula, C. J., Hohmann, C., & Beck, J. C. (1999). Risk factors for functional status decline in community-living elderly people: a systematic literature review. Soc Sci Med, 48(4), 445-469.
- Suzuki, S., Jensen, E. L., Bossaerts, P., & O'Doherty, J. P. (2016). Behavioral contagion during learning about another agent's risk-preferences acts on the neural representation of decision-risk. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. doi:10.1073/pnas.1600092113

- Takizawa, R., Maughan, B., & Arseneault, L. (2014). Adult health outcomes of childhood bullying victimization: evidence from a five-decade longitudinal British birth cohort. Am J Psychiatry, 171(7), 777-784. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13101401
- Teicher, M. H., Samson, J. A., Polcari, A., & McGreenery, C. E. (2006). Sticks, stones, and hurtful words: relative effects of various forms of childhood maltreatment. *Am J Psychiatry*, 163(6), 993-1000. doi:10.1176/ajp.2006.163.6.993
- Teo, A. R., Choi, H., & Valenstein, M. (2013). Social relationships and depression: ten-year follow-up from a nationally representative study. *PLoS One*, 8(4), e62396. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062396
- Teperek, M., Simeone, A., Gaggioli, V., Miyamoto, K., Allen, G., Erkek, S., . . . Jullien, J. (2016). Sperm is epigenetically programmed to regulate gene transcription in embryos. *Genome Res.* doi:10.1101/gr.201541.115
- Teppers, E., Luyckx, K., Klimstra, T., & Goossens, L. (2014). Loneliness and Facebook motives in adolescence: A longitudinal inquiry into directionality of effect. *J Adolesc*, *37*(5), 691-699.
- Thirthalli, J., Zhou, L., Kumar, K., Gao, J., Vaid, H., Liu, H., . . . Nichter, M. (2016). Traditional, complementary, and alternative medicine approaches to mental health care and psychological wellbeing in India and China. *Lancet Psychiatry*. doi:10.1016/s2215-0366(16)30025-6
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *J Health Soc Behav*, *52*(2), 145-161. doi:10.1177/0022146510395592
- Tol, W. A., Barbui, C., Galappatti, A., Silove, D., Betancourt, T. S., Souza, R., . . . van Ommeren, M. (2011). Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian settings: linking practice and research. *Lancet*, 378(9802), 1581-1591. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(11)61094-5
- Torous, J., Staples, P., & Onnela, J. P. (2015). Realizing the potential of mobile mental health: new methods for new data in psychiatry. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 17(8), 602. doi:10.1007/s11920-015-0602-0
- Torvik, F. A., Welander-Vatn, A., Ystrom, E., Knudsen, G. P., Czajkowski, N., Kendler, K. S., & Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2016). Longitudinal associations between social anxiety disorder and avoidant personality disorder: A twin study. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 125(1), 114-124. doi:10.1037/abn0000124
- Trew, J. L., & Alden, L. E. (2015). Kindness reduces avoidance goals in socially anxious individuals. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(6), 892-907.
- Tsai, A. C., Lucas, M., Sania, A., Kim, D., & Kawachi, I. (2014). Social integration and suicide mortality among men: 24-year cohort study of U.S. health professionals. *Ann Intern Med*, 161(2), 85-95. doi:10.7326/m13-1291
- Uchino, B. N. (2006). Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. *J Behav Med*, 29(4), 377-387. doi:10.1007/s10865-006-9056-5
- Uchino, B. N. (2009). Understanding the Links Between Social Support and Physical Health: A Life-Span Perspective With Emphasis on the Separability of Perceived and Received Support. *Perspect Psychol Sci*, *4*(3), 236-255. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01122.x
- Umberson, D., Williams, K., Powers, D. A., Liu, H., & Needham, B. (2006). You Make Me Sick: Marital Quality and Health Over the Life Course. *J Health Soc Behav*, 47(1), 1-16.

- Umberson, D., Wortman, C. B., & Kessler, R. C. (1992). Widowhood and depression: explaining long-term gender differences in vulnerability. *J Health Soc Behav*, 33(1), 10-24.
- Vaillant, G. E. (2008). Aging Well: Surprising Guideposts to a Happier Life from the Landmark Study of Adult Development: Hachette Digital, Inc.
- Valtorta, N. K., Kanaan, M., Gilbody, S., Ronzi, S., & Hanratty, B. (2016). Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. *Heart*. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2015-308790
- van Grootheest, D. S., Beekman, A. T., Broese van Groenou, M. I., & Deeg, D. J. (1999). Sex differences in depression after widowhood. Do men suffer more? *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 34(7), 391-398.
- Varese, F., Smeets, F., Drukker, M., Lieverse, R., Lataster, T., Viechtbauer, W., ... Bentall, R. P. (2012). Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophr Bull*, 38(4), 661-671. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs050
- Vissia, E. M., Giesen, M. E., Chalavi, S., Nijenhuis, E. R., Draijer, N., Brand, B. L., & Reinders, A. A. (2016). Is it Trauma- or Fantasy-based? Comparing dissociative identity disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, simulators, and controls. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. doi:10.1111/acps.12590
- Waite, L. J. (1995). Does marriage matter? *Demography*, 32(4), 483-507.
- Weder, N., Zhang, H., Jensen, K., Yang, B. Z., Simen, A., Jackowski, A., . . . Kaufman, J. (2014). Child abuse, depression, and methylation in genes involved with stress, neural plasticity, and brain circuitry. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 53(4), 417-424.e415. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.12.025
- Wenger, G. C., & Tucker, I. (2002). Using network variation in practice: identification of support network type. *Health Soc Care Community*, *10*(1), 28-35.
- Whalley, L. J., & Deary, I. J. (2001). Longitudinal cohort study of childhood IQ and survival up to age 76. *Bmj*, 322(7290), 819.
- Woelbert, E. (2015). *Psychotherapy for mental illness in Europe: An exploration on the evidence base and the status quo.* Ispra, IT: European Commission Joint Research Centre.
- Wu, X., & Li, J. (2013). Economic growth, income inequality and subjective well-being: Evidence from China. *PSC Reseach Reports*, 13-796.
- Yang, B. Z., Zhang, H., Ge, W., Weder, N., Douglas-Palumberi, H., Perepletchikova, F., . . . Kaufman, J. (2013). Child abuse and epigenetic mechanisms of disease risk. *Am J Prev Med*, 44(2), 101-107. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.10.012
- Yang, C., & Srinivasan, P. (2016). Life Satisfaction and the Pursuit of Happiness on Twitter. *PLoS One*, *11*(3), e0150881. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150881
- Yang, Y. C., Li, T., & Ji, Y. (2013). Impact of social integration on metabolic functions: evidence from a nationally representative longitudinal study of US older adults. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 1210. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1210
- Yehuda, R., Daskalakis, N. P., Bierer, L. M., Bader, H. N., Klengel, T., Holsboer, F., & Binder, E. B. (2015). Holocaust Exposure Induced Intergenerational Effects on FKBP5 Methylation. *Biol Psychiatry*. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.005
- York Cornwell, E., & Cagney, K. A. (2014). Assessment of neighborhood context in a nationally representative study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci, 69 Suppl 2, S51-63. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbu052

- Young, M., Benjamin, B., & Wallis, C. (1963). The mortality of widowers. *Lancet*, 2(7305), 454-456.
- Young, S. D. (2014). Behavioral insights on big data: using social media for predicting biomedical outcomes. *Trends Microbiol*, 22(11), 601-602. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2014.08.004
- Young, S. D. (2015). A "big data" approach to HIV epidemiology and prevention. *Prev Med*, 70, 17-18. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.002
- Young, S. D., Rivers, C., & Lewis, B. (2014). Methods of using real-time social media technologies for detection and remote monitoring of HIV outcomes. *Prev Med*, 63, 112-115. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.01.024
- Youyou, W., Kosinski, M., & Stillwell, D. (2015). Computer-based personality judgments are more accurate than those made by humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112(4), 1036-1040. doi:10.1073/pnas.1418680112
- Yu, D. H., Waterland, R. A., Zhang, P., Schady, D., Chen, M. H., Guan, Y., . . . Shen, L. (2014). Targeted p16(Ink4a) epimutation causes tumorigenesis and reduces survival in mice. J *Clin Invest*, 124(9), 3708-3712. doi:10.1172/jci76507
- Yu, Z. H., Jiang, H. Y., Shao, L., Zhou, Y. Y., Shi, H. Y., & Ruan, B. (2016). Use of Antipsychotics and Risk of Myocardial Infarction: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. doi:10.1111/bcp.12985